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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 

 
 
To the shareholders of Lovćen banka AD Podgorica 
 
Opinion   
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica (hereinafter referred 
to as "the Bank"), comprising the balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, the income statement, the statement 
of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, as well as a note containing an 
overview of accounting policies and other disclosures (hereinafter referred to as "financial statements"). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present truly and objectively, on all materially significant 
issues, the Bank's financial position as of December 31, 2020, as well as the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the year ending that day, in accordance with the accounting regulations prevailing in Montenegro and 
the by-laws issued by the Central Bank of Montenegro governing the financial reporting of banks. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law on Accounting in Montenegro, Law on Audit in Montenegro, 
and International Standards on Auditing (ISA) applicable in Montenegro. Our responsibilities under these 
standards are described in more detail in the report section entitled Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of 
Financial Statements. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants of the Committee on International Ethics for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical 
requirements relevant to our audit of financial statements in Montenegro, and have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. We have addressed these issues in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, however we do not provide a opinion on these issues. 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the issues 

Impairment of loans and receivables and provision for off-balance sheet items 

 
As of December 31, 2020, the gross value of loans 
and receivables amounted to EUR 176,870 thousand 
(December 31, 2019.: EUR 156,595 thousand), while 
the total amount of allowance was EUR 4,077 
thousand as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 
2019.: EUR 3,355 thousand).  
 

 
Based on our risk assessment and industry 
knowledge we examined allowance for impairment for 
loans and receivables and provision for off-balance 
sheet items and evaluated the methodology applied 
as well as the used assumptions, according to the 
description of the key audit matter.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

 
Key Audit Matters (continued) 

 
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the issues 

Impairment of loans and receivables and provision for off-balance sheet items 

 
The measurement of impairment charges on loans 
and receivables and provision for off-balance sheet 
items is considered to be a key audit matter, since 
the determination of the amount of an impairment 
allowance requires a significant assessment by the 
management, to determine when an impairment loss 
is recognized and the amount of impairment loss. 
 
The most significant considerations relate to: 
 

• Assumptions used in models of expected 
credit loss to estimate credit risk associated 
with an exposure and the expected future 
cash flows of a client. 

• Timely identification of exposures with a 
significant increase in credit risk exposure 
and credit impairment. 

• Valuation of collaterals and assumptions of 
future cash flows on individually estimated 
credit exposures. 
 

Management disclosed additional information on 
impairment charges for loans and receivables and 
provision for off-balance sheet items in Notes 3.9, 
4.1, 6 and 13 along with financial statements. 

 
Our audit procedures included following: 
 

• Evaluation of key controls related to the 
assumptions used in the models of expected 
credit loss to estimate credit risk associated 
with the exposure and expected future cash 
flows of the client. 

• Collecting and detailed testing of evidence 
to support the assumptions used in 
expected credit loss models used in stage 
allocation, assumptions applied to obtained 
twelve-month and lifetime probability of 
default (PDs) and methods used to obtain 
the probability of losses due to inability to 
collect receivables. 

• Evaluation of key controls over timely 
identification of exposures with significant 
increase in credit risk and timely 
identification of exposure loan impairment.  

• Collecting and detailed testing of evidence 
of timely identification of exposure with a 
significant increase in credit risk and timely 
identification of exposure based on loan 
impairment. 

• Collecting and detailed testing of evidence 
to support appropriate assumptions of the 
impairment allowance of loans and 
receivables, including valuation of 
collaterals and the assumptions of future 
cash flows for individually assessed 
exposures on loan impairment. 

• Assessment of key developments of high 
risk portfolio from the previous period 
against to industry standards and historical 
data.  

• Evaluation of applied methodologies using 
ourindustry knowledge and experience.  

• We have engaged our IT professionals and 
credit risk specialists in areas that required 
specific expertise.  

• Assessment of accuracy and completeness 
of disclosure in the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the Law on Accounting in Montenegro and other regulations governing the financial reporting of banks in 
Montenegro, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Law on Accounting in Montenegro, Law on Audit in Montenegro, and International Standards on Auditing 
applicable in Montenegro, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Law on Accounting in Montenegro, Law on Audit in Montenegro, and 
International Standards on Auditing applicable in Montenegro, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.  

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.  

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 
The Bank's management is responsible for compiling and publishing the annual management report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the annual report of management and, except to the 
extent explicitly stated in our statement of financial statements, we do not express any form of conclusion with 
an opinion about them. 
 
With respect to the audit of the financial statements, it is our responsibility to read the management's annual 
report to consider whether the management's annual report is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge acquired during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Law on Accounting in Montenegro, we have considered whether the 
annual management report has been prepared in accordance with Articles 11, 12, 13 and 14 of this Law. 
 
Based solely on the work performed during the audit of the financial statements and the procedures outlined 
above, in our opinion:: 
 

• The information presented in the management's annual report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements have been prepared is consistent with the financial statements; 

• The Annual Management Report has been prepared in accordance with Articles 11, 12, 13, and 14 of 
the Law on Accounting in Montenegro. 

 
In addition, in the light of the Bank's knowledge and understanding of the Bank's audit environment, we are 
required to report whether material misstatements have been identified in the management's annual report. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Djordje Dimic. 

 
Crowe MNE d.o.o. Podgorica   

May 6, 2021 

Đorđe Dimić, Certified Auditor  

(License No. 072 issued on March 9, 2017) 

This is a translation of the original document issued in the Montenegrin language. All due care has been taken 
to produce a translation that is faithful as possible to the original. However, if any questions arise related to 
interpretation of the information contained in the translation, the Montenegrin version of the document shall 

prevail. 
 

Crowe MNE d.o.o. Podgorica   

May 6, 2021 

Đorđe Dimić, Certified Auditor 

(License No. 072 issued on March 9, 2017) 
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1. BANK'S FOUNDATION AND ACTIVITY 
 
Lovćen Banka AD, Podgorica (hereinafter: the "Bank") has been founded by changing the registered activity 
as well as the name of Microcredit Financial Institution (MFI) Kontakt into a bank that started with its operations 
on August 25, 2014. MFI Kontakt had operated since March 25, 2011, when it was registered in the Central 
Registry of the Commercial Court in Podgorica, under the registration number 4- 0009270/001. 
 
On December 3, 2013, on behalf of its founders, MFI Kontakt submitted a request to the Central Bank of 
Montenegro for issuing a banking license to Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica. The Council of the Central Bank of 
Montenegro adopted a decision to issue the banking license to the Bank at its session held on May 28, 2014, 
License No.: 0101-4014/58-3. 
 
The Bank was registered with the Central Registry maintained by the Commercial Court under the registration 
number 4-0009270/011 on June 27, 2014. 
 
The Bank was founded by residents and foreign natural persons with significant banking experience, by the 
domestic company “Zetagradnja” d.o.o., Podgorica, as well as the German state fund DEG (KfW Group). 
 
The Bank’s activities include universal banking products in accordance with the license, predominantly credit, 
deposit and guarantee activities, as well as foreign-exchange transactions, depot operations, safekeeping 
services, issuance, processing and recording of payment instruments.  
 
The Bank's registered office is in Podgorica, George Washington Boulevard, no. 56 / I. As of December 31, 
2020, the Bank consists of the Headquarters based in Podgorica, 12 branches and 3 counters. As at 31 
December 2020, the Bank has 144 employees (31 December 2019: 126 employees). 
 
By the decision of the Central Register of Business Entities number 4-0009270 / 048 dated 24 February 2020, 
changes were registered for the business entity Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica, namely the registration of the 
Articles of Association dated 14 February 2020. The decision of the Central Register of Business Entities No. 
4-0009270 / 049 of 24 November 2020 registered a capital increase in the amount of EUR 1,818,000.00 and, 
accordingly, the consolidated Statute of the Bank. By the decision of the Central Register of Business Entities 
No. 4-0009270 / 050 of 3 December 2020, the data for the business entity Lovćen banka joint stock company 
Podgorica was changed, namely the registration of the Audit Company “Crowe MNE” DOO Podgorica as the 
auditor of the Bank. 
 
 
Bank's executive directors as at December 31, 2020:  
 

FIRST AND LAST 
NAME 

FUNCTION Function performed from: 

Vinko Nikić, PhD CEO Jun 16, 2017 

Draško Trninić 
Executive Director for Retail Banking and Branch 
Offices, Treasury and Call center 

January 12, 2017 

Daniela Golubović 
Executive Director for Risk, Finance, Accounting, Back 
office and Security 

November, 1, 2019. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
2.1. Basis for Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
The Bank prepares its financial statements (hereinafter "the financial statements") in conformity with the Law 
on Accounting of Montenegro ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", No. 52/16) which entails implementation of 
International Financial Reporting Standards and decisions of the Central Bank of Montenegro governing 
financial reporting of banks. 
 
The Bank's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Decision on the Content, 
Deadlines and Manner of Compiling and Submitting Financial Statements of Banks (Official Gazette of 
Montenegro, No. 15/12, 18/13 and 24/18). 
 
In accordance with the Law on Accounting and Auditing of Montenegro, International Accounting Standards 
("IAS") and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board, should be adopted and published by a respective competent authority of Montenegro who 
got the right on translation and publishing from the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Therefore, 
only IFRS and IAS officially adopted and published by the respective and competent authority of Montenegro 
may be applicable. The most recent official translations have been published for the portion of IAS’s that have 
been applied since 1 January 2009, that is, the portion of IFRS’s that have been applied since 1 January 2013, 
and IFRS 9, which has been applied since 1 January 2018, covering only the basic text of standards and 
interpretations and do not include reasoning, illustrative examples, application instructions, comments, 
opinions, and other explanatory material. In accordance with the letter of the Central Bank of Montenegro, 
number 03-105-1 / 2019 dated January 9, 2019, the application of IFRS 16 - Leasing has been postponed to 
January 1, 2020.. 
 
Taking into consideration the effects that the above-mentioned departures of the Montenegro accounting 
regulations from IFRS and IAS can have on the presentation of the Bank's financial statements, the 
accompanying financial statements differ and depart from IFRS and IAS in that regard. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, unless 
otherwise stated in the accounting policies. In the preparation of the accompanying financial statements, the 
Bank has adhered to the accounting policies described in Note 3 to the financial statements, based on 
accounting, banking and tax regulations of Montenegro. 
 
2.2 Application of new and amended standards 

 
New and amended International Financial Reporting Standard 16 - Leases (“IFRS 16”) applicable for 
the current period 

 
Impact of initial application of IFRS 16 – Leases 

 
As previously stated, the Bank, in accordance with the letter of the Central Bank of Montenegro, applied IFRS 
16 (issued by the Board of International Ethical Standards for Accountants "IASB" in January 2016), starting 
from January 1, 2020.  

 
IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements regarding the accounting treatment of leases. This standard 
introduces significant changes in the accounting treatment of lessees by removing the distinction between 
operating and finance leases and requires recognition of the right to use the asset and the lease obligation at 
the inception of all leases, except short-term leases and low-value leases. In contrast to tenant accounting 
treatment, lessor accounting treatment requirements have remained largely unchanged. More details on the 
new requirements of this standard are presented in Note 3. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
2.2 Application of new and amended standards 

 
The Bank has applied IFRS 16 using a modified approach that: 

- requires the Bank to recognize the cumulative effect of the initial application of IFRS 16 by adjusting 
the opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application, 

- does not allow the adjustment of comparative periods, which continue to be presented in accordance 
with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

 
(a) Impact of the new lease definition 

 

The Bank has taken advantage of the practical convenience available in transitioning to IFRS 16 not to 
reconsider whether an agreement is a lease or contains elements of a lease. Therefore, the definition of leases 
in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to apply to leases entered into or amended before 1 
January 2020. 
 
The change in the definition of lease mainly relates to the control principle. IFRS 16 determines whether a 
contract contains lease elements based on the lessee's right to control the identified assets for a specified 
period in exchange for compensation. 
 
The Bank applies the definition of a lease and the related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all leases that are 
effective as of January 1, 2020. In preparation for the initial application of IFRS 16, the Bank has implemented 
an implementation project. The project has shown that the new definition of IFRS 16 will not significantly 
change the scope of contracts that meet the definition of a lease for the Bank. 

 
(b) Impact on lessee accounting treatment 
 
Former operating leases 
 

 
IFRS 16 changes the way in which the Bank accounts for leases that were previously classified as operating 
leases in accordance with IAS 17, which were not presented in the balance sheet, ie were kept off-balance 
sheet. By applying IFRS 16 to all leases (other than those listed below), the Bank: recognizes rights to use 
and a lease liability in the balance sheet, initially measured at the present value of future lease payments, 
adjusting the right to use for the amount of the liability for a lease or subscription in accordance with IFRS 16 
- recognizes the depreciation of the right to use and the interest on the lease liabilities in the income statement. 

 
Lease incentives (eg periods without rent) are recognized through the measurement of usable assets and 
lease obligations, while under IAS 17 they result in the recognition of lease incentives, depreciated as a 
reduction of lease costs on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS 16, property, plant and equipment are tested for 
impairment in accordance with IAS 36. 
 
For short-term leases (leases of up to 12 months or less) and leases in which the assets are leased at low 
value, the Bank has chosen to recognize the lease on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16. These 
costs are presented as depreciation costs classified within functional cost groups in the income statement.  
 
The Bank applied practical expedient provided for in IFRS 16, according to which it did not recognize assets 
with the right of use for lease agreements where the lease term expires in the next 12 months from the date 
of initial recognition. 
 
(c) Impact on lessor accounting treatment 

 
IFRS 16 has not substantially changed the way lessors treat leases. As required by IFRS 16, a lessor continues 
to classify leases as financial or operating and includes these two types of leases separately.  
 
However, IFRS 16 amended and expanded the required disclosures, particularly with respect to the way in 
which the lessor manages the risks arising from a residual interest in the leased asset.   
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED) 
 
2.2          Application of new and amended standards (continued) 
 
New and amended International Financial Reporting Standard 16 - Leases (“IFRS 16”) applicable for 
the current period (continued) 

 
(d) Financial impact of the initial application of IFRS 16 

 
The incremental borrowing rate used in calculating the present value of liabilities, depending on the lease term, 
is in range from 24.4% to 3.59%.  
 
The following table shows the lease liabilities recognized on 1 January 2020, discounted using the incremental 
borrowing interest rate at the date of initial application: 

  (In thousands of EUR) 

   

Lease obligations as at January 1, 2020  2,572 

Discounting effects  (255) 

   

Lease obligations recognized on January 1, 2020  2,317 

 
The Bank recognized EUR 2,317 thousand of available-for-use assets and EUR 2,317 as lease liabilities 
upon transition to IFRS 16. There was no impact on retained earnings. 
 
2.3. Rules of Estimates 
 
Financial statements are prepared based on historical cost, except for the following positions measured at fair 
values: 
 

• Financial instruments at fair values in income statement, 

• Financial instruments at fair value in other total result  

• Financial liabilities at fair value through income statement. 
 
2.4.     Official currency of the reports 

The Bank’s financial statements are stated in thousands of euros (EUR) which is the official reporting currency 
in Montenegro. Except if stated otherwise all amounts are presented in thousands of EUR. 
 

2.5. Use of estimates 
 
Information on the areas with the highest degree of valuation and which may result with the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the Bank's financial statements is set out in Note 3.17 
 
2.6.  Going concern 
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the going concern basis, which presupposes that 
the Bank will continue to operate over an unlimited period of time in the foreseeable future. 
 
2.7. Comparative data  
 
The comparative amounts or the opening balances represent the data contained in the financial statements 
for 2019. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED) 
 

2.8. Covid 19 pandemic impact 

After the pandemic Coronavirus - COVID-19 was declared by the World Health Organization in March 2020, 
which affected the whole world, not only a deep health crisis arose, but there were great changes in the global 
economy and the economy of individual countries. The ordered measures of isolation and social distancing 
have had the effect of reducing the scope and, in certain cases, the complete cessation of economic activity 
of certain activities. This has had an impact on accelerating the mass digitization of financial institutions and 
moving towards a new operational model with remote / network service delivery channels. 
 

The Bank has taken all the necessary measures to protect its clients, employees and all interested parties, by 
enabling the undisturbed operation of its services in the best possible way. Given the uncertainty regarding 
the development of the COVID-19 pandemic and the limited experience of the economic and financial impacts 
of such a pandemic, it is a great challenge to predict its duration and future economic impact. These 
circumstances can lead to a number of challenges for the Bank, related to business operations; mostly due to 
appropriate measures and policies that have already been adopted, or could be adopted in the future by state 
institutions. Such measures and policies could significantly affect the Bank's activities. 
 

During 2020, the Government of Montenegro and the Central Bank of Montenegro (CBCG) have taken 
comprehensive fiscal and monetary policy measures in order to reduce the negative effects. In order to support 
the financial and real sector of Montenegro, CBCG contributed to the preservation of price and financial 
stability, efficient functioning of the market and preservation of credit activity by mitigating monetary policy and 
additional implemented measures, which significantly reduced the negative effects of the pandemic on real 
flows and created preconditions for faster recovery. 
 

The Bank has introduced preventive measures to deal with the pandemic from the start, including tightening 
of risk monitoring, and continues to proactively manage developments. Non-financial risk arising from 
restrictions on the movement and remote work of staff, other contracting parties, customers and suppliers is 
identified and monitored and adequately managed. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, the Bank has taken into account the impact of COVID-19 as at 31 
December 2020. The Bank's management has estimated that in the long run COVID-19 cannot have a 
significant impact that would jeopardize the overall business, and therefore the future financial result of the 
Bank. The impact of COVID-19 resulted in the application of further judgments and the inclusion of estimates 
and assumptions specific to the impact of COVID-19. 
 

 The Bank's management's considerations regarding the impact of COVID-19, including estimates and 
assumptions, on individual items in the financial statements are set out below: 
 

Loans and receivables  
 

The Bank offered number of support measures to clients, individuals and legal entities, who were affected by 
COVID-19. In accordance with the Decision on temporary measures to mitigate the negative impacts of the 
epidemic of infectious diseases COVID 19 on the financial system of the Central Bank of Montenegro ("Official 
Gazette of Montenegro", No. 019/20, No. 028/20, No. 42/20, No. 80/20 and 105/20) The Bank has provided 
credit users with a moratorium on loan repayment and restructuring of liabilities under the conditions provided 
for in these Decisions. ESMA (European Securities and Markets Authority) in the document "Accounting 
implications of the outbreak of COVID-19 on the calculation of expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 
9" interpreted that changes in contractual conditions arising from the moratorium are not necessarily 
considered a significant modification leading to derecognition. 
 

Expected credit loss calculation 
 

The slowdown in economic activity resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and related lock-down measures 
affected the calculation of expected credit losses. The Bank updated the macroeconomic scenarios as of 
December 31, 2020. Additional information on measuring credit exposure is explained in Note 3.10. Also, in 
this case, the measurement is influenced by the already mentioned degree of uncertainty in the evolution of 
the pandemic, the effect of mitigation measures and the degree of economic recovery. The evolution of these 
factors may require the classification of additional credit exposures as non-performing in future financial 
years, which will determine the recognition of additional provisions for credit losses. In this context, the ability 
of clients to service their debt when the moratorium measures expire, as well as the facilities granted under 
the assistance program, will be relevant, among other factors.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

3.1.  Income and Expenses recognition  
 
Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts future cash payments or receipts over th expected life of 
the financial instrument to:  

- the gross accounting value of financial asset or 
- amortized value of financial liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments, except for purchased or approved credit 
-impaired assets, the Bank for future cash flows estimate takes into account all agreed terms but not ECL. 
For purchased or credit - impaired financial assets the credit – adjusted effective interest rate is calculated 
taking into account expected cash flows including ECL. 
 
When calculating effective interest rate the transaction cost and all unpaid or paid fees are considered, which 
are the part of effective interest rate. The transaction costs are incremental costs which can be directly 
attributed to the emission or disposal of some financial asset or financial liability. 
 
Amortized cost of the financial asset or financial liability represents the amount by which the financial asset or 
financial liability are valuated in the moment of initial recognition less for repayment of principal and increased 
or decreased for cumulative depreciation calculated using effective interest rate, the difference between initial 
amount and the amount of the maturity and for financial assets, corrected for expected credit loss (or 
impairment occurred in the period before 1 January 2018.) 
 
Gross carrying amount of financial asset is amortized value of financial asset before the impairment for 
expected credit loss. 
 
The effective interest rate for financial assets and financial liabilities is calculated at initial recognition of the 
financial asset or liability. When calculating the interest income and expense the effective interest rate is 
applied on gross carrying amount of the assets (if the amount is not credit – impaired) or amortized value of 
liability. For the financial instruments with variable interest rate the effective interest rate is fluctuated due to 
periodic estimation of cash flow to reflect market interest rate trend. 
 
For financial assets which became credit – impaired after initial recognition the Bank completely ceases to 
recognize the income interest in income statement, i.e. performs off-balance sheet records of the mentioned 
up to the moment of collection of the receivables, when the income is recognized at the amount of collected 
receivable. If the financial assets are no longer credit – impaired the calculation of the income is calculated 
again on a gross basis i.e. the interest is calculated applying effective interest rate on gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset and it is recognized in total in income statement. 
 
Fee and commission income and expenses based on provision or use of banking services are recognized it 
the income statement in the moment when accrued i.e. when at the moment when the service is provided or 
received. 
 
Fee and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset 
or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate 
 
Fee and commission income, also, include transfer payments in foreign currency, domestic payments 
transactions, loan administration, guarantee, letter of credit business and other banking services. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.2. Foreign Exchange Translation 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into EUR at the official exchange rate prevailing 
on the Interbank Market, at the date of each transaction. 
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into EUR by applying the official 
exchange rate, as determined on the Interbank Market, prevailing at the statement of financial position date. 
 
Net foreign exchange gains or losses arising upon the translation of transactions, and the assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are credited or charged to the statement of comprehensive income as gains 
or losses based on foreign exchange. 
 
Commitments and contingent liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into EUR by applying 
the official exchange rates prevailing on the Interbank Market, at the statement of financial position date. 
 
3.3. Taxes and contributions 
 

Income Taxes 
 

Current Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes are calculated and paid in conformity with the Law on Corporate Income Tax (Official Gazette of 
Montenegro, No.65/01, 12/02, 80/04, 40/08, 86/09, 40/11, 14/12, 61/13 and 55/16). 
 

A taxable profit is determined based upon the income stated in its income statement following certain 
adjustments to its income and expenses performed in a manner defined by the tax regulations. Income tax 
expense is calculated using the straight-line rate of 9% on taxable income (2019: 9%). 
 

Capital losses may be set off against capital gains earned in the same year. In case there are outstanding 
capital losses even after the set-off of capital losses against capital gains earned in the same year, these 
outstanding losses are available for carry forward in the ensuing 5 years. 
 

Montenegrin tax regulations do not envisage that any tax losses of the current period may be used to recover 
taxes paid within a specific carry back period. However, any current year losses reported in the annual 
corporate income tax returns may be carried forward and used to reduce or eliminate taxes to be paid in future 
accounting periods, but only for an ensuing period of a maximum of five years. 
 
Deferred Income Taxes 
 

Deferred income tax is determined using the balance sheet liability method, for the temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their carrying values in the financial statements. 
The currently- enacted tax rates at the balance sheet date are used to determine the deferred income tax 
amount. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for the deductible temporary differences, and the tax effects of income tax losses and credits 
available for carry forward, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which deferred tax assets may be utilized. 
 

Deferred taxes related with to the re-estimation of the fair value of investments available-for-sale are calculated 
and accounted for directly against or in favour of capital and at the same time are recorded in the income 
statement along with deferred profits or losses. 
 
Taxes, contributions and other duties not related to operating results 
 

Taxes, contributions and other duties that are not related to the bank's operating result, include property taxes 
and other various taxes and contributions paid pursuant to state and municipal regulations. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents relate to cash on hand (in EUR and foreign currencies), deposits with the Central 
bank of Montenegro (CBM) and other banks. 
 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid placements that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents represent term deposits with commercial 
banks with maturity of up to three months. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortized cost in the balance sheet. 
 
Calculation, allocation and utilization of reserve requirements with the CBM is prescribed by the Decision on 
obligatory reserve of banks with the Central Bank of Montenegro (Official Gazette of Montenegro, No. 88/17 i 
43/20) on the basis of which the reserve requirement is calculated at the rate of 5,5% on the part of the base 
consisting of a-vista deposits and term deposits contracted with maturity up to one year, or up to 365 days, 
4,5% - on the part of the base comprised of deposits contracted with maturity over one year, ie over 365 days.  
For term deposits with a maturity of more than one year or more than 365 days, which have a termination 
clause of less than one year or less than 365 days, the rate of 5.5% applies. 
 
Banks are accrued to the minimum reserve requirement on account of the required reserve in the country and 
/ or in the accounts of the Central Bank abroad and cannot be separated and kept in another form. Banks may 
use up to 50% of the required reserve requirement to maintain daily liquidity. 
 
3.5.  Financial assets 
 
3.5.1.  Date of recognition 
 
Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to 
customers, are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or Convention 
in the market place. Loans and advances to customers are recognised when funds are transferred to the 
customers’ accounts. The Bank recognises balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank. 
 
3.5.2.  Initial measurement of financial instruments 
 
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the 
business model for managing the instruments, as described in Notes 3.6.1.1 and 3.6.1.2. Financial instruments 
are initially measured at their fair value, except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 
at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables are measured at 
the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below. 
 
 
3.5.3.  Day 1 profit or loss 
 
When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based 
on a valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognises the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value 
is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction 
price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognised in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, 
or when the instrument is derecognised.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.5.4.  Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the 
asset’s contractual terms, measured at either: 
 

- Amortised cost, as explained in Note 3.6.1 
- FVOCI, as explained in Notes 3.6.3 and 3.6.4 

- FVPL 
 
The Bank does not have its derivative and trading portfolio. The Bank may designate financial instruments at 
FVPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies, as explained 
in Note 3.6.6. 
 
The Bank measures all financial liabilities at amortized cost. 
 
3.6.  Financial assets and liabilities 
 
3.6.1.  Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial investments at amortised cost 
 
The Bank measures Due from bank and Loans and advances to customers at amortized cost if the following 
conditions are met. 
 

➢ The financial asset is held within the operating model with the aim to collect agreed cash flow 
➢ The contractual terms of the financial asset on certain days gives the cash flow that are principal and 

interest payment (SPPI) on the amount of outstanding principal. 
 
The details of these conditions are explained as follows. 
 
3.6.1.1. Business model assessment 
 
The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial 
assets to achieve its business objective. The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as. 
 

➢ How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model 
are evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel 

➢ The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed 

➢ How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based 
on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected) 

➢ The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s 
assessment 

 
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 
'stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different 
from the Bank's original expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial 
assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or 
newly purchased financial assets going forward. 
 
As at 31, December 2020, the Bank holds the entire portfolio of the loans and receivables of the banks and 
clients in order to collect contracted cash flow. The securities portfolio is held in order to collect the contracted 
cash flow and for sale, therefore it is classified as FVOCI. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.6.  Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
3.6.1.2. The SPPI test 
 
As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial to identify 
whether they meet the SPPI test. ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the 
financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there 
are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount). 
 
The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the 
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers 
relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the 
interest rate is set. 
 
In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial 
asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 
 
The Bank does not have in its portfolio more complex instruments with contractual terms such as leverage, 
subscription or extension options, where the cash flows are linked with fixed assets non-recourse 
arrangements contractually linked instruments or when the contractual cash flows are changing based on 
potential events. 
As at 01, January and as at 31, December, the Bank does not have in its portfolio instruments that do not pass 
SPPI test, that is whose contractual cash flows are not solely the payment of principal and interest on the 
outstanding principal amount. 
 
3.6.2.  Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading 
 
The Bank classifies financial assets or financial liabilities as held for trading when they have been purchased 
or issued primarily for short-term profit making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments that are managed together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit 
taking. Held-for-trading assets and liabilities are recorded and measured in the statement of financial position 
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in net trading income. Interest and dividend income or 
expense is recorded in net trading income according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to payment 
has been established. Included in this classification are debt securities, equities, short positions and customer 
loans that have been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
 
As at 1, January 2020 and 31, December the Bank in its portfolio does not have financial assets and liabilities 
held for trade. 
 
3.6.3.  Debt instruments at FVOCI 
 
The Bank applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the 
following conditions are met: 
 

➢ The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets 

➢ The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test 
 
These instruments largely comprise assets that had previously been classified as financial investments 
available for- sale under IAS 39. FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains 
and losses arising due to changes in fair value recognised in FVOCI. Interest income and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost.  
The ECL calculation for Debt instruments at FVOCI is explained in Note 3.9.2. On derecognition, cumulative 
gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.6.  Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

3.6.4.  Equity instruments at FVOCI  
 

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as 
equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by 
instrument basis. 
Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are recognised in profit 
or loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Bank 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are 
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. 
As at  January, 1, 2020, and as at December 31, 2020, the Bank in tis portfolio does not have debt instruments 
at FVOCI. 
 

3.6.5.  Debt issued and other borrowed funds 
 

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue funds, and costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR.  
 

3.6.6.  Finansijska imovina i finansijske obaveze po fer vrijednosti kroz bilans uspjeha (FVPL) 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been 
either designated by management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair 
value under IFRS 9. Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one of 
the following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis: 
 

➢ The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different 
basis. 

➢ The liabilities (and assets until 1 January 2018 under IAS 39) are part of a group of financial liabilities 
(or financial assets, or both under IAS 39), which are managed and their performance evaluated on a 
fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. 

➢ The liabilities (and assets until 1 January 2018 under IAS 39) containing one or more embedded 
derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by 
the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar instrument is first considered that 
separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited. 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value of liabilities 
designated at FVPL due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in 
the Own credit reserve through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest earned or incurred 
on instruments designated at FVPL is accrued in interest income or interest expense, respectively, using the 
EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an integral part of 
instrument. Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using 
contractual interest rate. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVPL is recorded in profit or 
loss as other operating income when the right to the payment has been established. 
 

3.6.7.  Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments 
 

The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. 
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being 
the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured 
at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income 
statement, and – under IAS 39 – the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation 
arising as a result of the guarantee, or – under IFRS 9 – an ECL provision as set out in Note 3.10. The premium 
received is recognised in the income statement in Net fees and commission income on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the guarantee. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.6.  Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
3.6.7.  Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments (continued) 
 
Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the 
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial 
guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements. 
 
The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where 
the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position.  
 
3.7.  Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 
 
From January 1, 2018, the Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, 
apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business 
line. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities 
in 2020. 
 
3.8.  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
3.8.1.  Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 
 
The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have 
been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a 
derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly 
recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed 
to be POCI. 
 
When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers 
the following factors: 
 

➢ Change in currency of the loan 
➢ Introduction of an equity feature 
➢ Change in counterparty 
➢ If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion 

 
If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result 
in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a 
modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. 
 
3.8.2.  Derecognition other than for substantial modification 
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also 
derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for 
derecognition. 
 
The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

➢ The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset 
Or 

➢ It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows 
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.8.  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
3.8.2.  Derecognition other than for substantial modification (continued) 
 
Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the 
cash flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash 
flows to one or more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 
 

➢ The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent 
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the 
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates 

➢ The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients 
➢ The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material 

delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash 
or cash equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the 
date of required remittance to the eventual recipients. 

 
A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 
 
The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the 
asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 
imposing additional restrictions on the transfer. 
When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained 
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing 
involvement, in which case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained. 
 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be 
required to pay. 
 

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset, the 
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the 
case of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying 
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.9.  Impairment of financial assets 
 
3.9.1.  Overview of the ECL principles 
 
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s loan loss impairment method by replacing IAS 
39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking ECL approach. From 1 January 2018, the Bank has been 
recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at 
FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as 
‘financial instruments. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9. 
 
The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime 
expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, 
in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined in Note 
3.9.2).  
 
The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are 
calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio 
of financial instruments. The Bank’s policy for grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis is 
explained in Note 4.2.4. 
 
Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described 
below: 

➢ Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs. 
Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been 
reclassified from Stage 2. 

➢ Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records 
an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved 
and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

➢ Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired (as outlined in Note 4.3.). The bank records an allowance 
for the LTECLs. 
 

POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on 
initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and interest income is 
subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent 
that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. For financial assets for which the Bank has 
no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This is considered a (partial) derecognition of the 
financial asset. 
 
 
3.9.2.  The calculation of ECLs 
 
The Bank calculates ECLs based on four probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows 
that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 
 
The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

➢ PD The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A 
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been 
previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. The concept of PDs is further explained in Note 
4.2.4.2. 

➢ EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into 
account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal 
and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, 
and accrued interest from missed payments. The EAD is further explained in Note 4.2.4.2. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.9.  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
3.9.2.  The calculation of ECLs (continued) 
 

➢ LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a 
given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the 
lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed 
as a percentage of the EAD. The LGD is further explained in Note 4.2.4.2. 
 

 
With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, for which the treatment is separately set out in 
Note 3.9.4, the maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial 
Instrument unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier. 
 
Losses and impairment allowances are calculated and disclosed separately from losses and gains of the 
changes that are calculated as reconciliation of carrying amount of the financial assets. Provision for ECL for 
unused loans are estimated in accordance with the Note 4.2.4. The calculation of ECL (including ECL related 
to unused part of loan) for revolving products such as credit cards is explained in Note 3.9.4. 
 
 
The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below: 
 

➢ Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 
The Bank calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 
months following the reporting date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a 
forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original 
EIR.  
 

➢ Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records 
an allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use 
of multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The 
expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 

➢ Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired (as defined in Note 4.2), the Bank recognises the lifetime 
expected credit losses for these loans. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD 
set at 100%. 
 

➢ POCI: POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only 
recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime ECLs since initial recognition, based on a probability-
weighting on all scenarios, discounted by the credit adjusted EIR. 

 

➢ Loan commitments and letters of credit: When estimating LTECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the 
Bank estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down over its expected 
life. The ECL is then based on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is 
drawn down. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on 
the loan. 
For credit cards and revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, ECLs 
are calculated and presented together with the loan as Provisions for off-balance sheet. For loan 
commitments and letters of credit, the ECL is recognised within Provisions. 
 

Financial guarantee contracts: The Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the 

amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and the ECL 

provision. For this purpose, the Bank estimates ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments 

to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs. The shortfalls are discounted by the risk-adjusted 

interest rate relevant to the exposure. The calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the four 

scenarios. The ECLs related to financial guarantee contracts are recognised within Provisions.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.9.  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
3.9.3.  Debt instruments at fair value (FVOCI) 
 
The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets 
in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance 
that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated 
impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in OCI is 
recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets. 
 
3.9.4.  Credit cards and other revolving facilities 
 
The Bank’s product offering includes a variety of corporate and retail overdraft and credit cards facilities, in 
which the Bank has the right to cancel and/or reduce the facilities with one day’s notice. The Bank does not 
limit its exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, but instead calculates ECL over a period that 
reflects the Bank’s expectations of the customer behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Bank’s future risk 
mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities. Based on past experience and 
the Bank’s expectations, the period over which the Bank calculates ECLs for these products, is one year. 
 
3.9.5.  Forward looking information 
 
In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as economic inputs, such 
as: GDP growth, unemployment rates, change of average salary, house price indices, change of foreign trade. 
 
The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at 
the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made 
as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material. The Bank has developed 
methodology in accordance with which predicts reconciliation with trends at the level of the banking system in 
Montenegro during the estimated period. Detailed information about these inputs and sensitivity analysis are 
provided in Note 4.2. 
 
3.9.6.  Collateral valuation 
 
To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral 
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, 
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. The Bank’s 
accounting policy for collateral assigned to it through its lending arrangements under IFRS 9 is the same is it 
was under IAS 39. Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement of financial position. 
However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at 
inception and re-assessed on a quarterly basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash relating to 
margining requirements, is valued daily. Details of the impact of the Bank’s various credit enhancements are 
disclosed in Note 4.2. 
 
To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other 
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using models. Non-financial 
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as mortgage brokers, or 
based on housing price indices. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.9.  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
3.9.7.  Collateral repossessed 
 
The Bank’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under IAS 39. The Bank’s policy is to 
determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets 
determined to be useful for the internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower 
of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is 
determined to be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) 
and fair value less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the Bank’s policy. 
 
3.9.8.  Write-offs 
 
The Bank’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under IAS 39. Financial assets are 
written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the 
amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an 
addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries 
are credited to credit loss expense. 
 
3.9.9.  Forborne and modified loans 
 

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the 
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. 
The Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the 
borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the borrower 
had been financially healthy. Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the 
agreement of new loan conditions.  
Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated 
before the modification of terms. It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future 
payments continue to be likely to occur. 
Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 or POCI are determined on a case-
by-case basis by applying tests of qualitative and quantitative effects of modification conditions. If these 
procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne 
asset or POCI until it is collected or written off. 
Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain forborne for a minimum 24-month probation 
period. In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the 
following criteria 
 

➢ All of its facilities have to be considered performing 
➢ The probation period of two years has passed from the date the forborne contract was considered 

performing 
➢ Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during 

at least half of the probation period 
➢ The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due 

 
If the changes are significant (test of quantitative and qualitative effects of modifications) the loan is 
derecognized whereby the POCI assets may arise. As at 1, January and as at 31, December 2020, the Bank 
does not have POCI assets. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.10. Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangible Assets 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Cost represents the price billed by suppliers together with all costs incurred in bringing new fixed assets into 
functional use. 
 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost 
to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The calculation of depreciation begins when the assets 
are put into use. 
  Rate in % 

Property  3,3 
Computer Equipment  20,0 
Furniture and other equipment  15,0 
Air conditioning  10,0 
Vehicles   20,0 

 
Depreciation period begins when the assets are put into use. Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in the income statement under other income 
/ (expenses). There were no changes in estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment compared to 
prior year. 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The Bank assesses 
whether the useful life of an intangible asset is limited or unlimited. Intangible assets are considered to have 
an indefinite useful life if, based on an analysis of all relevant factors, it is not possible to predict the end of the 
period in which intangible assets are expected to generate net cash inflows into the entity. Amortization of 
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives. 

 

  
Rate in %  

(to 30.12.2020.) 
Rate in %  

(from 30.12.2020.) 

Intangible assets  20,0-30,0 10,0-33,3 

 
 
3.11. Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
On the balance sheet date, the Bank's management review the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible 
assets. If there is an indication that an asset is impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the amount of impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be 
less than the value at which the asset is stated, existing value of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
 
Loss on impairment of assets is recognized as an expense in the current period and is recorded under other 
operating expenses. If subsequently an impairment loss recognized in previous years does not exist or has 
decreased, the value of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased value at which the asset is stated does not exceed the carrying value prior to identification of the 
loss due to the impairment of assets.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
3.12. Lease 
 
The Bank has applied IFRS 16 using a modified approach and accordingly, no adjustments have been made 
to the comparative periods presented in accordance with IAS 17. Details of accounting policies under IAS 17 
and IFRS 16 are disclosed below. 
 
Policies applicable from 1 January 2020  
 
Bank as a lessee 
 
The Bank assesses whether an agreement constitutes a lease or contains elements of a lease at the inception 
of the contract. The Bank recognizes the right to use and the corresponding lease obligation for each 
arrangement in which it appears as a lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a term of 12 
months or less) and leases for which the leased property is small (such as are tablets, personal computers or 
small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Bank records lease payments as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, unless another system basis provides a more 
representative timeline in which the economic benefits are consumed. The lease liability is initially measured 
at the present value of the lease payments not paid at the date of commencement, discounted using the rate 
implied by the lease. If this rate cannot be easily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of a lease liability include:  
• Fixed rents (including essentially fixed payments), less any rental incentives;  
• Variable rents that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using an index or rate on the lease 

date;  
• The amount expected to be paid under residual value guarantees;  
• Executable prices of purchase options, if the lessee reasonably expects to exercise these options;  
• Payment of fines for termination of the lease, if the term of the lease reflects the exercise of the option to 

terminate the lease.  
 
The lease liability is presented within other liabilities in the balance sheet.  
 
Leasing liabilities are subsequently measured in such a way that their carrying amount is increased to reflect 
the interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and reduced to reflect lease payments. 
 
 
The Bank remeasures the lease liability and records the adjustment to the related assets with the right of use 
in cases when:  
•    the lease term changes or a significant event or change occurs in the circumstances that result in the 

assessment of the exercise of the purchase option, in which case the liability is remeasured by discounting 
the changed leases using the changed interest rate; 

•    rent payments change due to changes in the index or rate or changes in expected payments under the 
residual value guarantee, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the changed 
payments using unchanged discount rates (unless the lease payments are changed due to a change in 
variable interest rates). rates, in which case a changed discount rate is used);  

•  the contract is modified and this modification is not recorded as a separate lease, in which case the lease 
obligation is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease, by discounting the changed 
payments using the changed discount rate on the date the modification is made.  

 
The right to use includes the initial measurement of the relevant lease obligation, the payment of rent prior to 
the commencement of the lease or payment on the lease date, less any lease incentives and any direct costs. 
Subsequently, assets with the right of use are measured at cost less accumulated impairment. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
3.12. Lease (continued) 
 
Assets with the right of use are depreciated over the term of the lease and the useful life of the assets with the 
right of use, whichever is shorter. If ownership of the leased asset is transferred at the end of the lease or the 
value of the asset used reflects the fact that the Bank expects to exercise the put option, the asset is depreciated 
over the useful life of the asset. Depreciation begins on the lease start date. 
 
 Assets with the right of use are shown under property, plant and equipment. The Bank applies IAS 36 to 
determine whether property, plant and equipment is impaired and records impairment losses in accordance with 
the accounting policies described in the accounting policies for “Property, plant and equipment”. 
 
Variable leases that do not depend on the index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
and the right to use. These payments are recognized as an expense in the period in which the event or condition 
triggering those payments occurs and is included in other expenses in the income statement.  
 
As a practical convenience, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components of an agreement 
and to instead account for lease-related components and non-lease components as a single arrangement. The 
bank did not use this practical facility. For leases that contain lease-related components and one or more lease-
related or non-lease-related ancillary components, the Bank allocates contractual payments to those 
components on the basis of the relative independent prices of the components. 
 

Bank as a lessor  
 
Leases in which the Bank acts as a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. In cases when all risks 
and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee on the basis of the lease agreement, the agreement is 
classified as a financial lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
Lease income from an operating lease is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased assets and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
 
Receivables from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables in the amount of the Bank's net 
investment in leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Bank's net investment in the lease.  
 
In cases where the lease contains lease-related components and non-lease-related components, the Bank 
records contractual fees for each component.  
 
In the observed period, the Bank did not have concluded lease agreements as a lessor. 
 

Policies applicable before January 1, 2020  
 
Leases are classified as financial whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 

Bank as a lessee  
 
Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Bank at fair value or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each of which is determined at the inception of the lease. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a liability under the finance lease. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
3.12. Lease (continued) 
 
Lease payments are allocated between the finance charge and the reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant interest rate on the remaining balance of the liability. Financial expenses are recognized 
immediately in the income statement, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case 
they are capitalized in accordance with the Company's general policy on expenses. Contingent rents are 
recognized as an expense in the periods in which they are incurred Leases paid under an operating lease are 
recorded as an expense on a linear basis unless the other system basis provides a more representative timeline 
in which the economic benefits are consumed. Contingent leases arising from operating leases are recognized 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.  
 
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into an operating lease, such incentives are recognized 
as a liability. The total benefit of the incentive is recognized as a reduction in the cost of the lease linearly over 
the term of the lease, unless another system basis provides a more representative timeline in which the 
economic benefits are consumed. Contingent leases arising from operating leases are recognized as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Bank as a lessor  
 
Receivables from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables in the amount of the Company's 
net investment in leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Company's net investment in the lease.  
 
Lease income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased assets and are 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
The amounts recognized in the income statement as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:  
-  depreciation expense in the amount of EUR 408 thousand,  
-  costs related to short-term leases EUR 33 thousand.  
 
Below is an overview of liabilities and maturities by years: 

 In thousands of EUR 
  
 

31 December 2020  31 December  2019 
Short-term liabilities 378  - 

Long-term liabilities 1,762  - 

 

2,140 

 

- 

 
 In thousands of EUR 

  
 31 December 2020  31 December 2019 
Maturity of leasing obligations:    

- Up to one year 378  - 

- From one to two years  373  - 

- From two to three years 373  - 

- From three to four years 381  - 

- From four to five years 234  - 

- Over five years 401  - 

 
2,140 

 
- 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.13. Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events when it is likely that the Bank will be required to settle the obligation and when the amount of the 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the outflows required to settle the obligations. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of resources that generate economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligations, the provision is reversed through the income statement. 
 
3.14. Employee Benefits 
 
Taxes and Contributions for Social Security of Employees 
 
Pursuant to the regulations effective in Montenegro, the Bank has an obligation to pay contributions to various 
state social security funds for social security of employees. These obligations involve the payment of 
contributions on behalf of an employee, by the employer, in amounts calculated by applying the specific, legally 
prescribed rates. The Bank is also legally obligated to withhold contributions from gross salaries to employees 
and on their behalf to transfer the withheld portions directly to the appropriate government funds. These 
contributions payable on behalf of the employee and employer are charged to expenses in the period in which 
they arise. 
 

Liabilities based on severance pay or other long-term employee benefits 
 

In accordance with the Collective Bargaining Agreement, the Bank is under obligation to pay retirement 
benefits to an employee upon his/her regular retirement in the amount of three net minimum salaries. The right 
to claim these benefits is usually conditioned with the remaining working age until retirement and/or completion 
of the minimum years of service. Expected costs of these benefits are recognized at the start of the 
employment. The Bank makes provisions based on the estimated present value of assets to be used for 
retirement benefits payable to employees upon fulfilment of the retirement criteria. Provisions are calculated 
by applying projected unit credit method, by discounting of estimated future cash outflow. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they occurred. 
These financial statements do not comprise provisions based on actuarial report. Pursuant to the assessment 
of the Bank's management, there are no materially significant effects thereof on the financial statements as a 
whole, taking into account the age structure and number of employees; also, there was no staff turnover and 
other changes. 
 
 

3.15. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less transaction costs. Financial liabilities are 
subsequently recorded at amortized cost applying the effective interest rate method. The difference between 
the proceeds (less the transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the income statement in 
the period of the borrowings are used by applying the effective interest rate method. 
 
3.16.  Financial guarantees 

 
In the normal course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of guarantees, performance 
guarantees and promissory notes. Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at 
fair value, with the proceeds received. Subsequent measurement of the bank's liabilities, for each guarantee 
is made by the greater amount comparing the amortized premium and the best estimate of the cost required 
to settle the obligation that may arise as a result of guaranties. 
 
Any increase in liabilities arising from financial guarantees is transferred to the income statement. The received 
fee is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line method, throughout the life of the guarantee. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3.17. Key accounting estimates and judgments 

 
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions about the effects that the amounts of assets and liabilities 
contained in the financial statements will have in the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
The presentation of financial statements requires the Bank’s management to make the best possible estimates 
and reasonable assumptions that affect the presented values of assets and liabilities, as well as the disclosure 
of contingent liabilities and receivables as at the date of the preparation of the financial statements, and the 
income and expenses arising during the reporting period. These estimations and assumptions are based on 
information available to us as at the financial statements preparation date. However, the actual results may 
differ from the values estimated in this manner. The estimates as well as the assumptions on the basis of 
which the estimates are made are the result of regular controls. 

If during the control establishes that there were changes in the estimated value of the assets and liabilities the 
determined effects are recognized in financial statements in the period when the change in estimation 
occurred, if the change in estimation effects only on that accounting period or in the period when the change 
in estimation occurred and in following accounting period if the change in estimation and future accounting 
periods. Results achieved may depart from these estimates. 

 
3.17.1  Impairment losses on balance and off-balance sheet placements 
 
The Bank reviews its balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures at least quarterly to assess their 
impairment. The Bank assesses whether there is reliable evidence to show that the credit rating of financial 
instruments has deteriorated and that may affect the income statement. 
 
The methodology and assumptions used to estimate the amount of impairment are disclosed in Note 3.9. 
 
3.17.2  Fair value 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price 
requires the use of various valuation techniques. For financial instruments which are not traded often and 
which have low price transparency, fair value is less objective and requires a certain degree of variation in 
assessing which depends on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and 
other risks affecting the specific instrument. According to the Bank’s management assessment, the carrying 
amount of financial assets and financial liabilities disclosed in the financial statements approximates the fair 
value on the date of financial statements. 
 
3.17.3  Court disputes  
 
The Bank's management estimates the amount of provisions for outflow of funds from litigation based on the 
assessment of the likelihood that the outflow of funds will actually occur under a contractual or legal obligation 
from past periods. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Bank is exposed to various risks in its operations, of which the most significant are the following: 

➢ credit risk; 
➢ market risk; 
➢ liquidity risk; 
➢ operational risk. 

 
The risk management procedures are designed to identify and analyse risks, to define limits and controls 
required for risk management and to monitor the Bank's exposure to each individual risk. The risk management 
procedures are subject to regular review in order to allow adequate response to the changes in the market, 
products and services. 
Management Department is responsible for monitoring the Bank's exposures to certain risks, which is reported 
to the Board of Directors on a monthly basis. In addition, monitoring of the Bank's exposures to certain risks is 
the responsibility of Credit Risk Management Committee and Asset and Liability Management Committee. 
 
4.1. Credit risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to credit risk which is a risk that counterparties will be unable to settle liabilities to the bank 
in full and as due. The Bank makes provisions for impairment losses related to the losses incurred as at the 
statement of financial position date. Significant changes in the economy and certain industries comprising the 
Bank's loan portfolio could result in the losses different from losses for which the provisions were made as at 
the statement of financial position date. Hence, the bank's management manages credit risk exposure observing 
the prudency principle. 
 
The Central Bank of Montenegro adopted the Decision on Minimum Standards for Credit Risk Management in 
Banks ("Off. Gazette of Montenegro", No. 22/12, 55/12, 57/13, 44/17, 82/17, 86/18 i 42/19), which was 
implemented on January 1, 2013, which involves the application of International Financial Reporting Standards 
on measurement and disclosure of balance sheet assets items and off-balance sheet items. Pursuant to the 
foregoing Decision, the Bank has established a methodology for assessment of impairment of balance sheet 
assets and probable losses on off- balance sheet items. Bank methodology consistently applied, reviewed at 
least annually and, if necessary, adjusts the results of the review, and also adapts the assumptions on which 
the methodology is based. 
 
Credit risk mitigation entails maintenance of risk at an acceptable level of the Bank, and maintaining a loan 
portfolio. Credit risk mitigation is carried out through contracting of adequate collateral claims. 
 
The Bank adopted the following documents for credit risk management: 
 

➢ Credit risk management policy 
➢ Procedure for credit risk management of corporate clients 
➢ Procedure for credit risk management of retail clients 
➢ Procedure for placement classification 
➢ Procedure for determination of allowances for impairment and provisions for losses under off-balance 

sheet items 
➢ Procedure for collateral management 
➢ Procedure on types and techniques for credit risk mitigation 
➢ Procedure for microfinancing and credit risk management of microloans 
➢ Procedure for optional risk management. 

 
Credit risk exposure is a risk of a financial loss resulting from the borrower's inability to meet all the contractual 
obligations toward the Bank. The bank manages the risk assumed by setting limits in respect of large loans, 
single borrowing entities and related parties. Such risks are monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
 
Industry loan concentrations are continuously monitored as in accordance with the limits prescribed by the 
Central Bank of Montenegro. 
 
Credit risk exposure is managed by means of regular analyses of the ability of borrowers and potential 

borrowers to repay the liabilities in terms of principal and interest. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
4.1.2. Maximum exposure of the credit risk at balance and off-balance sheet 
 
The following table presents the gross maximum exposure of the credit risk at balance and off-balance 
sheet: 
 

  31.12.2020.  31.12.2019. 

  Gross  Net  Gross  Net 

 I. Review of assets           

Cash and balances with the central 
bank 

 50,825  50,825  33,120  33,116 

Loans and receivables from banks 
and other financial institutions 

 8,189  8,189  3,679  3,679 

Loans and receivables from 
customers 

 176,870  172,793  156,595  153,240 

Securities  1,911  1,911  6,841  6,841 

Other funds  647  590  632  582 
Non-monetary assets  3,635  3,523  3,186  1,282 

         

II. Off-balance sheet         

Guaranties  18,102  17,971  14,411  14,318 

Irrevocable commitments  3,870  3,859  3,282  3,236 

Other  9,202  9,202  5,540  5,540 
         

Total  273,251  268,863  224,100  220,552 

 
The credit risk is managed by Credit risk management sector in accordance with adopted Risk management 
strategy, Credit risk management policy, Credit risk management procedure, Procedure for determining the 
allowances for balance sheet assets and reserves for losses on off-balance sheet items, Collateral management 
procedure as well as governing the credit risk management. Credit risk is managed through clearly defined 
procedures of identification, measurement, control and mitigation and monitoring credit risk. For measuring the 
credit risk, solvency analysis, developed internal scoring Bank, classification complied with regulatory 
requirements, and value adjustments in accordance with IAS and IFRS are used. Risk Management sector 
provides an opinion on credit proposals, verifies the classification of exposure and assessment based on an 
internal scoring, verifies the value adjustment, and provides opinion on the quality of the proposed collateral. 
Risk management sector reports the Board of Directors, at least once a month for the past month or quarter, of 
all the relevant indicators relating to the credit risk management on the level of exposure and on the level of the 
portfolio. 
 
Exposure to credit risk is partly overseen by obtaining the collaterals and guarantees from legal entities and 
individuals. In addition, all individuals should receive their salaries through the current account with the Bank, in 
order to reduce credit risk. 
 

Types of collaterals are as follows: 
 

➢ deposits; 
➢ pledge liens instituted over industrial machinery, securities, inventories and vehicles; 
➢ mortgages assigned over property and fiduciary transfer of ownership; 
➢ bills of exchange; 
➢ collection authorizations; 
➢ garnishments and injunctions; 
➢ guarantors, and 
➢ insurance policies. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.2.  Provision for expected losses in accordance with MSFI 9 
 

At each reporting period the Bank performs a segmentation of the portfolio of financial instruments, taking into 
account the similarity in the level and nature of credit risk. Considering the structure of the Bank’s assets the 
credit portfolio and debt securities portfolio stands out for its significance, while all other instruments are 
classified in category others. 
 

Grouping of loans in portfolio which present the mutual characteristics of the credit risk is carried out according 
to the following criteria. 
 

• Type of the client 

• Time category (bucket) 
 
The Bank differs two type of clients: Legal entities and Individuals. Time categories (buckets) allocates loans in 
category based on the day of delay. 
 

The segmentation of financial instruments can be applied during the time, especially in long terms how the new 
information about individual and collective financial instruments are becoming available or to change the portfolio 
of the Bank (for example the introduction of the new credit product or the industry of the client becomes more 
important according to risk characteristic etc.) As the result, the segmentation is the subject of periodic re-
consideration. 
 
The parameters used in calculating the provision for credit losses (PD and LGC) are separately estimated at 
segments, depending on type of the client and time category (bucket). 
 
From the other financial instruments which are measured at amortized cost or at fair value through profit and 
loss. The Bank in portfolio currently has: 

• Cash 

• Deposits at Banks and other financial institutions 

• Guarantees, letters of credit and other off-balance sheet exposures  
 

All the cash and deposits at Banks and other financial institutions are very liquid assets. Therefore, they are 
specifically considered on individual basis comparing to the rest of portfolio.  
Guarantees, letters of credit and other off-balance exposures, are grouped in the same way as loans and 
receivables from banks. 
 

4.2.1.  Staging process 
 

In accordance with the basic principle of the model ECL, the Bank is grouping all the financial instruments in the 
following stages: 
 

Stage 1 (PL: Performing loans) There was no significant increase in credit risk from the moment 
of origination  

Stage 2 (UPL: Under-performing loans) There has been significant increase in credit risk from the 
moment of origination 

Stage 3 (NPL: Non-performing loans) Financial instrument is impaired (default) 

 
 
At the reporting date, all the financial instruments are grouped in corresponding phase (staging process). IFRS 
defines the minimum criteria that entities must comply in staging process (30 + DPD for Stage2, 90+ DPD for 
Stage 3). In addition to the minimum criteria, the application of additional indicators is required, where the 
complete automation of the process is considered as the indicator of the bad credit risk management. The Bank, 
in accordance with IFRS 9 for staging process uses all information available on the estimation date without 
additional cost or effort. 
In order to be able to access the staging process, it is necessary to define the definitions of significant increase 
in credit risk (SICR) from the moment of origination (recognition of financial instrument) as well as the default 
status.  
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.2.  Provision for expected losses in accordance with MSFI 9 (continued) 
 

4.2.1.  Staging process (continued) 
 
MSFI 9 defines SICR as a significant in the default risk in the period of expected lifetime of the financial 
instrument, and not as the change in the amount of the expected credit losses. Also, the standard implies as a 
rebuttable presumption, regardless to assessment method of SICR, the limit of 30 + delay days as minimal 
definition of SICR. 
 
At the Bank the SICR is defined if the following conditions are met: 
 

• Delays ate over 30 days but under 90 days  

• Central Bank of Montenegro rating is worsened comparing to the moment of origin) 

• Expert opinion of the Bank’s analysts based on additional (financial or non-financial) information that can 
be documented 

 
When defining the default, the Bank uses Article 178 Regulatory (EU) no. 575/2013 (Regulatory CRR) as well 
as the EBA (European Banking Authority) Guidelines about the application of the default definition. As the 
materiality threshold the definition of the default in the Bank is defined at 200 EUR for legal entities, i.e. 20 
thousand EUR for individuals. Additionally, the default status for individuals is assigned to loan parties, while for 
legal entities it is assigned to the client. Therefore, if any other party of the legal entity is in default, it is considered 
that all the parties of the same legal entity are in default. 
 
In the bank the default is defined by meeting at least one of the following conditions: 
 

• Delays are above 90 days 

• Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Client 

• Restructuring of the Loans due to impossibility of preforming the obligation 

• Significant decrease of estimated value of collateral which gives the borrower the significant incentive to 
stop the debt repayment. 

• Guarantee protest (above 5 % of total exposure of the client or EUR 5000) which is not collected within 
30 days, 

• Lack of cooperation from the Client (delivery of documentation, refusal of the requests for additional 
collateral or other changes of the contractual terms etc.) 

• Lack of monthly income in the account which represent the source of the repayment of the loan (especially 
significant of the segment of individuals) 

• Receivables from Parent company (or a related party from which the entity is financially dependent) are 
considered impaired (group impairment). 
 

The Bank allows for financial instrument to be classified in Stage 2 or Stage 3, to be transferred to a better Stage 
with the following conditions: 
 

• From Stage 3 to Stage 2 the exposure may go over after a cooling period of 3 months. Therefore, after 
the cessation of the conditions that led to the classification in Stage 3, the exposure prudentially 
continues to be recorded as Stage 3 in the following 2 months 

• From Stage 2 to Stage 1 the exposure can be transferred immediately after the cessation of the conditions 
that led to the classification in the Stage 2, except when the exposure (before Stage 2) was in Stage 3. 
In that cases the exposure is prudentially 3 months more recorded in Stage 2, i.e. cooling period is 3 
months. 

• For all restructured loans (which did not receive the status POCI, detailed explained in the Chapters 3 and 
4) cooling period is doubled, i.e. it is a period of 6 months to switch to Stage 2 and additional 6 months 
to switch to Stage 1. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.2.  Provision for expected losses in accordance with MSFI 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.2.  Modification of financial assets 
 
Financial instruments that during their term are changing contractual regulations and those changes have direct 
impact on contractual cash flows (“modified financial assets”) must be in particular treated in accordance with 
IFRS 9 in terms of the following activity: 
 

• The recognition of the effects which arise from the changes of initially contracted regulations to that extent 
that the conditions for the cessation of recognition are not met (modified gain or loss) 

• Determining the starting point for the estimation of contractual characteristics of the cash flow comparing 
to the SPPI test 

• Determining the starting point for the estimation if the credit risk for financial asset is significantly changed 
comparing to initial recognition 
 

In practice, in the Bank only the loans to the clients can be potentially modified assets in the process of the loan 
annexing agreement or reprogramming the existing liabilities of the client. Borrowers can negotiate about 
contractual conditions for many reasons. Sometimes the borrower is asking for more favourable conditions from 
the Bank, and sometimes the borrower can be in financial difficulties and needs the changes of the loan condition 
such as change in interest rate i.e. an extension of maturity date.  
 
The Bank in this process has to consider the following questions: 
 

• If the modification leads to derecognition of the existing asset and recognition of the new asset 

• If the modification is the result of significant increase of credit risk comparing to origination 

• If the modification is the result of the client’s default (occurred formally or expected)  
 
IFRS 9 does not provide the specific guidance in the part of the condition for derecognition of the assets for 
which the contractual conditions are applied during their lifetime (“modified financial assets”). According to that 
the Bank has developed the corresponding accounting policy in accordance with IAS 8 - Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The Bank estimates if there were significant changes of the 
financial asset based on qualitative criteria:  
 

• If during the changes there were systemic difficulties of monitoring the continuity of exposure (for example 
old loan party is closed, the new loan is opened with the new number of loan party) 

• If there has been a significant change of contractual conditions which have indirect impact to credit risk 
(for example the change of the collateral) 

• Considering the commercial interest of the Bank for modification 
 
If qualitative criteria are met i.e. the financial instrument is recognized as modified asset, the next step is 
determination of the cause of the modification i.e. the reason that led to the need for modification. Generally 
speaking, it is necessary to answer if the cause is: 
 

a) The significant increase of the credit risk (SICR) (partial difficulties in servicing the existing debt) 
b) Repayment default – client’s default (significant difficulties in servicing the existing debt) 
c)  Other reasons (market, business, force majeure, etc.)  

 
Depending on the determined cause of modification the Bank differently treats the modified asset as follows: 

• If the reason for the modification is significant increase of the credit risk but not the default of the client, 
the exposure is classified in Stage 2 with the cooling period from 6 months and it is included in the 
watchlist 

• If the reason of the modification is the client’s default (default which formally occurred or is expected) the 
test of quantitative criteria of modification is used (depending on result of the test, the modified assets 
will be recognized as Stage 3 in the cooling period or as POCI asset) 

• If the reason of the modification is from the group of other reasons, the exposure enters the Staging 
process (assuming that it is a Stage 1) 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

4.2. Provision for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.2.  Modification of financial assets (continued) 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9 gain or loss from modified asset occurs as reconciliation of gross carrying amount of 
the value of financial asset which reflects the change of contractual cash flows. 
 
The accounting treatment demands: 
 

• In the income statement the difference of the gross carrying amount of the financial asset before 
modification and current value of newly contracted future cash flows, discounted at the initial effective 
interest rate is recognized as a separate item as “gain/loss from modification” of financial assets 

• In the balance sheet the difference between the gross carrying amount of the financial asset before 
modification and current value on newly contracted future cash flows, discounted at initial effective 
interest rate is recognized as decrease in gross carrying amount (as “discount”) 

•  
In case that two or more loan parties are consolidated into one loan the initial effective interest rate is calculated 
as weighted average of effective interest rate of consolidated loans (the base is gross exposure before 
modification.) 
 
4.2.3. POCI assets  
 
POCI assets (Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired assets) are the assets that are credit impaired in they 
origin. In principle at the time of the origin it is certain that the exposure is impaired.  
 
At the date of initial recognition of the financial asset the Bank shall determine if the asset is impaired. This 
occurs in the case of the purchase of NPL or restructured impaired financial assets. The process of identification 
of the POCI assets from modified assets it is described in Note 4.2.2. 
 
POCI asset is probably purchased with significant discount which reflects the resulting credit losses. In the case 
of purchasing NPL the difference between the purchase price and gross carrying value of the placement 
represent the discount. In the case of modified assets, the discount is recognized in the manner described in 
Note 4.2.2. 
 
For these assets EIR is calculated taking into account initially expected credit losses of the expected lifetime in 
estimated cash flows (i.e. the credit risk adjusted effective interest rate is used). 
For POCI assets only cumulative changes in the expected credit losses of the lifetime comparing to the initial 
recognition are recognized in the income statement as provision cost (or income in the case of positive change). 
The cost or revenue of the provision is calculated taking into account new estimates of future cash flows. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.2. Provision for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.4. Assessment method 
 
One of the basic assumptions of the ECL model is recognition of expected credit losses in the period of the 
lifetime of financial instrument (LECL – lifetime ECL) before the instruments becomes impaired i.e. before the 
client’s default status (from where it comes from the Staging process). 
 
IFRS 9 demands in almost all stages of the ECL calculation process the use of all available information (available 
without additional significant cost or effort) on the date of the estimation, where the total automatization of the 
process is considered as an indicator of insufficient quality of credit risk management. 
 
The Bank has 2 (in as significant extent) opposite goals: 
 

1) For the reason of incorporating as many of the relevant information (often non – financial) consider the 
significant part of the portfolio on an individual basis 

2) For the reason of efficiency i.e. the reasonable use of available resource to use a model that assesses 
on a group basis 

 
The Bank performs the division of the portfolio into: 
 

• Individual assessment (IA) 

• Collective assessment (CA) 
 

The Bank assesses the asset individually (IA) if it meets one of the following criteria: 
 

• For corporate loans: 
- Exposure under EUR 50 thousand, classified as C, D or E (according to Central Bank of Montenegro 
credit rating) 
- Exposure under EUR 1000 thousand  

• For retail loans: 
- Exposure under EUR 30 thousand classified as C, D, or E (according to Central Bank of Montenegro 

credit rating) 
- Exposure under 300 thousand  

• Debt securities (government or corporative bonds) 

• POCI assets 
 
The provision for credit losses is calculated on a group basis (CA) 

• All the clients that are not individual assessed  

• If the provision for the credit losses equals zero for the calculation based on individual assessment. 
 

If the client is individually assessed it cannot be returned to the Group assessment in the following quarter. 
Therefore, the cooling period from 6 months is applied. 
 
4.2.4.1. Individual assessment 
 
During the individual assessment for the calculation of the expected credit losses it is necessary to take into 
account several scenarios weighted by the probability of the outcome for the duration of financial asset. The 
assessment consists of considering the range of possible outcome, which includes identification of possible 
scenarios that specify the amount and the time of the cash flows for each outcome as well as the estimated 
probability of certain outcome.  
Credit loss of the certain scenario is defined as gross exposure, for example comparing gross carrying amount 
and expected future cash flows discounted by monthly EIR. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.2. Provision for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.4. Assessment method (continued) 
 
4.2.4.1. Individual assessment (continued) 
 
While determining the provision for credit losses based on individual assessment the following conditions are 
very important: 
 

• Assessment of the amount of expected cash flows should be based on reasonable information which is 
possible to corroborate and which are available without additional cost or effort on the reporting date 

• Time value of the money is considered. For this reason, the expected cash flows are discounted on 
monthly basis 

• The collateral is considered when determining expected credit losses. When the real estate is used as a 
collateral, the Bank applies the corrective factor (haircut) on the last estimated value of the property and 
discounts it with EIR through the period of realisation. If the collateral is cash, guarantee of the Bank or 
the state the corrective factor is not applied (haircut) i.e. 100% of the value of the collateral is used. 

• More than one scenario of the expected cash flow is considered and are weighted with probability which 
corresponds to the possibilities of the performance of the given scenario. The Bank uses 2 to 4 scenarios 
with the highest possibility of expected cash flow. The Decision and the weight of the probability in 
process. The Decision and the weight in the process of the decision of the appropriate scenario is 
assigned by the bank analyst. The total probability of all used scenarios has to be equal. 

• The assessment of the provision for credit losses is done quarterly. Therefore, the expected credit losses 
and assigned weighted probability are redefined each quarter. 

 
An individual approach of the expected credit losses can be applied in all stages. In the case of Stage 1 and 
Stage 2 it is expected that scenario with contracted cash flow has the highest possibility of the outcome. The 
sum of all possibilities of the considered scenarios equals 1. 
 
4.2.4.2.  Collective assessment 
 
The main reason of the assessment of the expected credit losses on collective basis is the inability of the entity 
to due to the size of their portfolios individually consider all exposures. All the financial instrument that are not 
subject of the individual assessment are impaired on a group basis. Financial instruments assessed on a group 
basis must contain the characteristic of the mutual risk, which is why the group assessment is carried out for 
homogenous groups that result from the segmentation of the portfolio. 
 
The model of collective assessment ECL is based on the factors shown in the table below: 

 
 
For the collective assessed financial instruments at Stage 1 the expected credit loss is calculated for the period 
of 12 months. The expected credit loss for the period of 12 months as a part of expected credit loss in over the 
entire lifetime of the asset arising from the default cases of financial asset during the 12 months after the 
reporting period or shorter period if the expected lifetime of the financial asset is less than 12 months. For unused 
financial liabilities the assessment of the 12-month expected loss is based on expected part of financial liability 
which will be used during the period of 12 months from the reporting date. For these purposes the Bank 
estimates the Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) in accordance with the Central Bank of Montenegro Decision on 
capital Adequacy.  
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

4.2. Provision for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.4. Assessment method (continued) 
 

4.2.4.2.  Collective assessment (continued) 
 

For the group assessed financial instruments at Stage 2 the impairment for the credit losses is equal to expected 
credit loss in the entire lifetime of the loan. 
ECL in the overall duration of the loan is defined as a set of all the possible events which leads to default during 
the lifetime of the financial asset (i.e. the risk of default of financial asset during their lifetime). The impairment 
for the credit losses at Stage 2 for particular financial instrument therefore presents the sum during the remaining 
months (the total lifetime) of the exposure product, marginal probability of default (PD), LGD and discounted 
factor. Discount was made using the monthly EIR of the loan. 
Stage 3 contains impaired financial instruments. Therefore, considering that the default already occurred the 
parameter PD amounts 100% therefore the provision for the credit losses is calculated as a product of net 
exposure in the moment of the default status (NET EAD) and the loss due the default status (LGD). 
 

PD assessment  
 

Probability of default (PD) is defined as possibility is defined as probability of default origin  
Cumulative PD (CumPD) indicates possibility that financial instrument transfers to the default status during some 
period t. the difference between cumulative PD in the moment t+1 and cumulative PD in the moment t represents 
the increase of the PD i.e. marginal PD. Probability of Default (PD) is defined as a probability of occurring the 
default status.  
For the exposure that are categorized in Stage 2 i.e. exposures with significant increase of the credit risk 
compering to the initial recognition which are still active a PD calculation of the entire lifetime is made. For the 
exposures that are categorized in Stage 1 the PD curve part is used. Additionally, PD parameter should reflect 
the information “forward looking” by applying corrective factor to the marginal PD curve. 
 
The PD calculation contains from following steps: 

• The calculation of transitional matrices 

• Perform of the cumulative lifetime of the PD 

• The calculation of the marginal lifetime of the PD 

• The adjustment of the marginal PD for the information of the “forward looking” 
 

The Bank considered the possibility of the implementation of macroeconomic indicators (among other: GDP, 
unemployment rate, inflation rate, average earnings, Monex index, real estate price index) and in that process 
determined a certain level of interdependence of macroeconomic variables and the systemic NLP rate in 
Montenegro at the banking system level 
 

However, starting from the following assumptions: 
1)The Bank currently has % of non-performing assets significantly below the system average (expected 

according to the age of portfolio) 
2) It is expected for these rates (% non-performing assets and % of nonperforming assets at the level of the 

system) will be equalized over time. 
3) There is no link between the trend of development of the share of non-performing assets at the system 

level (% non-performing assets in the last period decreasing at the level of the system) and the trend of 
development of the share of non – performing assets in the Bank (while systemic decrease there is an 
expected increase in the Bank considering the age of portfolio and excellent results in the past).  
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
4.2.  Provision for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.4.  Assessment method (continued) 
 
4.2.4.2.  Group assessment (continued) 
 
We came to the conclusion that the model which connects the systemic NPL and macroeconomic variables is 
not adequate for the credible prediction of the NPL movement in the Bank. 
Instead, the projection of the NPL movement in the future operation of the Bank is based on assumption that in 
the foreseeable future the % of NPL will be equal in the Bank and at the system level since the current NPL % 
in the Bank is significantly below. The equal increase in this case implies the formula: 
 
 

𝑇ℎ𝑒 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑒 𝑜𝑓 𝑛𝑜𝑛 𝑝𝑒𝑟𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑚𝑖𝑛𝑔 𝑎𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠 𝑖𝑛 𝑡ℎ𝑒 𝐵𝑎𝑛𝑘 ∗  𝒌𝑛

=  The rate of non performing assets in the Montenegrin banking system 

Where: 
 

𝒌 – corrective factor applied to marginal PD,  
n – expected period needed to equalize the rate 
 
Therefore, the corrective factor k is calculated by the formula: 

𝒌 =  (
The rate of non performing assets in Montenegrin banking system

𝑇ℎ𝑒 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑒 𝑜𝑓 𝑛𝑜𝑛 𝑝𝑒𝑟𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑚𝑖𝑛𝑔 𝑎𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠 𝑖𝑛 𝑡ℎ𝑒 𝐵𝑎𝑛𝑘
)

1/𝑛

 

 
Considering that the rate of non – performing assets in the Bank is significantly below systemic level the obtained 
corrective factor is highly conservative character. 
 
LGD assessment 
 
LGD (Loss Given Default) represents the size of the loss in case of non – performing, i.e. exposure which the 
Bank will not reimburse in the default case. There is LGD for exposure security (secured LGD) and LGD for 
unsecured exposures (unsecured LGD). In the case of the Bank, according to the Net EAD model in use (the 
gross exposure is reduced for discounted expected collateral value), only unsecured LGD is used. 
 
According to the fact that the Bank does not have sufficiently long history of the data, the Bank can use the 
parameters proscribed by the Basel II or correct them on the basis of expert opinion of the Management. The 
Bank will in following period apply LGD from 45 % for the exposures before default and for the exposures delayed 
up to 120 days.  
 
As with the flow of certain period after the default the expectations of the Bank are reduced  in the terms of 
collection, the Bank will use the LGD from 60% for the exposures delayed up to 180 days, 80 % for the exposures 
delayed up to 360 days, while for the exposures delayed more than 360 days LGD from 100 % will be applied.  
 
As the amount of data and experience increase as well as the improvement of the quality of the procedure for 
the receivable collection, the Bank will perform the reassessment of LGD adequacy for future periods. 
 
EAD assessment 
 
EAD (Exposure at Default) presents the current exposure which can be balance sheet and off-balance sheet. 
The balance sheet includes: principal (due and undue), interest (due and calculated, regular and default rate), 
deferred fee and decrease for advance payments. 
Off balance exposure includes: due interest rate amount on off – balance exposure, unused limit, guarantee 
and letters of credit. The difference between balance and off-balance exposure is reflected in the credit 
conversion factor (CCF). Lifetime EAD curve implies the projection of the exposure up to maturity of the certain 
financial instrument. It differs at financial instruments by maturity, type of repayment, type of exposure 
(balance/off balance exposure). 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
4.2. Provision for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9 (continued) 
 
4.2.4. Assessment method (continued) 
 
4.2.4.2.  Group assessment (continued) 
 
Opposite of the above defined gross exposure (Gross EAD), net exposure (Net EAD) represents gross exposure 
decreased for discounted expected collateral value. When calculating net EAD the % of collateral factor is 
applied to real estate which are used as collateral in accordance with the collateral Catalogue of the Bank. The 
realization period is 4 years. For cash collateral the collateral factor is not used nor the realization period. For 
other types of collateral or in other reasonable documented case other values of collateral factor from 0 to 100 
% can be applied.  
 
For loans with fixed repayment plan the EAD lifetime curve is used to estimate expected credit loss, EAD curve 
represents a number of exposures which decreases during the time due to contracted payments. 
 
Renewable credit arrangements include overdraft and revolving credit. As well as minuses on current account 
and revolving cards. What characterize these credit products is non – existence of the fixed repayment plan 
and the borrower in every moment can withdraw/pay money. 
 
Although it is theoretically possible to make the projections of the withdrawal and payments of the funds 
according to the appropriate behavioural model, The Bank uses the simple approach: the current exposure is 
fixed, separately balance sheet and off-balance sheet (for an unused part in the moment of assessment) up 
to the maturity of the arrangement. 
 
For guarantees and letters of credit the Bank assesses EAD curve as fixed EAD up to maturity of the financial 
instrument, i.e. the repayment at the end of the period is used (“bullet payment”). The contractual maturity date 
is used. Therefore, for all the maturity periods in the calculation of ECL for guarantees and letters of credit 
fixed net EAD is used. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.  Quality of financial placements 
 
Quality of financial assets exposed to credit risk is presented as follows: 
 

31, December 2020  S1  S2 

 

S3 

 

Total 

 

Impairment 
and S1 

 

Impairment 
and S2 

 

Impairment 
andS3 

 

Total 
impariment 

 

Net 

Cash Loans  32,886  2,871  968  36,725  (208)  (262)  (465)  (936)  35,789 

Housing Loans  30,943  1,220  107  32,270  (83)  (9)  (5)  (97)  32,173 

Mortgage Loans  3,043  788  129  3,959  (5)  (1)  (14)  (20)  3,939 

Deposit based Loans  2,040  49  -  2,089  (9)  (3)  -  (12)  2,077 

Micro  98  73  317  488  (0)  (14)  (217)  (232)  257 

Other  10,646  153  140  10,938  (291)  (35)  (110)  (436)  10,502 

Retail loans  79,656  5,152  1,661  86,470  (597)  (325)  (811)  (1,733)  84,737 

Investment loans  40,495  1,892  535  42,921  (341)  (173)  (168)  (681)  42,240 

Current assets loans  25,428  1,738  2,771  29,937  (248)  (87)  (949)  (1,284)  28,653 

Deposit based loans  1,642  -  4  1,646  (6)  -  (4)  (9)  1,637 

Revolving loans  9,546  -  -  9,546  (108)  -  -  (108)  9,438 

Overdraft loans  5,883  -  282  6,165  (96)  -  (105)  (200)  5,965 

Other  194  5  79  278  (8)  (0)  (54)  (62)  217 

Corporate loans  83,188  3,635  3,671  90,494  (806)  (260)  (1,279)  (2,345)  88,149 

                   

Total loans  
162,844  8,787  5,332  176,964  (1,403)  (585)  (2,090)  (4,078)  

172,88
6 

  
                 

Fee and interest accruals: Retail loans  
      540          - 

Fee and interest accruals: Corporate loans        260          - 

Fee and interest accruals: Retail loans        (607)          - 

Fee and interest accruals: Corporate loans        (287)          - 

Loans and receivables from clients        176,870          

172,79
3 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.  Quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
 

31, December 2019  S1  S2 

 

S3 

 

Total 

 

Impairment  
S1 

 

Impairment  
S2 

 

Impairment  
S3 

 

Total 
Impairment   

 

Net 

Cash Loans  31,523  1,410  716  33,649  (229)  (127)  (293)  (649)  33,000 
Housing Loans  27,715  93  -  27,808  (130)  (18)  -  (148)  27,660 
Mortgage Loans  3,530  350  123  4,003  (4)  (10)  (15)  (29)  3,974 
Deposit based Loans  1,627  11  -  1,638  (1)  (0)  -  (1)  1,637 
Micro  292  105  324  721  (2)  (17)  (212)  (232)  490 
Other  9,105  100  83  9,288  (143)  (32)  (105)  (280)  9,008 

Retail loans  73,792  2,069  1,246  77,107  (509)  (204)  (625)  (1,338)  75,769 
Investment loans  36,368  1,590  656  38,614  (381)  (58)  (183)  (622)  37,992 
Current assets loans  22,986  1,812  1,101  25,899  (321)  (232)  (626)  (1,180)  24,720 
Deposit based loans  3,788  -  4  3,792  (4)  -  (2)  (6)  3,786 
Revolving loans  7,631  -  -  7,631  (67)  -  -  (67)  7,564 
Overdraft loans  3,745  36  47  3,828  (45)  (0)  (37)  (82)  3,746 
Other  184  36  55  275  (8)  (8)  (45)  (61)  214 

Corporate loans  74,702  3,474  1,863  80,039  (826)  (298)  (893)  (2,017)  78,022 

                   
Total loans  148,494  5,543  3,109  157,146  (1,335)  (501)  (1,518)  (3,355)  153,791 
  

                 
Fee and interest accruals: Retail loans  -  -  -  113  -  -  -  -  - 

Fee and interest accruals: Corporate loans  -  -  -  279  -  -  -  -  - 

Fee and interest accruals: Retail loans  -  -  -  (598)  -  -  -  -  - 

Fee and interest accruals: Corporate loans  -  -  -  (345)  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and receivables from clients  -  -  -  156,595  -  -  -  -  153,240 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
4.3.  Quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
After the initial implementation of IFRS 9 standard, the Bank constantly worked to improve the Methodology of 
calculating the impairment of financial instruments. One of the basic goals set is to increase the part of the portfolio 
considered on individual basis. In accordance with the changes and amendments of the impairment Methodology 
adopted by the Board of Directors in December 2019, individually assessed clients are: 

• Above 1,000,000 EUR of the total exposure in respect of unimpaired receivables from legal entities, 

• Above 1,000,000 EUR of the total exposure in respect of unimpaired receivables from individuals 

• Above 50,000 EUR of the total exposure in respect of impaired receivables from legal entities. 

• Above 30,000 EUR of the total exposure in respect of impaired receivables from individuals. 
Additionally, the changes and amendments of the Impairment Methodology introduce additional criteria for the 
identification of significant increase of the credit risk of the placements, as well as the precise accounting treatment 
modification of financial assets. 
The mentioned changes and amendments of the Impairment Methodology in accordance with paragraph 33 and 
34 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors represent the change of accounting 
assessment and not of the accounting policy. No materially significant effect on the future periods is expected. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

4.3.  Quality of financial placements (continued) 
 

Individual assessment 
31 December, 2020 

 

S1  S2 

 

S3 

 

Total 

 

Impairment 
S1 

 

Impairment 
S2 

 

Impairment 
S3 

 

Total 
Impairment  

 

Net 

Cash loans  1,512  -  298  1,810  (36)  -  (66)  (102)  1,708 

Housing loans  776  -  25  800  (37)  -  (4)  (41)  759 

Mortgage Loans  -  -  41  41  -  -  (11)  (11)  29 

Deposit based Loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Micro  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other  431  -  -  431  (1)  -  -  (1)  430 

Retail loans  2,719  -  363  3,082  (74)  -  (81)  (155)  2,927 

Investment loans  15,400  1,124  391  16,915  (263)  (173)  (159)  (594)  16,321 

Current assets loans  7,617  1,606  2,215  11,439  (107)  (72)  (632)  (811)  10,627 

Deposit based loans  714  -  -  714  (6)  -  -  (6)  708 

Revolving loans  8,545  -  -  8,545  (91)  -  -  (91)  8,454 

Overdraft loans  1,451  -  206  1,657  (41)  -  (57)  (98)  1,559 

Other  -  -  50  50  -  -  (31)  (31)  19 

Corporate loans  33,727  2,730  2,863  39,320  (507)  (245)  (880)  (1,632)  37,688 

                   

Total loans  36,446  2,730  3,226  42,402  (581)  (245)  (961)  (1,787)  40,615 

 

Individual assessment 
31 December, 2019 

 

S1  S2 

 

S3 

 

Total 

 

Impairment 
S1 

 

Impairment 
S2 

 

Impairment 
S3  

 

Total 
impairment 

 

Net 

Cash loans  897  198  345  1,440  (23)  (49)  (99)  (171)  1,269 

Housing loans  478  -  -  478  (6)  -  -  (6)  472 

Mortgage Loans  -  39  38  77  -  (10)  (15)  (25)  52 

Deposit based Loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Micro  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other  446  -  -  446  (2)  -  -  (2)  444 

Retail loans  1,821  237  383  2,441  (31)  (59)  (114)  (204)  2,237 

Investment loans  11,151  91  640  11,882  (297)  (39)  (183)  (519)  11,363 

Current assets loans  8,041  1,614  686  10,341  (205)  (220)  (377)  (802)  9,539 

Deposit based loans  2,000  -  -  2,000  (4)  -  -  (4)  1,996 

Revolving loans  6,435  -  -  6,435  (54)  -  -  (54)  6,381 

Overdraft loans  98  -  27  125  (12)  -  (22)  (34)  91 

Other  (0)  8  30  38  -  (1)  (21)  (22)  16 

Corporate loans  27,725  1,713  1,383  30,821  (572)  (260)  (603)  (1,435)  29,386 

                   

Total loans  29,546  1,950  1,766  33,262  (603)  (319)  (717)  (1,639)  31,623 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

4.3.  Quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
Client receivables at Stage 1 are presented in the tables below: 
 

            In thousands EUR 

31 December 2020 

 

Not in 
delay 

 

Delay 
up to 

30 
days 

 

From 
31-
60 

days 

  

From 
61-
90 

days 

Over 
90 

days 
 

Total 

Cash loans  25,501   7,376   7    -    1   32,885  

Housing loans  27,469   3,475    -    -    -   30,944  

Mortgage Loans   1,847   1,196    -    -    -    3,043  

Deposit based Loans   1,836    204    -    -    -    2,040  

Micro  60   39    -    -    -    98  

Other   9,615   1,031    -    -    -   10,646  

Retail loans  66,328    13,320   7    -    1   79,656  

Investment loans  28,495    12,000    -    -    -   40,495  

Current assets loans  12,540    12,862    26    -    -   25,428  

Deposit based loans   1,225    417    -    -    -    1,642  

Revolving loans   8,024   1,522    -    -    -    9,546  

Overdraft loans   1,956   3,928    -    -    -    5,883  

Other   -    194    -    -    -   194  

Corporate loans  52,240    30,923    26    -    -   83,188  

             

Total loans   118,567    44,243    33    -    1    162,844  

Restructured   127    271    -    -    -   398  

 
 

           

 
In thousands EUR 

31 December 2019 

 

Not in 
delay 

 
Delay up 

to 30 
days 

 
From 
31-60 
days 

 
From 
61-90 
days 

 
Over 

90 
days  

Total 

Cash loans  25,030  6,493  -  -  -  31,523 
Housing loans  25,575  2,140  -  -  -  27,715 
Mortgage Loans  2,482  1,048  -  -  -  3,530 
Deposit based Loans  1,418  209  -  -  -  1,627 
Micro  175  117  -  -  -  292 
Other  8,526  579  -  -  -  9,105 

Retail loans  63,206  10,586  -  -  -  73,792 

Investment loans  22,413  13,955  -  -  -  36,368 
Current assets loans  14,378  8,608  -  -  -  22,986 
Deposit based loans  2,331  1,457  -  -  -  3,788 
Revolving loans  2,793  4,838  -  -  -  7,631 
Overdraft loans  1,336  2,409  -  -  -  3,745 
Other  -  184  -  -  -  184 

Corporate loans  43,251  31,451  -  -  -  74,702 

             
Total loans  106,457  42,037  -  -  -  148,494 

Restructured  73  1,222  -  -  -  1,295 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

4.3.  Quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
Receivables from clients at Stage 2 are presented in the tables below: 
 

            

In 
thousands 

EUR 

31 December 2020 

 

Not in 
delay 

 Delay up to 
30 days 

 
From 
31-60 
days 

 
From 
61-90 
days 

 Over 90 
days 

 

Total 

Cash loans   26    17   1,447   1,338    42   2,870  
Housing loans  -   -   710   501   8   1,220  
Mortgage Loans  -     409   379   -   788  
Deposit based Loans  2   -    33    14   -    49  
Micro  -   -    25    47   2    73  
Other  7   1    96    49   -   153  

Retail loans   35    18   2,719   2,327    53   5,152  
Investment loans  121   1,025   603   142   -   1,892  
Current assets loans  0   1,606    58    73   -   1,738  
Deposit based loans  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Revolving loans  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Overdraft loans  -     -   -  -   -  
Other  -   5   1    -  -   5  

Corporate loans  121   2,636   662   215   -   3,635  

             

Total loans  156   2,655   3,382   2,542    53   8,788  

Restructured  -   -   128   140   -   268  

 

            

In 
thousands 

EUR 

31 December 2019 

 

Not in 
delay 

 Delay up to 
30 days 

 
From 
31-60 
days 

 
From 
61-90 
days 

 Over 90 
days 

 

Total 

Cash loans  56  111  657  586  -  1,410 
Housing loans  -  -  93  -  -  93 
Mortgage Loans  -  45  149  156  -  350 
Deposit based Loans  -  -  11  -  -  11 
Micro  -  -  45  60  -  105 
Other  14  1  56  29  -  100 

Retail loans  70  157  1,011  831  -  2,069 
Investment loans  -  194  1,348  49  -  1,590 
Current assets loans  -  7  503  1,302  -  1,812 
Deposit based loans  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Revolving loans  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Overdraft loans  -  35  -  1  -  36 
Other  -  8  13  15  -  36 

Corporate loans  -  244  1,863  1,367  -  3,474 

             

Total loans  70  402  2,874  2,198  -  5,544 

Restructured  -  -  52  237  -  289 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
4.3.  The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
Receivables from clients in Stage 3 are disclosed in table below:  
 

            In thousands EUR 

31 December 2020 

 

Not in 
delay 

 

Up to 
30days 
past-
due 

 

From 
31to 

60days 
past-
due 

 

From 
61to 

90days 
past-
due 

 
Over 

90 
days 

 

Total 

Cash loans  212    1   2      753   968  
Housing loans   67    -    -    -   40   107  
Mortgage loans   41    -    -   8   80   129  
Deposit based loans  -    -    -      -   -  
Microcredits  -    -    -    -    317   317  
Other   10    -    -    -    130   140  

Retail  330    1   2   8    1,320   1,661  
Investment loans  100      23      411   535  
Current assets loans  1,656   87      59    969   2,771  
Deposit based loans  -    -    -    -    4   4  
Revolving loans  -    -    -    -    -   -  
Overdraft loans  -  12    -    -    270   282  
Other  (0)   9    10    -   60    79  

Corporate   1,756    108    33    59    1,714   3,671  

             

Total   2,086    109    36    68    3,034   5,332  

Of which restructured  1,993   75      -    338   2,406  

 
 

            In thousands EUR 

31 December 2019 

 

Not in 
delay 

 
Up to 

30days 
past-due 

 

From 
31to 

60days 
past-
due 

 

From 
61to 

90days 
past-
due 

 
Over 

90 
days 

 

Total 

Cash loans  84  26  121  73  412  716 
Housing loans  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Mortgage loans  -  -  -  38  85  123 
Deposit based loans  -  -  -    -  - 
Microcredits  -  -  -  -  324  324 
Other  -  -  -  -  83  83 

Retail  84  26  121  111  904  1,246 
Investment loans  230    15  99  312  656 
Current assets loans  272  -  86  -  743  1,101 
Deposit based loans  -  -  -  -  4  4 
Revolving loans  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Overdraft loans  5  -  -  -  42  47 
Other  -  10  -  -  45  55 

Corporate   507  10  101  99  1,146  1,863 

             
Total   591  36  222  210  2,050  3,109 

Of which restructured  514  26  121  -  343  1,004 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.1.  Restructured Loans and Receivables  
 
The Bank can restructure a loan due to the deterioration in the borrower's creditworthiness if it has: 
 

a. extended the principal or interest maturity, 
b. decreased the interest rate on the loan approved 
c. decreased the debt amount, principal or interest, or 
d. made other concessions to facilitate the borrower's financial position 

 
In case of need for loan restructuring, the Bank performs a financial analysis of the borrower and assesses the borrower's ability, after the restructuring of the loan, to 
realize the cash flows that will be sufficient to repay the principal and the interest rate of the loan  
 
In the table below is a review restructured receivables:  

              In thousand EUR 

31 December 2020 

 

Gross 
exposure 

 

Impairment 

 S3 receivables  

Restructured S3 
receivables  Impairment S3  

Percentage 
of S3 

receivables 
in gross 

exposure   

The amount of 
collateral for S3 

Cash loans  36,725  (936)  968  225  (465)  2,64%  2,037 
Housing loans  32,270  (97)  107  -  (5)  0,33%  348 
Mortgage loans  3,959  (20)  129  57  (14)  3,25%  794 
Deposit based loans  2,089  (12)  -  -  -  0,00%  - 
Microcredits  488  (232)  317  4  (217)  64,86%  667 
Other  10,938  (436)  140  18  (110)  1,28%  - 

Retail  86,470  (1,733)  1,661  304  (811)  1,92%  3,846 
Investment loans  42,921  (681)  535  200  (168)  1,25%  2,824 
Current assets loans  29,937  (1,284)  2,771  1,902  (949)  9,26%  6,738 
Deposit basedl oans  1,646  (9)  4  -  (4)  0,27%  - 
Revolving loans  9,546  (108)  -  -  -  0,00%  - 
Overdraft loans  6,165  (200)  282  -  (105)  4,57%  205 
Other  278  (62)  79  -  (54)  28,40%  - 

Corporate  90,494  (2,345)  3,671  2,102  (1,279)  4,06%  9,767 
 

              

Total  176,964  (4,078)  5,332  2,406  (2,090)  3,01%  13,613 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.1.  Restructured Loans and Receivables (continued) 
 
 

 

              In thousand EUR 

31 December 2019.  Gross 
exposure 

 Impairment  S3 receivables   Restructured S3 
receivables 

 Impairment S3  

Percentage 
of S3 

receivables 
in gross 

exposure  

 The amount of 
collateral for S3 

Cash loans  33,649  (649)  716  160  (293)  2,13%  244 
Housing loans  27,808  (148)  -  -  -  0,00%  - 
Mortgage loans  4,003  (29)  123  24  (15)  3,06%  204 
Deposit based loans  1,638  (1)  -  -  -  0,00%  - 
Microcredits  721  (231)  324  4  (212)  44,90%  - 
Other  9,288  (280)  83  7  (105)  0,90%  - 

Retail  77,107  (1,338)  1,246  195  (625)  1,62%  448 
Investment loans  38,614  (622)  656  328  (183)  1,70%  230 
Current assets loans  25,899  (1,179)  1,101  466  (626)  4,25%  331 
Deposit basedl oans  3,792  (6)  4  -  (2)  0,11%  - 
Revolving loans  7,631  (67)  -  -  -  0,00%  - 
Overdraft loans  3,828  (82)  47  -  (37)  1,23%  - 
Other  275  (61)  55  15  (45)  20,00%  - 

Corporate  80,039  (2,017)  1,863  809  (894)  2,33%  561 
  

             
Total  157,146  (3,355)  3,109  1,004  (1,519)  1,98%  1,009 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.1.  Restructured Loans and Receivables (continued) 
 
 
The following tables provide an overview of changes in receivables that are considered problematic during 2020 and 2019: 
 

          In thousand EUR 

  

Gross 31 
December 

2019.  New S3 clients  

Reduction of S3 
clients  

Gross 31 
December 

2020.  

Net 31 
December 2020. 

Cash loans  716  655  (403)  968  503 

Housing loans  -  107  -  107  102 

Mortgage loans  123  64  (58)  129  115 

Deposit based loans  -  -  -  -  - 

Microcredits  324  39  (46)  317  100 

Other  83  59  (2)  140  30 

Retail  1,246  924  (509)  1,661  850 

Investment loans  656  285  (406)  535  367 

Current assets loans  1,101  1,916  (246)  2,771  1,822 

Deposit based loans  4  -  -  4  0 

Revolving loans  -  -  -  -  - 

Overdraft loans  47  262  (27)  282  177 

Other  55  24  -  79  25 

Corporate  1,863  2,487  (679)  3,671  2,392 

           
Total  3,071  3,411  (1,188)  5,332  3,242 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.1.  Restructured Loans and Receivables (continued) 
 
 
Below is an overview of restructured loans as of 31.12.2020. and 31.12.2019. years: 

31 
December 

2020.  

Restructured 
receivables 

Gross 
exposure  

S 1 
Restructured 
receivables  

S2 
Restructured 
receivables  

S3 
Restructured 
receivables  

Impairment of 
Restructured 
receivables  

Impairment of 
S 1 

Restructured 
receivables  

Impairment of 
S 2 

Restructured 
receivables  

Impairment of 
S 3 

Restructured 
receivables  

Percentage 
of 

restructured 
receivables 

in gross 
exposure 

(%)  

The amount 
of collateral 

for 
restructured 
receivables 

Cash loans  522  29  268  225  59  0  2  57  1,42%  1,694 
Housing 
loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Mortgage 
loans  57  -  -  57  11  -  -  11  1,44%  381 
Deposit 
based loans  -  -  -    -  -  -  -  -  - 

Microcredits  4  -  -  4  4  -  -  4  0,82%  - 

Other  28  9  -  19  12  -  -  12  0,26%  - 

Retail  611  38  268  305  86  0  2  84  0,71%  2,075 
Investment 
loans  500  301  -  199  59  -  -  59  1,16%  2,347 
Current 
assets 
loans  1,961  59  -  1,902  454  -  -  454  6,55%  5,030 
Deposit 
based loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Revolving 
loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Overdraft 
loans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Corporate  2,461  360  -  2,101  513  -  -  513  2,72%  7,377 

                     

Total 
 

                    
3,072   

                          
398   

                     
268   

                  
2,406   

                            
599   

                                    
0   

                                    
2   

                      
597   

1,74% 
 

                    
9,452  
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
4.3.1.  Restructured Loans and Receivables (continued) 
 

   

Gross restructured S1 
receivables 31 December 2019 

 

New restructured S1 
receivables 

 

Reduce of restructured 
S1 receivables 

 

Gross 31 
December 2019 

 

Net 31 December 2020 

Cash loans                                           107                                 15                                (93)                         29                                29  

Housing loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Mortgage loans                                                -     -  -                            -                                     -    

Deposit based loans                                                -     -  -                            -                                     -    

Microcredits                                                -     -  -  -                                  -    

Other                                                -                                      9   -                             9                                   9  

Retail                                           107                                 24                                (93)                         38                                38  

Investment loans                                           314                                    3                                (16)                      301                             301  

Current assets loans                                           859   -                            (800)                         59                                59  

Deposit based loans                                                -                                     -                                       -     -  - 

Revolving loans                                                -                                     -                                       -     -  - 

Overdraft loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Other                                              15   -                                (15)  -   -  

Corporate                                      1,188                                    3                             (831)                      360                             360  

           

Total                                      1,295                                 27                             (924)                      398                             398  

   

Gross restructured S2 
receivables 31 December 2019 

 

New restructured S2 
receivables 

 

Reduce of restructured 
S2 receivables 

 

Gross 31 
December 2019 

 

Net 31 December 2020 

Cash loans                                           239                              221                             (192)                      268                             266  

Housing loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Mortgage loans                                              39   -                               (39)  -  - 

Deposit based loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Microcredits                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Other                                                 3   -                                  (3)   -  -  

Retail                                           281                              221                             (234)                      268                             266  

Investment loans                                                 6   -                                  (6)  -  - 

Current assets loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Deposit based loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Revolving loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Overdraft loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Other                                                 2   -                                   (2)  -   -  

Corporate                                                 8                                   -                                     (8)                            -                                     -     

          
Total                                           289                              221                             (242)                      268                             266  
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.1.  Restructured Loans and Receivables 

   

Gross restructured S3 
receivables 31 December 

2019 
 

New restructured S3 
receivables 

 

Reduce of 
restructured S3 

receivables 
 

Gross 31 
December 2019 

 

Net 31 December 
2020 

Cash loans                                           160                              210                             (145)                      225                             168  

Housing loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Mortgage loans                                              24                                 41                                   (8)                         57                                46  

Deposit based loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 

Microcredits                                                 4   -  -                            4   - 

Other                                                 7                                 11   -                          18                                   6  

Retail                                           195                              262                             (153)                      304                             220  

Investment loans                                           328                              100                             (228)                      200                             141  

Current assets loans                                           466                         1,647                             (211)                  1,902                         1,448  

Deposit based loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 
Revolving loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 
Overdraft loans                                                -     -  -  -  - 
Other                                              15    -                               (15)  -    - 

Corporate                                           809                         1,747                             (454)                  2,102                         1,589  

           

Total                                      1,004                         2,009                             (607)                  2,406                         1,809  
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.  The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.2. Loans and receivables from customers covered by collateral 
 

31 December 
2020 

 
S 1 clients 

 
S 2 clients 

 
S 3 clients 

 Propert
ies  

 Depo
sits  

 Guara
ntees 

 
Other 

collater
als  

 Total  
 Propert

ies  

 Depo
sits  

 Guara
ntees 

 
Other 
collat
erals  

 Total  
 Propert

ies  

 Depos
its  

 Guara
ntees 

 
Other 
collat
erals  

 Total  

Cash loans 
 21,834  331  -  511  22,676  1,814  -  -  19  1,833  413  -  -  17  430 

Housing 
loans  26,012  320  -  956  27,288  1,220  -  -  253  1,473  105  -  -  -  105 

Mortgage 
loans  3,038    -    3,038  787  -  -  -  787  122  -  -    122 

Deposit 
based loans  35  2,040  -  12  2,087  -  48  -  -  48  -  -  -  -  - 

Microcredits 
 66  -  -  14  80  15  -  -  14  29  15  -  -  -  15 

Other 
 1,497  142  -  27  1,666  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  9  9 

Retail 
 52,482  2,833  -  1,520  56,835  3,836  48  -  286  4,170  655  -  -  26  681 

Investment 
loans  35,716  6,671  -  3,575  45,962  1,892  -  -    1,892  515  -  -  37   

Current 
assets loans  15,123  812  -  3,271  19,206  1,738  -  -  -  1,738  1,773  -  -  152  1,925 

Deposit 
based loans  -  1,646  -  -  1,646  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revolving 
loans  4,529  -  -  181  4,710  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Overdraft 
loans  2,639  319  -  -  2,958  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other 
 -    -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Corporate  58,007  9,448  -  7,027  74,482  3,630  -  -  -  3,630  2,288  -  -  189  1,925 

Total 
 

110,489 
 

12,281 
 

- 
 

8,547 
 

131,317 
 

7,466 
 

48 
 

- 
 

286 
 

7,800 
 

2,943 
 

- 
 

- 
 

215 
 

2,606 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.  The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.2. Loans and receivables from customers covered by collateral (continued) 
 

31 
December 

2019. 

 
S 1 clients 

 
S 2 clients 

 
S 3 clients 

 Propert
ies  

 Depo
sits  

 Guara
ntees 

 
Other 

collater
als  

 Total  
 Propert

ies  
 Depo

sits  
 Guara

ntees 
 

Other 
collat
erals  

 Total  
 Propert

ies  
 Depos

its  
 Guara

ntees 
 

Other 
collat
erals  

 Total  

Cash loans 
 19,820  180  -  532  20,532  943  -  -  17  960  424  -  -  17  441 

Housing 
loans  22,422  214  -  509  23,145  8  -  -  -  8  -  -  -  -  - 

Mortgage 
loans  3,494  -  -  17  3,511  350  -  -  -  350  123  -  -  34  157 

Deposit 
based loans  41  1,588  -  -  1,629  -  11  -  -  11  -  -  -  -  - 

Microcredits 
 164  -  -  32  196  27  -  -  -  27  40  -  -  -  40 

Other 
 1,346  135  -  65  1,546  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Retail 
 47,287  2,117  -  1,155  50,559  1,328  11  -  17  1,356  587  -  -  51  638 

Investment 
loans  29,651  2,510  -  3,428  35,589  1,487  -  -  103  1,590  425  -  -  37  462 

Current 
assets loans  12,735  857  -  1,335  14,927  1,415  -  -  -  1,415  347  -  -  152  499 

Deposit 
based loans  -  3,788  -  -  3,788  -  -  -  -  -  -  4  -  -  4 

Revolving 
loans  3,236  -  -  400  3,636  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Overdraft 
loans  1,925  259  -  -  2,184  36  -  -  -  36  22  -  -  -  22 

Other 
 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Corporate  47,547  7,414  -  5,163  60,124  2,938  -  -  103  3,041  794  4  -  189  987 

Total 
 

94,834 
 

9,531 
 

- 
 

6,318 
 

110,683 
 

4,266 
 

11 
 

- 
 

120 
 

4,397 
 

1,381 
 

4 
 

- 
 

240 
 

1,625 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.4.  Concentration per Geographic Regions 
 
Concentration per geographic regions of the Bank's credit risk exposure is disclosed in the following table: 
 
 

 
 Receivables from S1 and S2 clients  Receivables from S3 clients   

31 December 2020  Montenegro  EU members  Other  Montenegro  EU members  Other  Total 

Cash loans  35,732  -  26  961  -  7  36,726 
Housing loans  32,132  32  -  40  -  67  32,271 

Mortgage loans  3,830  -  -  129  -  -  3,959 

Deposit based loans  2,070  -  19  -  -  -  2,089 

Microcredits  171      317  -  -  488 

Other  10,748  43  6  137  -  4  10,938 
Retail  84,683  75  51  1,584  -  77  86,470 
Investment loans  42,386  -  -  535  -  -  42,921 
Current assets loans  27,166    -  2,771  -  -  29,937 
Deposit based loans  1,642  -  -  4  -  -  1,646 

Revolving loans  9,546  -  -  -  -  -  9,546 

Overdraft loans  5,883  -  -  282  -  -  6,165 

Other  200  -  -  78  -  -  278 
Corporate  86,823  -  -  3,670  -  -  90,494 

               
Total  171,506  75  51  5,254  -  77  176,964 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.4.  Concentration per Geographic Regions (continued) 
 
 

 Receivables from S1 and S2 clients  Receivables from S3 clients   

31 December 2019 
 

Montenegro 
 

EU 
members  

Other 
 

Montenegro 
 

EU members 
 

Other 
 

Total 

Cash loans  32,900  -  34  709  -  7  33,650 

Housing loans  27,708  35  65  -  -  -  27,808 

Mortgage loans  3,880  -  -  123  -  -  4,003 

Deposit based loans  1,620  -  18  -  -  -  1,638 

Microcredits  397    -  324  -  -  721 
Other  9,130  55  20  79  -  4  9,288 
Retail  75,635  90  137  1,235  -  10  77,108 
Investment loans  37,958  -  -  656  -  -  38,614 

Current assets loans  24,342  457  -  1,101  -  -  25,900 

Deposit based loans  3,788  -  -  4  -  -  3,792 

Revolving loans  7,631  -  -  -  -  -  7,631 
Overdraft loans  3,781  -  -  47  -  -  3,828 
Other  220  -  -  55  -  -  275 
Corporate  77,720  457  -  1,863  -  -  80,041 

               

Total  153,355  547  137  3,098  -  10  157,149 

 
 
The Bank measures the exposure to country risk for all countries in which the head office or residence of the Bank’s debtors is. The Bank’s exposure to country risk is 
measured based on individual placement, defined in the document which implies the control of the debtor’s country rating, taking into account the political, economic 
and social conditions in the country of the debtor. 
 
Ranking of debtor`s countries serves the Bank for determining the required capital for country risk and for limiting the bank`s exposure to certain debtor`s countries, 
groups of countries or regions. 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.4. Comparative overview of financial assets 
 

 31.12.2020.  31.12.2019. 
 Gross  Net  Gross  Net 

Financial assets:        

-at depreciated cost 235,884  231,964  193,394  190,207 
-at fair value through other result 1,911  1,911  6,841  6,841 

        
        
Total 237,795  233,875  200,235  197,048 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 

4.3.5.  Concentration per Industry 
 

Concentration per industry of the Bank`s credit risk exposure is disclosed in the following table: 

   
                    

   

Ministry of 
Finance-

Government of 
Montenegro 

 Finance 
sector 

 
Transport, 
traffic and 

communications 

 

Services, 
tourism and 

hotel 
management 

 Retail 
trade 

 Construction 
industry 

 Administration  Real estate 
trade 

 Other  Individuals  Total 

Financial asset at 
amortized cost 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Loans and receivables 
from banks 

 
- 

 
8,189 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
8,189 

Loans and receivables 
from clients 

 
- 

 
38 

 
8,770 

 
22,175 

 
22,526 

 
16,090 

 
95 

 
1,769 

 
19,002 

 
86,405 

 
176,870 

Financial asset at fair value 
through other result 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Securities  

1,911 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

1,911 

Off-balance sheet items  
                     

December 31, 2020  
1,911  8,331  9,509  22,453  29,868  24,533  97  2,045  23,282  86,913  208,942 

Financial asset at 
amortized cost 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Loans and receivables 
from banks 

 
- 

 
3,679 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
3,679 

Loans and receivables 
from clients 

 
- 

 
30 

 
4,001 

 
16,745 

 
21,276 

 
15,239 

 
70 

 
860 

 
21,266 

 
77,108 

 
156,595 

Financial asset at fair value 
through other result 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Securities  

6,841 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

6,841 

Off-balance sheet items  
-  170  864  240  3,958  852  781  10  9,921  897  17,693 

December 31, 2019  
6,841  3,879  4,865  16,985  25,234  16,091  851  870  31,187  78,005  184,808 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3.   The quality of financial placements (continued) 
 
4.3.6.  Off-Balance Sheet Items 
 
Maturities of off-balance sheet items exposing the Bank to credit risk were as follows: 

   

Undrawn 
credit lines   

 Guarantees  
 

Total 

Up to 1 year  7,067  3,599  10,666 
From 1 to 5 years  10,763  543  11,306 

December 31, 2020   17,830  4,142  21,972 

Up to 1 year  2,782  5,943  8,725 
From 1 to 5 years  500  8,468  8,968 

December 31, 2019  3,282  14,411  17,693 
 
 
4.4. Market risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions due to changes in interest 
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Limits for the exposure to market risks are internally 
prescribed, and in compliance with the prescribed limits by the Central Bank of Montenegro. The Bank 
has adopted the Policy for foreign currency risk management, Policy for interest rate risk management 
and the Procedure for market risks management. 
 
4.4.1. Currency risk 
 
Currency risk management is defined with Risk management strategy and Currency management policy. 
In These acts define the way in which the bank identifies, measures, controls, mitigates and monitors the 
currency risk. Measuring the currency risk is performed applying GAP analysis for currency risk, while 
the control system established by limiting long, short and net positions individually by currencies and 
aggregately. On a daily basis liquidity sector reports to the risk management the amount and character 
of currency update. Risk Management sector reports on a monthly basis the Board of Directors on all 
important aspects of the management of foreign exchange risk. 
 
Financial position and cash flows of the Bank are exposed to the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 
The exposure to the foreign currency risk is monitored regularly through complying with limits prescribed 
by the Central Bank of Montenegro. 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.4.   Market risk (continued) 
 
4.4.1.  Currency risk (continued) 
 

The Bank's exposure to foreign currency risk is presented in the following table: 
 

          
In thousands EUR 

 
 RSD  USD  GBP  CHF  Other  Total 

Assets in foreign 
currencies 

 -  2,963  164  650  -  3,777 

Liabilities in foreign 
currencies 

 -  2,829  20  79  -  2,928 

Net open position:             

- December 31, 2020  -  134  144  571  -  849 

             

- December 31, 2019  -  47  156  295  -  498 

% of the core capital:             

- December 31, 2020  -  0,62%  0,67%  2,65%  -   
             

- December 31, 2019  -  0,25%  0,84%  1,58%  -   
             
Aggregate open 
position: 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

- December 31, 2020  849           

- December 31, 2019  498           

             

% of the core capital:             

- December 31, 2020  3,94%           

- December 31, 2019  2,67%           
 

Management of currency risk exposure, apart from analysis of Bank's assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies, includes a sensitivity analysis on the exchange rate change.  
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.4.   Market risk (continued) 
 
4.4.1.  Currency risk (continued) 
 

The scenario of the fluctuation in exchange rate in the range of + 10% to -10% compared to the EUR is 
presented in the following table 
 

    In thousands EUR 

      
Change in exchange rate 

  

Total 

 

Amount 
in 

Foreign 
currency 

 

10%   -10% 

Financial assets at amortized value  
       

Cash balances and deposits with central 
banks 

 
50,825  1,045  105  (105) 

Loans and receivables from banks  8,189  2,584  258  (258) 

FVOCI  1,911  -  -  - 

Securities  -  -  -  - 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total assets   60,925 3,629 363 (363) 

         
Financial liabilities at amortized value  

       
Deposits due to clients and banks  163,805  2,928  293  (293) 

Borrowings from other clients  45,860  -  -  - 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 
Total liabilities  209,665 2,928 293 (293) 

Net currency risk exposure:  
       

- December 31, 2020  
    656  (656) 

  
   

 

 

 

 
- December 31, 2019  

   642 (642) 

 

As of December 31, 2020, under the assumption that all other parameters remain the same upon the 
change in the EUR exchange rate, as compared to other currencies, by +10%, i.e., -10%, the Bank's 
profit would decrease, i.e., increase by EUR 656 thousand (December 31, 2018: EUR 642 thousand). 
The reason why the Bank's exposure to currency risk is small is rooted in the fact that the major portion 
of the Bank's assets and liabilities is denominated in EUR. 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.4.   Market risk (continued) 
 
4.4.2. Interest Rate Risk  
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank assumes exposure to the effects of 
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on cash flows. Interest margins may increase 
as a result of such changes; however, these may reduce profit or give rise to losses in instances of 
unexpected fluctuations. Interest rates are based on market rates and the Bank performs regular 
repricing. 
 
The following table presents the Bank's interest bearing and non-interest-bearing assets and liabilities 
as of 31 December 2020: 

      

In thousands 
of EUR 

  Interest 
bearing 

 Non-interest 
bearing  

  

Financial assets at amortized value   Total 

Cash balances and deposits with central banks 
 

4,253  46,571  50,824 

Loans and receivables from banks  8,189  -  8,189 

Loans and receivables from clients  176,870  -  176,870 

Financial asset at fair value through other result 
 

1,911  -  1,911 

Securities  -  -  - 

  
     

Total assets  191,223  46,571  237,794 

  
     

Financial liabilities at amortized value      

Deposits due to clients and banks  128,735  35,069  163,804 
Borrowings from other clients  45,819  -  45,819 

Total liabilities  
174,554  35,069  209,623 

 
 

     

Interest rate risk exposure:- December 31, 2020   16,669  11,502  28,171 
 

      
                                              - December 31, 2019  33,411  (7,394)  26,017 

 
In the process of interest rate risk management, the Bank analyses the exposure of Bank's assets and 
liabilities to changes in interest rates.   
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.4.   Market risk (continued) 
 
4.4.2. Interest Rate Risk (continued) 
 
The following table shows the effect of fluctuations in interest rates on the Bank's assets and liabilities 
denominated in EUR and foreign currency in the range from +0.4 b.p. to - 0.4 b.p. 

  

2020. 

 
 +0,4 b.p.  
EUR KS 

 

 -0,4 
b.p.  
EUR 
KS     

Financial assets at amortized value       

Cash balances and deposits with central banks 
 4,253  -  - 

Loans and receivables from banks  8,189  -  - 

Loans and receivables from clients  176,870  7  7 

Financial asset at fair value through other result     

Securities  1,911  8  8 

 
Total assets       

       
Financial liabilities at amortized value       

Deposits due to clients and banks 
 128,735  5  (5) 

Borrowings from other clients  45,819  2  (2) 

Total liabilities  174,554  7  (7) 
Interest rate risk exposure:       
- December 31, 2020    1  (1) 
- December 31, 2019    -  - 

 
The Bank is not exposed to interest rate fluctuations since all Bank's liabilities and receivables are 
linked to a fixed interest rate.
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.5. Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk includes the risk of the Bank being unable to provide cash to settle liabilities upon maturity, 
or the risk that the Bank will have to obtain funds at reasonable prices and in a timely manner to be able 
to settle its matured liabilities. 
 
The matching and controlled mismatching between the maturities and interest rates of assets and of 
liabilities are fundamental to the management of the Bank. It is uncommon for banks to have completed 
matching since business transactions are often made for indefinite term and are of different types. A 
mismatched position potentially enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of losses. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability of the Bank to obtain sources of funding upon 
maturity of liabilities at an acceptable cost are an important factor in assessing the liquidity of the Bank 
and its exposure to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
 
Liquidity requirements to support calls on guarantees are considerably less than the amount of the 
commitments because the Bank does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under the 
agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments for approved loans with extended 
maturities does not necessarily represent future cash requirements since many of these commitments 
will expire or terminate without being funded.  
 
As of December 31, 2020, the Bank has managed the liquidity risk in accordance with the adopted 
Strategy for risk Management, Liquidity risk management policy and Liquidity risk management 
procedures. The phases of the liquidity risk management have been elaborated in these documents: 
identification, measurement, control and monitoring of liquidity risk. To measure liquidity risk, the Bank 
uses the GAP analysis and stress testing. On the basis of Risk management procedure developed was 
the methodology for determining the difference between the actual and the contracted deposit maturity 
on which the Bank classifies demand deposits in the individual time classes. Liquidity risk monitoring is 
developed on a daily basis through a set of reports generated by the liquidity sector, and verified by the 
risk management sector. In addition to daily monitoring, liquidity risk is monitored on a ten-day and 
monthly basis by reporting to Supervisors and to the Board of Directors. Cash-flow projections are 
subsequently tested on a daily and monthly basis. 
 
The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources which influence the available cash 
held on the current accounts or as deposits. The Bank does not have to maintain the cash resources 
level in order to meet all potential requirements, estimating that the minimum level of reinvestments of 
maturing funds can be reliably predicted. 
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.5. Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 
The remaining contractual maturity matching of financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2020 
is as follows: 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 U hiljadama EUR  

  

Up to one 
month 

 

From 1 to 
2 months  

 

From 3 to 
6 months 

 

From 6 to 
12 

months 
 

From 1 to 
5 years 

 

Over 5 
years 

 

Total 

Financial assets at 
amortized value 

 

             
Cash balances and 
deposits with central 
banks 

 46,571 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

4,253 

 

- 

 

50,824 

Loans and receivables 
from 
Banks 

 8,189 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

8,189 

Loans and receivables 
from 
Clients 

 4,955 

 

4,737 

 

4,004 

 

15,407 

 

51,989 

 

95,240 

 

176,332 

Financial asset at fair 
value through other 
result 

              

Held-to-maturity securities  1,899  -  -  -  -  -  1,899 

Other financial assets   158  -   -   -   -   -   158 

Total  61,772  4,737  4,004  15,407  56,242  95,240  237,402 

               

 
 

             

Financial liabilities at 
amortized value 

 67,342 
 

11,918 
 

12,418 
 

38,919 
 

30,375 
 

2,833 
 

163,805 

Deposits to clients and 
banks 

 142 
 

285 
 

750 
 

6,046 
 

35,553 
 

3,084 
 

45,860 

           -         

Total  
67,484  12,203  13,168  44,965  65,928  5,917  209,665 

  
             

Maturity GAP               

- December 31, 2020 
 -5,712  -7,466  -9,164  -29,558  -9,686  89,323  27,737 

               

- December 31, 2019  
-24,440  -7,351  -10,274  -23,497  15,387  74,608  24,433 

 
              

Cumulated GAP:  
             

               

- December 31, 2020 
 -5,712  -13,178  -22,342  -51,900  -61,586  27,737   

  
             

- December 31, 2019 
 -   24,440        -     31,791        -     42,065        -     65,562        -     50,175              24,433         

 
              

% of the total asset 
source               
               

- December 31, 2020  -2,72%  -6,29%  -10,66%  -24,75%  -29,37%  13,23%   

 
 

             

- December 31, 2019 
 -13,90%  -18,09%  -23,93%  -37,30%  -28,54%  13,90%   
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4.  RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.5. Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 
The expected maturity matching of financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 is as follows: 

In thousands EUR 

 

Up to 
one 

month 
 

From 1 to 
2 months  

 

From 3 to 
6 months 

 

From 6 to 
12 

months 
 

From 1 to 
5 years 

 

Over 5 
years 

 

Total 

Financial assets at 
amortized value 

 
             

Cash balances and deposits 
with central banks 

 46,571 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

4,253 
 

- 
 

50,824 

Loans and receivables from 
banks 

 8,189 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

8,189 

Loans and receivables from 
clients 

 4,920 
 

4,627 
 

3,865 
 

14,875 
 

52,273 
 

95,772 
 

176,332 

Financial asset at fair value              0 

Securities  1,899  -  -  -  -  -  1,899 

Other financial asset    158  -   -   -   -  -  158 

Total  61,737  4,627  3,865  14,875  56,526  95,772  237,402 

 
              

Financial liabilities at 
amortized value 

 14,372 
 

11,931 
 

7,716 
 

31,074 
 

58,031 
 

40,681 
 

163,805 

Deposits to clients and 
banks 

 142 
 

285 
 

750 
 

6,046 
 

35,553 
 

3,084 
 

45,860 

Borrowings from banks and 
other clients 

                
 

  

Total  14,514  12,216  8,466  37,120  93,584  43,765  209,665 

Maturity GAP               

               
- December 31, 2020  47,223  -7,589  -4,601  -22,245  -37,058  52,007  27,737 

 
              

- December 31, 2019  26,824  -7,809  -6,665  -17,891  -9,535  39,509  24,433 

               

 
              

Cumulated GAP:               

- December 31, 2020 
 47,223  39,634  35,033  12,788  -24,270  27,737   

               

- December 31, 2019 
 26,824  19,015  12,350  -5,541  -15,076  24,433   

               

               
% of the total asset source               

- December 31, 2020 
 22,52%  18,90%  16,71%  6,10%  -11,58%  13,23%   

               

- December 31, 2019 
 15,26%  10,82%  7,03%  -3,15%  -8,58%  13,90%   

 
As pursuant to the Procedure of risk management, the Bank has developed a methodology for determining 
the difference between the actual and contractual maturities of deposits, demand deposits are sorted in the 
individual time classes, and therefore, the agreed maturity differs from the expected as indicated in the table 
above. The Bank's liquidity as its ability to settle its due liabilities depends upon the balance sheet structure, 
and on the other side upon the matching between cash inflows and outflows. The structure of financial assets 
and liabilities as at December 31, 2020 indicates the existence of gap in the period of maturity of assets and 
liabilities from six months to one year. In 2020, the Bank did not have issues regarding the liquidity 
maintenance. As at December 31, 2020, its liquidity ratio was je 2,73%. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.6.  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
 

        In thousands of EUR 

    Carrying value  Fair value  

    2020.  2019.  2020.  2019. 

Financial Assets at amortized value           

Loans and receivables from banks    8,189  3,679  8,189  3,679 

Loans and receivables from clients    176,870  156,595  172,793  153,240 

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income            

Securities available for sale/ at fair value 
through other comprehensive income    1,911  6,841  1,911  6,841 

           

Financial liabilities at amortized value            

Deposits from clients    163,305  152,552  163,305  152,552 

Borrowings from other clients    45,860  23,225  45,860  23,225 

Other liabilities    3,033  1,187  3,033  1,187 

 
Fair value is the amount that would be collected for sale of assets, i.e. paid for the settlement of the liabilities 
in a regular transaction between market participants at the measurement date under the given market 
conditions. However, there are no available market price for a certain part of the Bank's financial instruments. 
In conditions in which there is no available market price, fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow 
model or other models. Changes in assumptions underlying the estimates, including discount rates and 
estimated future cash flows, significantly affect the estimates. Therefore, determined estimates of fair market 
value cannot be realized in a current sale of the financial instrument. 
 
 
4.6.1 Fair Value of Financial Instruments Measured at Fair value 
 

Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value 
 

IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation 
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent 
sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created 
the following fair value hierarchy: 

• Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level 
includes listed equity securities. The Bank does not have financial instruments measured at fair value 
included within Level 1. 

• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset or a 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, as derived from prices).  

• Level 3 - Inputs for an asset or a liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 

This level includes equity investments with Bank's market assumption (no observable market data available).  
 
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant 

and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.  
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

4.6. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued) 
 

4.6.1 Fair Value of Financial Instruments not Measured at Fair value 
 
Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments not measured at fair value 
 

Estimated fair value of financial instruments based on fair value hierarchy is given as follows: 
 

31.12.2020.  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Financial assets   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

-at fair value through other result   1,911  -  -  1,911 
-at fair value through income statement  -  -  -  - 

Ukupno  1,911  -  1,911  1,911 

         
         
31.12.2019.  Level1  Level2  Level3  Total 

Financial assets   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

-held for sale  5,341  1,500  -  6,841 
-at fair value through income statement held for sale  -  -  -  - 

Ukupno  5,341  1,500  -  6,841 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market 
conditions regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. However, no readily available market prices exist for a certain portion of the Bank's financial 
instruments, and those were accordingly classified into Level 2 and Level 3 based on fair value hierarchy. In 
this circumstance where the quoted market prices are not readily available, the fair value is estimated using 
discounted cash flow models or other pricing models as appropriate. Changes in underlying assumptions, 
including discount rates and estimated future cash flows, significantly affects the estimates. Therefore, the 
calculated fair market estimates cannot be realized in a current sale of the financial instrument. 
 
 
4.7. Capital Risk Management 
 
The Bank's capital management objectives are: 
 

• to comply with the capital requirements set by the regulator, 

• to safeguard the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 
provide returns to shareholders and ensure benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• To maintain a strong capital base to support further growth of its business. 
 
 

The Bank's management controls capital adequacy by applying the methodology and limits prescribed by the 
Central Bank of Montenegro ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", no. 60/08, 41/09, 55/12, 44/17 and 82/17). The 
Bank submits quarterly reports on the balance and structure of capital to the Central Bank of Montenegro. 
 
The Bank's own assets are comprised of: founder capital (paid-in share capital, retained earnings from prior 
years, decreased for current year losses) decreased for intangible assets, positive difference between the 
amount of calculated provisions for potential losses and the sum of impairment allowances per balance sheet 
assets and provisions for potential losses per off-balance sheet items. 
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4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
4.7. Capital Risk Management 
 
The amount of own funds must be equal to or greater than: 

a) minimum financial portion of initial capital amounting to EUR 5 million, as required by Law 
on Banks, 
b) total amount of required capital for all risks 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank of Montenegro, the Bank is under obligation 
to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 10%. The Bank is required to maintain certain minimum 
or maximum ratios with respect to its activities and composition of risk assets in compliance with the 
Law on Banks of the Montenegro and with the Central Bank of Montenegro Regulations. The Bank's 
solvency ratio amounted to 14.23% as of December 31, 2020, calculated on statutory financial 
statements.(31. December 2019 – 14,92%) 
 
5. INTEREST INCOME, INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
a) Interest income and Similar Income 

 
In thousands EUR 

 2020.  2019. 

Loans:  
  

- state-owned companies 93  97 

- legal entities 5,123  5,113 

- entrepreneurs 70  75 

- individuals  6,129  5,501 
 11,415  10,786 

Securities:  
  

Securities - at fair value through total other result  125  129 
 125  129 
    
 11,540  10,915 

 
 In thousands EUR 

 2020.  2019. 

Interest income on impaired loans 9 
 

13 

 9  13 

 
b) Interest Expense and Similar Expenses  

 
In thousands EUR 

Deposit:  2020. 
 

2019. 

- Legal entities 364  392 

- individuals  1,965  2,119 

 2,329 
 

2,511 

Loans and other borrowings  1,098  723 

business leasing 79  - 

 3,506 
 

3,234 
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6. NET INCOME/EXPENSES BASED ON IMPAIRMENT FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NOT 

VALUED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH INCOME STATEMENT 
 

Net income/expenses based on impairment financial 
instruments not valued at fair value through income statement: 

 

   
 

 In thousands EUR 
  2020.  2019. 

Change in impairment based on:     

-  Loans from clients (note 14.2)   741    834 

-  Interest receivables (note 14.2)  (26)  (25) 

-  Outstanding acceptances, guarantees, etc.  8  6 

- Other assets (note 18)  3  (36) 

- Provisions for losses on off balance sheet items (note 7.1)  (6)  8 

- Securities - at fair value through total other result (note 15.1)    (4)  3 

  716  791 

 
6.1. Changes in impairment items 
 

Impairment  31.12.2019.   

Impairment 
cost  31.12.2020. 

Retail loans  1,355   398  1,753 
Corporate loans  2,000   325  2,325 

Total   3,355   723  4,078 

        

Impairment of deposit from banks and other 
deposits institutions (note 14.1)  

 4   (4)  - 
Securitas   11   (6)  5 

Other assets   50   -  50 

Total  3,420   713  4,133 

        

Provisions  31.12.2019.   Provision cost  31.12.2019. 

Provisions for off balance sheet exposure  138   3  141 
Provisions for contributions  4   -  4 
Provisions for litigation  -   20  20 

Provisions for operational risk  2   -  2 

Total  144   23  167 
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7. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
a) Fee and Commission Income 

 In thousands EUR 
 2020.  2019. 

  
 

 

Loans 21  23 

Fees and commissions from off-balance-sheet operations 201  187 

Fees and commissions from payment transactions and e-banking 737  738 

Fees and commissions for foreign payments 437  468 

Fees for card operations 413  418 

Other fees and commissions 93  82 
 1,902  1,916 

 
b) Fee and Commission Expenses 

 In thousands EUR 
 2020.  2019. 
    
Fees and commissions payable to the Central Bank 313  318 

Fees and commissions for international payment transactions 70 66 125  111 

Deposit insurance premium fees  749  675 

Fees and commissions for e-banking 153  137 

Fees for card operations 415  361 

Other fees 5  7 

 1,760  1,609 

 
8. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

 In thousands EUR 
 2020.  2019. 
    

Net salaries and other employee benefits 1,883  1,545 

Taxes, surtaxes and contributions on salaries 1,199  1,071 

Fees to members of Board of Directors (net) 19  28 

Service contracts (gross) 22  11 

Fees to members of Board of Directors (gross) 126  160 

Business travel costs and per diems 8  23 

Employee training costs 2  13 
 3,259  2,851 

 
On October 14, 2016 (Decision no. 4-0009270/024 issued by the Central Register of Commercial Entities), 
July 5, 2018 (CRCE Decision No.:  4-0009270/035) and June 4, 2019 (CRCE Decision No.: 4-0009270/039) 
Lovćen banka registered Aleksandra Popović as Professional Chairperson of the Board of Directors 
(Chairperson on a basis of professional engagement). Aleksandra Popović entered into a Contract on 
Professional Engagement of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors with Lovćen banka AD (October 7, 
2016, July 18, 2017,  July 19, 2018 and June 7, 2019) in accordance with the General Meeting of Shareholders’ 
Decisions No. 01-IX-v/4 of October 7, 2016,  No. 01-III/7 of May 30, 2017 and Decision No. 01-XII/7 of April 
25,2018 and No. 01-XVI-v/4 of May 23, 2019. 
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9. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 In thousands EUR 
 2020.  2019. 

    

Rental costs 122  539 

External services expenses 202  179 

Cash security and transportation costs 302  295 

Advertising and marketing 176  204 

License costs and software maintenance 206  174 

Consultancy services 83  87 

Other professional fees 81  91 

Electricity, utilities and fuel costs 54  55 

Office supplies 30  30 

Communication network costs 58  49 

Computer and other equipment maintenance 82  90 

Telecommunication costs 40  28 

Membership fee to the Association of banks 17  17 

Insurance costs 95  42 

The cost of plastic and card personalization 9  9 

Representation costs 5  12 

Maintenance costs 59  33 

Miscellaneous expenses 147  97 

 1,768  2,031 

 
The decrease in lease costs (31 December 2020: EUR 122 thousand, 31 December 2019: EUR 539 
thousand) is conditioned by the beginning of application of IFRS 16 - Leasing, while on the same basis 
the depreciation cost is increased by EUR 325 thousand. 
 
10. DEPRECIATION COSTS 
 

  In thousands EUR 
  2020.  2019. 

Property and equipment (note 16)  713  299 

Intangible assets (note 17)  66  155 
  779  454 
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11. INCOME TAXES 
 
a) Components of Income Tax 
 

  In thousands EUR 
  2020.  2019. 

Current tax  144    (165) 

Calculate deferred tax expense / income  (1)  13 
  143  (152) 

 
b) Adjustment of the amount of income tax in the income statement and the results before 

taxation 
 

    
In 

thousands 
EUR 

  2020.  2019. 

     

Profit before tax  1,647  2,032 

Depreciation cost in the income statement   779  454 

Depreciation cost for tax purpose  (786)  (274) 

Other  9  7 

Total  1,649  2,219 

Capital losses  56  - 

Profit in the tax balance   1,705  2,219 

Used tax losses from previous years  -  (266) 

Total capital gains of the current year  1,705  1,953 

     

The amount of tax for income/capital gains  153  176 

Reduction of tax liability in accordance with Article 32a of the Law on 
Corporate Income Tax 

 (9) 
 

(11) 

The effects of different treatment of fixed assets for tax purpose   (1)  (13) 

Total cost of income tax  143  152 

     

Effective tax rate  8.71%  7.48% 

 
The tax rate used in 2020 and 2019 equals 9% and is applied to the taxable profit of legal entities in Montenegro 
in accordance with the Corporate Income Tax Law. 
 
c) Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

                       In thousands EUR 
 
 2020.  2019  

Differed tax assets  3  2  
Differed tax liabilities based on valuation of securities  -  6  
Differed tax liabilities on the basis of a temporary differences between tax 
base of fixed asset and their carrying value   

6  - 
 

Net tax asset/liability   9  (4)  
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12. CASH BALANCES AND DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANKS 

  In thousands EUR 

  December  
31, 2020. 

 December  
31, 2019 

     

Cash on hand:  7,018  6,239 
Gyro account:  35,301  16,093 
Obligatory reserves held with the Central Bank of Montenegro  8,506  10,788 
Impairment  -  (4) 
  50,825  33,116 

 
As at December 31, 2020 the Bank's obligatory reserves were set aside in accordance with the Decision 
of the Central Bank of Montenegro on Obligatory Reserves of Banks to Be Held with the Central Bank 
of Montenegro (“Official Gazette of Montenegro”, no. 88/17 i 43/20), stipulating that banks calculate the 
obligatory reserve applying the following rates: 
 

- 5,5% to the base comprised of demand deposits and deposits maturing within a year i.e. 365 days, 
and term deposits with maturity over 365 days if there is no clause on the impossibility of 
cancellation of the contract before the set deadline, 

- 4,5% to the base comprised of deposits with maturities of over a year i.e. 365 days, containing 
clause on the impossibility of cancellation of the contract before the set deadline 

 
The rate of 5.5% is also applied to deposits with contractually defined maturities of over a year i.e. 365 days 
with contractual clause on early withdrawal option. 
 
The Bank allocates the calculated required reserve to the required reserve account in the country and / 
or to the accounts of the Central Bank abroad and cannot allocate it and keep it in another form. The 
required reserve is allocated in EUR. Mandatory reserve funds allocated to the accounts of the Central 
Bank abroad cannot be transferred to other accounts abroad, but can only be transferred to the bank's 
transaction account in the RTGS system. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents (for the purposes of Cash Flow Statement): 
 

  In thousands EUR 

  December  31, 
2020. 

 December  
31, 2019 

     

Cash in hand  7,018  6,239 

Gyro account at Central Bank  43,807  26,877 

Correspondent accounts and deposits with foreign banks  8,189  3,679 

Dedicated deposits with domestic banks     
  59,014  36,795 
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13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED VALUE 
 

13.1 Loans and receivables from banks 
 

Loans and receivables from banks in the amount of EUR 8,189 thousand as at 31 December 2020 (31 
December 2019: EUR 3,679 thousand) relate to correspondent accounts with foreign banks. As at 31 
December 2020, the Bank has opened correspondent accounts with foreign banks: Raiffeisen Bank 
International AG, Komercijalna banka AD Belgrade, Intesa SanPaolo banka DD Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, Privredna banka Zagreb DD and Bayerische Landesbank Munich. 
 
 
13.2.  Loans and receivables from clients 
 

  

December  31, 
2020. 

 December  31, 
2019 

Matured loans     
 - Legal entities  1,889  1,602 
 - State-owned companies  3  2 
 - entrepreneurs   8  4 
 - Individuals  1,166  668 

  3,066  2,276 
Short-term receivables     
 - Legal entities  18,050  16,161 
 - State-owned companies  31  - 
 - entrepreneurs   6  85 
 - Individuals  452  624 

  18,539  16,870 
Long-term receivables     
 - Legal entities  67,744  59,878 
 - State-owned companies  1,722  1,259 
 - entrepreneurs   715  697 
 - Individuals  84,569  75,616 

  154,750  137,450 

     
Total  176,355  156,596 

     
Interest receivables     
 - loans  608  550 

     
Accruals     
 - interest on loans  801  392 
 - fees  (894)  (943) 

Total  (93)  (551) 

     
Gross loans   176,870  156,595 

     
Minus:      
Impairment of loans  (3,908)  (3,166) 
Impairment of interest  (169)  (189) 

Total impairment   (4,077)  (3,355) 

     
Total loans and receivables from clients  172,793  153,240 
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13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED VALUE (CONTINUED) 
 

13.2. Loans and receivables from clients (continued) 
 

CHANGES OF IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED VALUE 

 
In thousands EUR  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Loans and receivables from clients, 
gross carrying value as at December 31, 
2019  148,495  5,544  3,109  157,149 

Newly-approved placements  63,599  2,310  42  65,951 
Paid receivables  (46,546)  (772)  (383)  (47,701) 
Transfer u Stage 1  2,309  (1,791)  (518)  - 
Transfer u Stage 2  (5,421)  5,760  (339)  - 
Transfer u Stage 3  (1,027)  (2,372)  3,399  - 
Property modification  1,408  (113)  270  1,565 

Loans and receivables from clients, 
expected credit losses as at December 
31, 2018  162,844  8,787  5,332  176,964 

 

In thousands EUR  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Loans and receivables from clients, gross 
carrying value as at January 1, 2019  933  199  1,408  2,540 

Newly-approved placements  705  124  16  845 
Paid receivables  (343)  (43)  (70)  (456) 
Transfer u Stage 1  202  (59)  (119)  24 
Transfer u Stage 2  (166)  196  (69)  (39) 
Transfer u Stage 3  (11)  (319)  154  (176) 
Property modification  16  403  199  618 

Loans and receivables from clients, 
expected credit losses as at December 31, 
2020  1,336  501  1,519  3,355 

 
 
13.3. Securities 
 
As at December 31, 2020 Bank did not have securities that are valued at amortized cost. 
 
 
13.4. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

 
Other financial assets in the amount of EUR 158 thousand as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 
2019: EUR 172 thousand) consist of: 
 

- Special purpose deposit as at 31 December 2020 in the amount of EUR 148 thousand (31 
December 2019: EUR 162 thousand) with Santander Bank of the USA, with an annual interest 
rate of 0.25%, which is deposited for Master Card settlement account;  

- Special purpose deposit as at 31 December 2020 in the amount of EUR 10 thousand (31 
December 2019: EUR 10 thousand) and relates to a deposit with Hipotekarna banka AD 
Podgorica 
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14.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER RESULT  
 

14.1. Securities 
 
Comparative overview of debt securities as at December 31,2020 and December 31,2019: 

    

   2020.  2019. 

Securities available for sale / at fair value through other result   1,899  6,682 

Interest receivables   12  159 

Total   1,911  6,841 

Impairment of securities (Note 6.1)   (5)  (11) 

 
Changes at accounts of impairment of securities: 

  
 In thousands EUR 

 

Balance at 
January 1, 2020 

 

increase/ 
reduction 

 

Balance at 
December 
31, 2020 

 
11 

 
(6) 

 
5 Impairment of securities 

 
As at 31, December 2020 The Bank did not have any equity securities at its disposal. 
 
 Securities in the amount of EUR 1,899 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 6,682 thousand) relate to 
purchased bonds of the Government of Montenegro at an interest rate of 2.55%, with a maturity of 2029. 
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

a) Structure by type of asset 
    In thousands EUR 

  31.12.2020.  31.12.2019. 
     

Property, plant and equipment owned by the Bank  1,200  1,059 
Property with the right of use - buildings   2,106  - 
     

Property, plant and equipment  3,306  1,059 

 
 

b) Movements on property, plant, equipment and other assets for 2020 and 2019 are presented 
in the following table: 

  
In thousands EUR 

 

 Buildings 

 

Property  Equipment  

 Total  
 

with the 
right 

 And other  

    use   assets 

Cost         

Balance at December 1, 2019  512  -  1,445  1,957 

Additions  84  -  219  303 

Sales and disposals   -  -  -  - 

Balance at December 31, 2019  596    1,664  2,260 

         

Additions  112  2,798  285  3,195 

Sales and disposals   -  (330)  -  (330) 

Balance at December 31, 2020  708  2,468  1,949  5,125 
         

Impairment         

Balance at December 1, 2019  156  -  746  902 

Depreciation (note 10)  53  -  246  299 

Sales and disposals   -  -  -  - 

Balance at December 31, 2019  209  -  992  1,201 

         

Depreciation (note 10)  14  408  242  664 

Sales and disposals   -  (46)  -  (46) 

Balance at December 31, 2020  223  362  1,234  1,819 
         

Current value         

Balance at December 31, 2020  485  2,106  815  3,306 

Balance at December 31, 2019 

  
 

   
 

 

 387 -  672 1,059 

 
As of December 31, 2019, the Bank does not own properties under collateral agreements for insuring 
the repayment of loans and other liabilities. 
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 
 
Intangible assets are mostly comprised of licenses and software. The movements on intangible assets in the 
course of 2020 and 2019 were as follows: 
 

In thousands EUR 

  2020.  2019. 

  

     Cost  

Balance at January 1  924  844 

Additions  95  80 

Write-off  (44)  - 

  
 

975 
 

 
924 Balance at December 31  

  

    Impairment  

Balance at January 1  703  548 

Depreciation (note 11)  67  155 

Write-off  (9)  - 

  
 

761 
 

 
703 Balance at December 31  

  
 

214 
 

 
221 Remaining amount at day  

 
 
17. OTHER ASSETS 
 

In thousands EUR 
December  31,  

2020. 
 December  31, 

2019 

Advances (for purchase securities and paid tax) -  45 

Other receivables by fees and commissions 81  65 

Receivables by card operations 25  140 
Prepaid cost 276  133 
Receivables for sick leave refoundation 31  8 
Other operational receivables 12  22 
Other assets 58  47 

Impairment of other assets (51)  (50) 
 432  410 
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18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZATED VALUE 
 
18.1.  Deposits of clients  
 

 In thousands EUR 

 December  31, 
2020. 

 December  31, 
2019 

  
 

 

Demand deposits:  
 

 

-  banks 500  500 

 - legal entities 29,268  22,246 

 - regulatory agencies  9  164 

- Government of Montenegro and state funds 842  1,460 

 - state-owned companies                          -        - 

 - entrepreneurs 820  6,741 

 - non-profit organizations 222  420 

 - individuals 29,794  28,038 
 61,455  59,569 

    
Short-term deposits:    
 - financial institutions 500  65 

 - regulatory agencies 2,000  2,000 

 - state-owned companies 2,564  3,945 

 - legal entities 9,983  5,547 

 - individuals 53,946  50,948 
 68,993  62,505 

Long-term deposits:    
 - privately owned companies 4,386  2,889 

 - individuals 27,336  26,086 
 31,722  28,975 
    
 162,170  151,049 

Liabilities for interest and other liabilities    

Invoiced interest: deposits                           2      - 

Accruals: deposits 1,633  1,503 
                   1,635      1,503 
 163,805  152,552 

 
No interest rate is applied on the demand deposits by retail customers. Same applies for the legal entities, 
public and other organizations, unless otherwise agreed with the client. 
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18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZATED VALUE (CONTINUED) 
 

18.2 Borrowings from other customers 
 

 In thousands EUR 

 December  31, 
2020. 

 December  31, 
2019 

    

Liabilities to domestic creditors:  
 

 

Investment-Development Fund 15,494  13,917 

Government of Montenegro project “1000+” 1,334  1,222 

Liabilities to foreign creditors:    

BlueOrchard Microfinance fund, Luxemburg 5,000  3,000 

INCOFIN CVSO CVBA-SO, Belgium -  2,000 

BANK IM BISTUM ESSEN eG, Germany 5,000  3,000 

DEG, Germany 5,000  - 

Symbiotics Group, Luxemburg 2,000  - 

EMF Microfinance Fund  2,000  - 

responsAbility 5,000  - 

Triodos Investment Management 5,000  - 
 45,828  23,139 

Accrued interest 6  5 
Accrued interest and fees on borrowings 26  81 
    

 45,860  23,225 

 
Borrowed funds from the Investment Development Fund (IRF) are approved to the Bank for financing 
projects approved by the IRF, whereby the Bank charges its margin for taking credit risk. 
 
 
Liabilities to the Government of Montenegro – Project 1000+: 

        In thousands EUR 

Approved 
amounts  Approval date  

Maturity 
date  

Interest 
rate  

Balance as at 

December 31, 2020 

 
331  09.12.2016.  09.12.2036.  0.75%  374 

              960  08.07.2019.  22.04.2038.  0.00%  960 
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18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZATED VALUE (CONTINUED) 
 

18.2 Borrowings from other customers (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2020, the Bank has the following obligations to foreign creditors: 
 

    In thousands EUR 

Lender  Maturity date  

Balance as at 

December 31, 2020 

BlueOrchard Pool Luxemburg  30.08.2022.  2,000 
BlueOrchard Pool Luxemburg  28.12.2023.  3,000 
Bank im Bisten BIB Essen  12.09.2022.  3,000 
Bank im Bisten BIB Essen  15.07.2024.  2,000 
EMF Microfinance Fund   24.06.2023.  2,000 
responsAbility  13.11.2023.  5,000 
Symbiotics Group  06.11.2023.  2,000 
DEG  15.11.2023.  5,000 
Triodos Investment Management  15.12.2023.  2,500 
Triodos Investment Management  15.12.2023.  2,500 

Total    29,000 
 
In accordance with the terms of the above agreements with the creditor, the Bank has the obligation to 
adjust its business results with certain financial indicators. As at 31 December 2020, the financial 
indicators of the Bank were in compliance with the terms of the agreement with all creditors. 
 
19. SUBORDINATED DEBT 
 
On 31.12.2020. The Bank has liabilities to the investment fund BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund from 
Luxembourg on the basis of subordinated debt in the amount of EUR 2,006 thousand (31 December 
2019: EUR 2,003 thousand), pursuant to a loan agreement concluded on 13.04.2018. years.  
 
After obtaining the consent of the Central Bank of Montenegro, the subordinated debt is included in 
the additional capital of the Bank. 
 
20. OTHER LIABILITES 
 

In thousands EUR December  31, 2020.  December  31, 2019 

Liabilities to domestic trade payables 210  160 
Liabilities to foreign trade payables 43  17 
Accrued liabilities 55  121 
Received advances 428  563 
Lease obligations 2.140  - 
Other liabilities 157  326 

    
 3,033  1,187 
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21. CAPITAL 
 

As at 31 December 2020, the share capital of the Bank consists of 42,036 ordinary shares (31 December 
2019: 38,400 ordinary shares, December 31, 2018: 34,400 ordinary shares, December 31, 2017: 28,400 
ordinary shares, December 31, 2016: 21,400 ordinary shares), with an individual nominal value of EUR 
500. 
The Law on Banks (“Official Gazette of Montenegro”, No. 17/08, 44/10, 40/11 and 73/17) stipulates that the 
minimum monetary amount of the share capital is EUR 5 million. 
 
The Bank’s equity structure as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was as follows: 
 
31. December 2020      

Name of person/company 
Number of 

shares  

Amount in 
EUR 

thousand  % of share 
Aleksandra Popović – joint account ((Aleksandra Popović 
(6453/10758), Andrej Perović (840/10758), Katarina Perović 
(840/10758),  Miljan Mališ (291/10764), Vinko Nikić 
(643/10764), Jovana Popović (325/10758), Svetozar 
Jovićević (90/10758), Nenad Radulović (322/10758), Norah 
Licet Becerra Farfan (184/10758), Predrag Vušurović 
(152/10758), Mirjana Perović (400/10764), Ljubiša Mitrović 
(185/10758), Draško Trninić (33/10758))) 10,758  5,379  25,59% 
DEG 10,567  5,284  25,14% 
ZETAGRADNJA 9,448  4,724  22,48% 
Božidar Vušurović 4,749  2,374  11,30% 
INCOFIN CVSO 3,636  1,818  8,65% 
Luka Nikčević 2,322  1,161  5,52% 
Ivana Tatar-Radulović 421  210  1,00% 
Ana Pejović 68  34  0,16% 
Mirjana Perendija  48  24  0,11% 
Radovan Vučinić 16  8  0,04% 
Nebojša Đurović 3  2  0,01% 

 42,036  21,018  100,00% 
 

31. December 2019      

Name of person/company 
Number of 

shares  

Amount in 
EUR 

thousand  % of share 
Aleksandra Popović – joint ccount (Aleksandra Popović 
(6453/10764), Andrej Perović (840/10764), Katarina Perović 
(840/10764),  Miljan Mališ (291/10764), Vinko Nikić 
(643/10764), Jovana Popović (320/10764), Svetozar 
Jovićević (90/10764), Nenad Radulović (322/10764), Norah 
Licet Becerra Farfan (184/10764), Ivan Popivoda 
(11/10764), Predrag Vušurović (152/10764), Mirjana Perović 
(400/10764), Ljubiša Mitrović (185/10764), Draško Trninić 
(33/10764))  10,764  5,382  28,03% 
DEG 10,567  5,284  27,52% 
ZETAGRADNJA 9,442  4,721  24.59% 
Božidar Vušurović 4,749  2,374  12,37% 
Luka Nikčević 2,322  1,161  6,05% 
Ivana Tatar-Radulović 421  210  1,10% 
Ana Pejović 68  34  0,18% 
Radovan Vučinić 16  8  0,04% 
Mirjana Perendija  48  24  0,13% 
Nebojša Đurović 3  1,5  0.001% 

 38,400  19,200  100,00% 
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21. CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 

In order to strengthen the Bank's share capital and ensure the increase and preservation of capital 
adequacy, as well as support the planned growth and development of the Bank, the Board of Directors 
convened the XVIII Extraordinary General Meeting and determined proposals for decisions to increase 
the Bank's share capital in the total amount of EUR 2,000 thousand. On February 14, 2020, the General 
Meeting of Shareholders supported the proposals of the Board of Directors by making decisions on 
increasing the Bank's share capital in the total amount of EUR 2,000 thousand by converting the Bank's 
debt to Incofin CVSO into the Bank's share capital. Due to the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic - 
Covid 19 (in Montenegro since mid-March 2020) and the unpredictability of the flow and potential impact 
of the coronavirus on the global economy and thus the Montenegrin economy and, consequently, on 
the Bank's operations, the potential acquirer informed the Bank to use the following months, in 
accordance with the right from Article 15 of the Law on Banks, to in-depth monitoring of the Bank's 
operations. In this regard, on June 15, 2020, Lovćen banka exercised the right under Article 101 of the 
Law on Administrative Procedure, on the basis of which the Capital Market Commission on June 19, 
2020 issued Decision No. 02-6e- 3 / 9-20 on the suspension of the procedure for recording the issue of 
shares on the basis of debt conversion into share capital due to the withdrawal of the applicant, ie 
Lovćen banka AD, from the request. 
 
At the session held on October 5, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Bank passed the Decision on 
convening the XIX Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank. On November 5, the 
General Meeting of Shareholders passed a decision to increase the share capital in the amount of EUR 
1,818 based on the conversion of the Company's debt to Incofin CVSO by issuing 3-636 shares with 
an individual nominal value of EUR 500.00 and an issue value of EUR 550.00 per share. 
 
On November 19, 2020, the Capital Market Commission issued Decision no. 02 / 6e-14 / 2-20 on 
recording the issue of shares based on debt conversion into share capital in the amount of EUR 1,818 
thousand, ie 3,636 ordinary shares, individual nominal value of shares EUR 500.00 and individual issue 
values of shares EUR 550.00. 
 
Data on the new issue of shares were registered in the Central Registry of the Central Depository and 
Clearing Company on November 19, 2020.  
 
By the decision of the Central Register of Business Entities number 4-0009270 / 049 from November 
24, 2020. The registration of data change - increase of share capital in the amount of EUR 1,818 
thousand and, accordingly, amendments to the Bank's Articles of Association was performed. 
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22. COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGULATIONS OF THE CENTRAL BANK OF MONTENEGRO 
 
In accordance with the regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro, the Bank is required to maintain a 
minimum capital adequacy ratio of 10%. The Bank is required to comply its operations within the prescribed 
parameters, i.e. to comply the volume and structure of risky assets with the Law on Banks ("Official Gazette 
of Montenegro" no. 17/08, 44/10, 40/11 and 73/17) and the regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro. 
 
The Bank's solvency ratio as of December 31, 2020 amounted to 14.23% (minimum 10%).  
 
As of December 31, 2020, the own funds of the Bank were above the prescribed minimum of EUR 
5,000 thousand and amounted to EUR 21,567 thousand. 
 

  

December  31, 
2020. 

 December  31, 
2019 

I Basic elements of own funds     
Paid up share capital                21,018   19,200 
  180   
II Additional elements of own funds     
Subordinated debt   2,000  2,000 
III Deductible items during the calculation of own funds     
Accumulated losses  -  52 
Effect of implementation IFRS 9 on accumulated loss  -  (1,751) 
Amount to mitigate the effects of the implementation of IFRS 9, 
in accordance with Article 14 of the Decision on Capital 
Adequacy  1,226  1,488 
Intangible assets  (214)  (221) 

Unrealized loss on the value adjustment of available-for-sale 
financial assets, at fair value  (63)  - 
Positive difference between the amount of calculated provisions 
for potential losses and the sum of the amounts of allowance 
for impairment for balance sheet assets and provisions for off-
balance sheet items  (2,580)  (2,090) 

Bank’s own funds  21,567  18,677 

 
 
Risk-weighted on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets, formed in accordance with the 

Decision on capital adequacy of banks, as at 31 December 2020 amount to EUR 138,123 thousand.  

The amount that mitigates the negative effects on the bank's own funds due to the transition to the 

valuation of asset items by applying IFRS 9, determined in accordance with paragraphs 5 and 6 of 

Article 4 of the Decision on capital adequacy of banks in the amount of EUR 1,226 thousand.   



LOVĆEN BANKA AD, PODGORICA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

(all amounts in thousands EUR, unless otherwise stated) 
 

This is a translation of the original document issued in the Montenegrin language. All due care has been taken to produce a 
translation that is faithful as possible to the original. However, if any questions arise related to interpretation of the information 

contained in the translation, the Montenegrin version of the document shall prevail. 

89 

22. COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGULATIONS OF THE CENTRAL BANK OF MONTENEGRO 
(CONTINUED) 

 
The solvency ratio is calculated by placing it in relation to own funds and risk-weighted balance sheet assets 
and off-balance sheet items: 
 

In thousands EUR  31.12.2020.  31.12.2019. 

     
Bank’s own funds  21,567  18,677 

Basic (share) capital  21,198  19,200 
Supplementary capital  2,000  2,000 
MSFI 9 effect  1,226  1,488 
Deductible items  (2,857)  (4,011) 

     
Risk weighted assets  138,123  114,327 

Weight balance sheet asset  123,974  102,424 
Weight off balance sheet items  12,923  10,415 
MSFI 9 effect  1,226  1,488 

     
Required capital for market risks  85  50 
Required capital for operational risk  1,254  1,025 
Required capital for country risk  34  79 
Required capital for other risk  -  - 

     
Bank's solvency ratio  14.23%  14.92% 

 
The compliance with business indicators prescribed by the Central Bank of Montenegro, as of December 31, 
2020 is as follows: 
 

  

Prescribed 
limit of 
CBM  

Actual 
business 
indicators 

as at 
December 
31, 2020 

     
Bank’s solvency ratio  min 10%  14.23% 
Bank’s exposure to one party or a group of related parties  max 25%  17.27% 
Large exposures sum  max 800%  143.77% 
Total exposure to parties that have qualifying holding in the Bank  max 20%  7.77% 
Total exposure to the Bank's related parties  max 200%  15.21% 
Total exposure to persons employed in the Bank  max 1%  0.43% 
The ratio of investment in real estate and fixed assets  max 100%  16.90% 
Bank’s liquidity ratio  min 1%  2.73% 
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23. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 

  In thousands EUR 

  31-dec  31-dec 

  2020  2019 

Risk off-balance sheet assets     

Irrevocable commitments to grant loans  13,072  8,822 

Guarantees:     

- issued payment guarantees  6,732  6,555 

- issued performance guarantees  11,370  7,856 

  
31,174  23,233 

Other off-balance items  

Evident interest  304  175 

Collaterals on receivables  368,945  328,627 

Risk off-balance sheet assets  400,423  352,035  
 
In accordance with the Decision of Central Bank of Montenegro on Minimum Standards for Credit Risk 
Management in Banks ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", no. 22/12, 55/12, 57/13, 44/17 and 82/17) the 
receivables from bank balance sheets can be transferred to the internal records  
 
The decision of the Central Bank of Montenegro on Minimum standards for credit risk management in banks 
("Official Gazette of Montenegro", No. 86/18) is applied from July 1, 2019. 

 
 
24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Bank adopted a Procedure for Bank’s Related Party Transactions. 
 
The Procedure includes accurate definitions of: 
‐ Responsibilities for making decisions on the Bank’s related party transactions 
‐ Exposure limits for the Bank’s related parties 

‐ Types of possible the Bank’s related party transactions 
 
Bank’s related parties are: 

• members of the Bank’s bodies, shareholders, employees, as well as the members of their 
immediate family (spouse and children); 

• a legal entity in which another entity that has qualifying holding in the bank also has qualifying 
holding; 

• a legal entity in which one of the entities under items 1) and 2) of this point has a significant 
influence or an entity under item 1) of this point is either a director, a member of the Board of 
Directors or other relevant body of such a legal entity, 

• an entity that has an equity share or voting rights of minimum 50% in a legal entity that has 
qualifying holding in the bank; 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
According to the type of a transaction, an exposure level and the type of the Bank’s related parties, certain 
Bank’s related party transactions can be classified under the category of less important Bank’s related party 
transactions. 
 
According to the type of a transaction, less important transactions are: 

- Approving cash loans, consumer loans, including overdrafts on current accounts and credit cards, 
and housing 

- loans to the Bank’s retail customers 
- Approving loans, guarantees and letters of credit to legal entities in accordance with what the 

bank offers 
- Sale or purchase of the assets whose value is lower than or equals 20,000 EUR 
- Raising deposits 
- Paying goods and services whose value is lower than or equals 10,000 EUR 
- Asset lease, whose monthly rent is lower than 5,000 EUR 

 
According to the exposure level, less important transactions are: 
 

- Exposures to the Bank’s employees and members of their immediate family, whose total 
exposure is lower than or equals 20,000 EUR; 

- Exposures to members of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee or executive directors, as well 
as to members of their immediate family, whose exposure equals or is lower than 50,000 EUR; 

- Exposures to legal entities that are under control of the persons under previous item/or members 
of their immediate family, whose total exposure is lower than or equals 50,000 EUR; 

- Exposure to a shareholder that does not have a qualifying holding, including legal entities that 
are under control of such a shareholder and members of their immediate family, whose total 
exposure is lower than or equals 50,000 EUR; 

 
According to the type of a related party, less important transactions are those performed with: 
 

- Employees 
- Members of employees’ immediate family, members of the Bank’s bodies and 

shareholders 
- Shareholders that do not have qualifying holding 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

In thousands EUR  December  31, 
2020. 

 December  31, 
2019 

Receivables:     

Loans:     

 - Water group  111  557 

 - Labor d.o.o., Podgorica  -  40 

 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica  411  104 

 - LD Group d.o.o.   300  - 

 - Feniks Medika  66  - 

 - Natural Cake d.o.o.  89  16 

 - Monte bianco  43  - 

 - Sunglasses  7  10 

- Loans to shareholders (individuals)  340  484 

- Loans to Bank’s related parties (individuals)  1,725  1,444 
     

Interest and fees:     
 - Water group  1  3 

 - LD Group d.o.o.   1  - 
     

Guarantees:     

 - Water group  321  275 

 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica  154  590 

 - Zetagradnja d.o.o.  -  42 

 - TV Vijesti  -  1 

 - Anglian d.o.o.   4  - 

- guarantees to shareholders (individuals)  -  369 

Other off-balance sheet exposure     

 - Water group  -  14 

 - LD Group d.o.o.   -  300 

 - individuals-shareholders  90  80 

 - Bank’s related parties (individuals)  38  57 

Total receivables  3,338  4,386 

     

Liabilities     

Deposits:     
 - Truck Trade d.o.o., Podgorica  1,362  1,418 

 - Natural Cake d.o.o.  2  - 

 - TV Vijesti  87  26 

 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica  462  93 

 - LD Group d.o.o.   -  14 

 - Labor d.o.o., Podgorica  -  1 

 - Daily Press d.o.o., Podgorica  4  - 

 - Zetagradnja d.o.o.  83  1,687 

 - Monitor doo  -  2 

 - Filan company d.o.o.  66  - 

 - Bjelasica 1450 d.o.o. Kolašin  227  - 

 - Gross market a.d.,Podgorica  -  1 

 - Feniks Medika  1  - 

 - Anglian d.o.o.  3  - 

- Deposits to shareholders (individuals)  932  968 

- Deposits to Bank’s related parties (individuals)  1,971  2,386 
  5,200  6,596 

Liabilities to suppliers:  -  - 

Total liabilities  5,200  6,596 

     

Liabilities, net  (1,913)  (2,210) 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Employees are granted interest under conditions that are the same as for retail clients. 
 

Income and expenses arising from transactions with related parties during 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

  In thousands EUR 

  December  31, 
2020. 

 December  31, 
2019 

Interest and fee income:     

 - Water group  5  41 

 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica  7  15 

 - Zetagradnja d.o.o.  3  7 

 - LD Group d.o.o. Podgorica  -  1 

 - Labor d.o.o. Podgorica  -  3 

 - Natural Cake d.o.o.  3  1 

 - Feniks Medika  1  - 

 - Sunglasses  1  - 

- Interest of Bank’s related parties  71  77 

 - Interest of shareholders (individuals)  13  24 

Total income  104  169 
     

Interest and fee expenses:     

 - Interest of shareholders (individuals)  81  9 

- Interest of Bank’s related parties  15  56 
     

General expenses     

Rent expenses  -  194 

Total expenses  96  259 
     

Net expenses  8  (90) 

 
Benefits to the top management and the Board of Directors on the basis of gross salaries in 2020 amounted 
to EUR 554 thousand (2019: EUR 509 thousand). 
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25. LITIGATIONS 
 
During 2020, Lovćen banka AD Podgorica was not involved in lawsuits as a plaintiff. In 2020, as a 
defendant, Lovćen banka was involved in four (4) disputes, as follows:  

- Hipotekarna banka AD, Lovćen banka AD, Commercial Court of Montenegro, compensation 
for damages (amount of the dispute € 441,503.00, alternatively € 220,752.00), in progress; 

- Vinka Nenezić, Lovćen banka AD, Basic Court in Nikšić, fulfilment of the contract (payment of 
the requested amount under the contract), in progress; 

- Slobodan Perišić, Lovćen banka AD, Basic Court in Kotor, property relations / nullity of the 
pledge statement;  
-Luka Nikčević, Božidar Vušurović, Lovćen banka AD, Commercial Court of Montenegro, 
shareholder relations. 

 
Lovćen banka is the plaintiff in the following cases:  

- Petar Dubreta and guarantors, the Basic Court in Kotor, passed from the enforcement 
procedure to the litigation - it is considered a lawsuit, 6,247.43, in progress and 

- Cast Lin DOO and Marso DOO, Commercial Court in Podgorica, moved from enforcement 
proceedings to litigation - is considered a lawsuit, 29,108.38, in progress. 

 
26. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual net profit belonging to common shareholders 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period. 
 

  2020.  2019. 
  

1,504 
 

1,880 
Gain for the year in EUR thousand  

Average weighted number of shares  38,717  35,900 
  

38,8460 
 

52,3677 
Gain/loss per share in EUR  

 
27. TAXATION RISKS 
 

Montenegro tax legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and legislative changes occur frequently. The 
interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the transactions and activities of the Bank may 
not differ from the views of the Bank's management. Consequently, transactions may be challenged by the 
relevant tax authorities and the Bank could be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest. The periods 
remain open to review by the tax and customs authorities with respect to tax liabilities for five years. This 
practically means that tax authorities could determine payment of outstanding liabilities in the period of five 
years from the origination of the liability. 
 
28. EXCHANGE RATES 
 

The official exchange rates used in the translation of the statement of financial position components 
denominated in foreign currencies into EUR as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

  December  
31, 2020. 

 December  
31, 2019 

USD  0.8143  0.8937 

CHF  0.9211  0.9199 

GBP  1.1073  1.1736 
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29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Pandemic of coronavirus – Covid 19 
 
At the date of these financial statements, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues. The duration 
of the pandemic and the extent of the impact on the economy are uncertain. The Bank actively monitors 
developments and assesses the impact on operations, financial results, financial position and cash 
flows. At the date of issue of these financial statements, the Bank has not identified significant events 
that would require corrections to the accompanying financial statements (corrective events).  
 
Apart from the above, there were no other significant events after the balance sheet date that could 
have an impact on the financial position and results of operations presented in the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
 
30. GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK 
 
In accordance with the Decision on the Content, Deadlines and Manner of Preparation and Submission of 
Financial Statements of Banks ("Official Gazette of Montenegro" no. 15/12 and 18/13 and 24/18) general 
information on the Bank is presented below: 
 
Bank’s name:     Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica; 
Address:     Bulevar Džordža Vašingtona 56/I, 81000 Podgorica; 
Registration number:    02829541 
Telephone/Fax:    + 382 (0) 20 205 410  
Web page:                             http://www.lovcenbanka.me 
E-mail:                                                     office@lovcenbanka.me 
 
As of December 31, 2020, the Bank had a head office seated in Podgorica and twelve branch offices 
and three counters. 
 
As of December 31, 2020, the Bank had 144 employees (December 31, 2019: 126 employees). 
 
Gyro account: 565-1-84. 
 
 
Lovćen banka, as a legal successor, originated from the change in the registered business activity and the 
name of “MFI Kontakt”, which submitted an application to the Central Bank of Montenegro on December 3, 
2013 for obtaining an operating license for Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica. 
 
The Bank is registered with the Central Registry of the Commercial Court under the number 4-0009270/011. 
 
On May 28, 2014 the Central Bank of Montenegro issued an operating license to the Bank. 
Lovćen Banka AD Podgorica commenced operations on 25 August 2014 and was founded by resident and 
non-resident entities, along with the German state fund DEG (KfW Group). 
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30. GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK (CONTINUED) 
Information on the Chairperson and members of the Board of Directors is presented below: 
 
1) as of December 31, 2020: 
 

Function 

First and 
last name Date of birth 

Residence 
data 

Address (street 
and number) 

1. Chairperson of the 
Board of Directors on 
a professional basis 

Aleksandra 
Popović 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Montenegro 

Personal data 
protected by law 

2. member 
Andreas 
Zeisler 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

3. member 
Blagota 
Radović 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Montenegro 

Personal data 
protected by law 

4. member 
Frieder 
Woehrmann  

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

5. member 
Mirjana 
Perendija 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Serbia 

Personal data 
protected by law 

6. member 

Klaus 
Ekkehard 
Glaubitt 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

7. member 
Ernst 
Welteke 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

 
 
2) as of December 31, 2019 
 

Function 

First and 
last name Date of birth 

Residence 
data 

Address (street 
and number) 

1. Chairperson of the 
Board of Directors on 
a professional basis 

Aleksandra 
Popović 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Montenegro 

Personal data 
protected by law 

2. member 
Andreas 
Zeisler 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

3. member 
Blagota 
Radović 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Montenegro 

Personal data 
protected by law 

4. member 
Frieder 
Woehrmann  

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

5. member 
Mirjana 
Perendija 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Serbia 

Personal data 
protected by law 

6. member 

Klaus 
Ekkehard 
Glaubitt 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

7. member 
Ernst 
Welteke 

Personal data 
protected by 
law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 
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30. GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK (CONTINUED) 

The Bank's top management is comprised of a team of experts whose portfolios meet the requirements and 
fulfil the responsibilities prescribed for managing Bank's operations on a daily basis, who have had experience 
in performing executive functions for a longer period of time as well as necessary leadership traits and 
competences. 
 
Bank's executive directors: 
 
1) from  9, March 2021.  

First and last name Function Function performed from: 

Dr Vinko Nikić CEO 16.06.2017 

Draško Trninić 
Executive director for retail with a network of 
branches and sub-branches 

12.01.2017 

Daniela Golubović 
Executive Director for Risk Management, 
Accounting and Finance, Back Office and 
Security 

01.11.2019 

Edin Ćeranić 
Executive Director for Business with Legal 
Entities 

09.03.2021 

 

2) from 31, December 2020 

First and last name Function Function performed from: 

Dr Vinko Nikić CEO 16.06.2017 

Draško Trninić 
Executive Director for Retail Banking and 
Branch Offices, Treasury and Call-center 

12.01.2017 

Daniela Golubović 
Executive Director for Risk, Finance, 
Accounting, Back Office and Security 

01.11.2019 

 

3) from 31, December 2019 

First and last name Function Function performed from: 

Dr Vinko Nikić CEO 16.06.2017 

Draško Trninić 
Executive Director for Retail Banking and 
Branch Offices, 

12.01.2017 

Daniela Golubović 
Executive Director for Risk Management, 
Finance and Accounting, IT and Liquidity 

01.11.2019 
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30. GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK (CONTINUED) 
 
I. Audit Committee: 
Mirjana Perendija, Chairperson 
Miro Perović, member 
PhD Adis Balota, member 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for:  
1) analyzes and monitors the functioning of the risk management system to which the Bank is exposed 

in its operations and makes proposals for the improvement of strategies, policies and procedures for 
risk management,  

2) analyze and monitor the functioning of the internal control system,  
3) review the internal audit program and reports and give an opinion on the internal audit findings,  
4) monitor the implementation of internal audit recommendations, 
5)  analyze the financial statements of the Bank before submitting them to the Board of Directors, 
6)  evaluate the quality of reports and information before submitting them to the board of directors, and 

in particular:- application of accounting policies and procedures, - decisions that require a high 
degree of assessment, - the impact of unusual transactions on the financial statements, - quality of 
data aggregation policies, - changes resulting from performed audits, - business sustainability 
assumptions, - compliance with international financial reporting standards and regulations,  

7) give an opinion on the selection of the Bank's external auditor and propose the amount of the audit 
fee. 

The Audit Committee, in accordance with the Law and the Statute of the Bank, prepares proposals, 
opinions and positions from its scope of work, for the decision of the Board of Directors on these issues. 
The manner of work and reporting of the Board of Directors is defined by the Rules of Procedure of this 
body. 
 
II. In accordance with the law and applying the best practice in the field of corporate governance, the 
Board of Directors has formed four permanent, specialized, advisory and subsidiary bodies: 
 
1. ASSET AND LIABILITIES MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
The Bank's Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO) is required to monitor the Bank's 
exposure to risks arising from the structure of its balance sheet liabilities and receivables and off-
balance sheet items, proposes liquidity risk management measures and ensures that the Bank can 
meet all its monetary obligations. maturity. 
 
2. The Credit Risk Management Committee 
 

The Credit Risk Management Committee is a specialized and subsidiary body of the Board of Directors 
that: 
- is responsible for analyzing each individual request and measuring any potential risk that such a 

request may create and proposing to the Board of Directors to make decisions on the approval of the 
execution of transactions in accordance with the limits of individual exposure or group of related 
exposures established by credit risk management policies and procedures, transaction limits Lovćen 
Bank AD, as well as the procedure for dealing with persons related to the Bank; 

- consider and propose to the Board of Directors the credit risk management strategy and policies of 
the Bank; 

- considers the types and limits of exposures, monitors the central exposure records of the Bank and, 
in this connection, makes recommendations for transactions within the competence of the Board of 
Directors, 

- monthly monitors the Credit Committee's report on approved loans during the previous month and 
proposes to the Board of Directors to change the lending policy, loan catalog and / or improvement 
measures; 

- on the basis of the submitted reports, monthly analyzes the structure of the loan portfolio and 
proposes measures for its improvement in accordance with the competences of the Board of 
Directors; 

- quarterly analyzes the quality of collateral and proposes improvement measures in accordance with 
the responsibilities of the Board of Directors. 
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3. Nominating and Compensation Committee 
 
Nominating and Compensation Committee: 
- propose to the Board of Directors the conditions and criteria for membership of the Board of Directors 

and for the appointment of individuals to the Executive Directors of the Bank; 
- recommends to the Board of Directors the appointment of executive directors and other persons with 

special powers and responsibilities; 
- Considers and determines the need to recall members of the Board of Directors and to dismiss CEOs 

and other persons appointed by the Board of Directors, 
- propose to the Board of Directors the adoption of remuneration policies in accordance with the Bank's 

business strategy, goals, values and long-term interests and monitor the development and 
functioning of the Remuneration System, 

- propose the level of remuneration of CEOs and persons whose appointment falls within the 
competence of the Board of Directors; 

- determine the proposal of the amount of remuneration for independent members of the committee of 
the Board of Directors; 

- proposes a remuneration policy in relation to the objectives achieved (eg bonuses, compensation in 
the form of actions, other motivational benefits, etc.). 

 
4. OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
The Operational Risk Management Committee is responsible for monitoring, directing and supervising 
the operational risk management in the Bank.  
 
The Operational Risk Management Committee shall in particular:  
• considers operational risk management strategies, policies and procedures and accompanying 
methodologies and submits them to the Board of Directors for adoption;  
• proposes to the Board of Directors measures to improve the operational risk management system;  
• reviews the Bank's operational risk base and proposes activities to improve operational risk 
management; • determines the proposal for the organization and implementation of activities in the field 
of operational risk management in individual organizational units; • reviews the calculation of regulatory 
capital required for operational risk;  
• performs a review of operational risk stress testing; 
• reviews monthly reports on:  
- the occurrence of operational risk events, with monitoring the implementation of measures to eliminate 
the damage caused by the occurrence of events and prevent the occurrence of such and similar events 
in the future, 
- identification and self-assessment of potential operational risks by individual processes,  
- tolerance towards operational risk and operational risk profile, on which it makes recommendations 
and sends them to the Board of Directors for adoption. 
 
The permanent bodies of the Board of Directors prepare proposals, opinions and positions from their 
scope of work for the decision of the Board of Directors on these issues. The manner of work, 
competencies and other issues related to the work and manner of reporting to the Board of Directors 
shall be regulated in more detail by the rules of procedure of these bodies. 
 
Top management structure 
 
Credit Committee 
 
The Bank's Articles of Association stipulate that for more efficient risk management in the Bank entrusted 
to them by the Banking Law, the Chief Executive Officer and at least one other Executive Director may 
form a Credit Committee, as well as a special decision regulating the composition, authority, 
responsibility and other issues. for the work of the Credit Committee. For the relevant period of this 
report in the Bank was: Decision on the establishment of the credit committee no. I-131 of 10 January 
2020. According to these decisions, the Credit Committee consists of 5 members with the right to decide 
up to EUR 300,000 of exposures to natural persons and related persons, or up to the amount of EUR 
800,000 of exposures to legal entities and related persons. 



LOVĆEN BANKA AD, PODGORICA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

(all amounts in thousands EUR, unless otherwise stated) 
 

This is a translation of the original document issued in the Montenegrin language. All due care has been taken to produce a 
translation that is faithful as possible to the original. However, if any questions arise related to interpretation of the information 

contained in the translation, the Montenegrin version of the document shall prevail. 

100 

 
The Bank's Articles of Association stipulate that the Chief Executive Officer may form committees, 
commissions, appoint advisors, etc. for more efficient performance of tasks entrusted to him, which 
are not considered part of the Bank's corporate governance system in terms of the Bank's Articles of 
Association and law. 
 
Ten largest shareholders as of March 31, 2021: 

Name of the person / company  
Residence / 

Registered Address  

Number 
of 

Shares  % ownership 

 

Aleksandra Popović – zajednički račun  
(Aleksandra Popović (6453/10758), 
Andrej Perović (840/10758), Katarina 
Perović (840/10758),  Miljan Mališ 
(291/10758), Vinko Nikić (643/10758), 
Jovana Popović (325/10758), Svetozar 
Jovićević (90/10758), Nenad Radulović 
(322/10758), Norah Licet Becerra Farfan 
(184/10758), Predrag Vušurović 
(152/10758), Mirjana Perović 
(400/10758), Ljubiša Mitrović 
(185/10758), Draško Trninić (33/10758))  

Personal data 

protected by law 
 

 
10,758  25.60% 

DEG  
Germany, Koln, 
Kammergasse  10,567  25.14% 

Zetagradnja doo Podgorica  

Montenegro, Podgorica, 
Bulevar Ivana Crnojevića 
99/2  

 
9,448  22.47% 

Incofin CVSO  
Personal data 
protected by law  3,636  8.65% 

Božidar Vušurović  
Personal data 
protected by law  4,749  11.37% 

Luka Gavrila Nikčević  
Personal data 
protected by law  2,322  6.05% 

Ivana Tatar-Radulović  
Personal data 
protected by law  421  1.00% 

Ana Pejović  
Personal data 
protected by law  68  0.16% 

Radovan Vučinić  
Personal data 
protected by law  16  0.04% 

Mirjana Perendija  
Personal data 
protected by law  48  0.11% 

 
Nebojša Đurović  

Personal data 
protected by law  3  0.01% 

     42,036  100.00% 

 
Audit firm that audited the financial statements for 2020: Crowe MNE d.o.o. Podgorica, Vučedolska 7, 

81000 Podgorica, Montenegro.   
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ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTORY WORD BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
 

 
The business year 2020 was one of the most difficult business years in recent history, when the whole 
humanity was put to the test, all caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. This was a year of struggle to 
preserve human lives and health, but also a year in which processes had to be carried out and the set 
goals achieved. Summarizing this difficult and atypical business year, and having in mind the 
achievements of Lovćen Bank, we can say with special satisfaction and pride that despite all the 
problems at the local and global level, we have achieved, as a real team, the results that are 
encouraging and above all expectations. 
 
If we take into account the fact that the decline in profitability in the banking sector compared to 2019 
was higher than 50%, and in Lovćen Bank about 20%, while by all other parameters the growth was 
above the planned values, then we can conclude that in this business year full of temptation we have 
achieved results that deserve attention. 
 
Even under such difficult and uncertain business conditions of the business year 2020, Lovćen Bank 
paid full attention to its clients, listening to their needs. 
In that sense, regardless of the fact that the Covid pandemic was in full swing, Lovćen Bank did not 
stop investing in expansion of its network, so we opened two new branches in Podgorica and Mojkovac, 
intending to meet the needs of our clients. 
 
In the year when many sectors of the economy completely stopped, we supported a number of 
significant investment projects, guided by the vision that development had no alternative and that the 
results will come in the future. We have thus shown that our Bank is slowly and surely becoming a 
significant factor in creating the overall economic environment. 
  
With our support, we have shown respect to customers for their loyalty and trust. 
 
We are especially pleased that in the year of complete isolation, we have significantly expanded the 
client base of natural persons, who, expressing confidence in everything that Lovćen Bank did, became 
our clients and redirected their earnings payment to our Bank. It is important to note here that the 
segment of housing loans had a very large expansion, which solved a large number of housing needs 
of citizens throughout Montenegro, which made us especially satisfied. We will continue this type of 
support this year through the state Project 1000+, in which Lovćen Bank has been participating from 
the beginning, giving its full contribution, and we are happy that the trust of our clients to solve such 
crucial life issues is growing every day. 
 
We are especially proud that in the year full of difficulties and challenges, we showed that we were a 
socially responsible institution, giving full support through donations in health, sports, youth and other 
areas, which we will continue to do in accordance with our capabilities. 
 
As it was clear that the Covid-19 pandemic will mark the business year 2020, there are also visible 
indications that it will be slowly disappearing during this and next year, so we as an Institution are ready 
to help the recovery of our economy, providing support to our existing and future clients.  
 
At the same time, the pandemic has shown that such or similar situations easily become a reality of life, 
which indicates to us that constant innovation must be there. 
 
With customers and our employees representing our highest priority, in the period ahead, a special 
focus will be on innovation. 
 
This is supported by the fact that we are in the process of implementing several important projects, 
which will give new value and a completely new, modern dimension to our Bank, which will make it even 
more recognizable in the market. 
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1. KEY BUSINESS INDICATORS IN 2020: 

 

DESCRIPTION 2020 2019 

1 2 3 

BALANCE SHEET ASSETS 237,836 198,739 

GROSS LOANS  176,333 156,565 

 Retail loans 86,187 76,908 

 Corporate loans 90,146 79,657 

CLIENT’S DEPOSITS 162,169 151,050 

Retail deposits 111,076 105,072 

Corporate deposits 51,093 45,978 

      

LOSS/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS AFTER 
TAXES 

1,504 1,880 

PROFITABILITY PARAMETERS     

  ROA -  gain / balance assets % 0.63 0.95 

  ROE – gain / total capital % 6.59 9.66 

NET INTEREST INCOME 8,044 7,728 

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME  141 273 

      

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  144 128 

Assets per employee in 000  EUR 1,652 1,553 

OPERATING EXPENSES 5,873 5,375 

INDICATORS     

SOLVENCY RATIO  % 14.23 14.92 

LIQUIDITY RATIO  % 2.47 1.66 

CASH FLOW IN 000 EUR 59,013 36,795 

Interest income / interest bearing assets % 6.47 6.60 

Net interest income / interest bearing assets % 4.50 4.67 

Net interest and fee income / interest bearing assets 
% 

4.58 4.83 

Interest expense / interest bearing liabilities % 2.28 2.74 

Operating expenses / total expenses % 49.67 48.77 

Operating expenses / liabilities % 2.470 2.70 

Liquid assets / deposits % 30.76 24.36 

Liquid assets / total assets % 24.81 18.52 

Liquid assets / short-term liabilities % 43.64 29.40 

Approved loans / Deposits 108.69 103.65 
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1. KEY INDICATORS OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN 2020 (CONTINUED): 

 
1.1. ASSETS 

 

The total assets of banks at the end of December 2020 amounted to EUR 4,587 million and decreased 
compared to the end of 2019 by EUR 17,413 million or 0.4%. The largest share of assets relates to 
loans and receivables from banks and customers which account for 68.9% of total assets. Five large 
banks (OTP Bank, Erste Bank, Montenegrobanka NLB, Hipotekarna Bank and Prva Bank) control 
73.65% of the total assets of banks. The largest bank in the system participates with 28.44% in total 
assets, which is also a consequence of the merger of CKB and Podgoricka Bank. 

 
Chart 1. Total assets and market share                                                  EUR (000)                                                              

  
 
Lovćen Banka AD is the No. 7 (2019: No. 9) by market share of total assets. Compared to 2019 
the growth of total assets of EUR 39 million or 19.67%.was achieved.  

 

1.1.1.  LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 
Total loans and receivables from banks and customers at the aggregate level amounted to EUR 3,159 
million at the end of 2020, which represents an annual growth of 3.2%. At the end of December 2020, 
total loans and receivables from customers amounted to EUR 2,804 million. 
 
Chart 2. Total loans and receivables from clients and market share   EUR (000)                                                      
        

  
 
In 2020, Lovćen Bank achieved the fourth nominal growth of total loans and receivables from customers 
in the system. If we look at total loans and receivables from customers, Lovćen Bank ranks 6th 
according to market share (2019: 8th), while in the annual period it achieved nominal growth of 
loans and receivables from customers in the amount of EUR 19.8 million, i.e. growth of 12.76%.  
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ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

1. KEY INDICATORS OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN 2020 (CONTINUED): 
 

1.2. DEPOSITS 
 
Taking into account the total customer deposits as at 31.12.2020, amounting to EUR 3,373 million, 
Lovćen Bank ranks 7th (2019: 9th place) according to market share of customer deposits with 
4.85%, while in terms of absolute annual change in the level of deposits it ranks 3rd in the 
banking sector and one is of the five banks that had a positive change in deposits at the end of 
2020, while other banks recorded a decline on an annual basis. 
 
Chart 3. Total deposits of clients and market share          EUR (000)                                                              
 

  

 
At the end of 2020, Lovćen Bank's customer deposits grew by EUR 11,121 thousand or 7.4% in the 
annual period. 
 
The loan/deposit ratio at the level of the banking sector was 0.94 at the end of December 2020 and is 
lower compared to the previous month when it was 0.96, while it is higher compared to December 2019, 
when it was 0.88. 
 
Chart 4: Loans/deposits 
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ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

1. KEY INDICATORS OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN 2020 (CONTINUED): 

 

1.3. CAPITAL 
 
Total capital of banks as of 31.12.2020 was EUR 589 million. Compared to December 2019, the total 
capital decreased by EUR 8.5 million or 1%. Total capital of Lovćen Bank as at 31.12.2020 was EUR 
22,820 thousand. Lovćen Bank ranks 7th in the banking sector by market share of capital (2019: 
9th place) 
 
Chart 5.   Total capital EUR (000)                                                              
 

 
 

1.4.  PROFITABILITY 
 

At the end of 2020, 11 banks operated positively, with a total profit of approximately EUR 22.3 million, 
while one bank reported a total loss of EUR 1 million. Lovćen Bank is at the 8th place according to 
achieved financial result. 
 
Chart 6. Net profit                                                                                                       EUR (000)                                                              
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ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

1. KEY INDICATORS OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN 2020 (CONTINUED): 

 

1.4.  PROFITABILITY(Continued) 
 
Chart 7. ROA 

 
 

Lovćen Bank reached 5th place when it comes to indicator of return on total assets in the 
amount of 0.63% (2019: 0.95%). 

 
Chart 8. ROE 

 

According to market share when it comes to return on total equity Lovćen Banka hold 3rd 

place among domestic banks in the amount of 6.59% (2019: 9.66%). 

Chart 9.  CIR 

 

General expenses/net profit ratio of Lovćen Bank is 71.75% (2019: 67.18%). According to this 

indicator, Lovćen Bank ranks 6th in the banking sector. 
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ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

2. BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 

2.1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BANK 
 

The Board of Directors governs the Bank and supervises its operations. The Board of Directors 
performs all its activities and obligations in accordance with the law, the Articles of Association and the 
Rules of Procedure. 

 
The Board of Directors of the Bank is composed of experienced banking and business experts with 
proven successfulness in all businesses and projects that they have implemented as managers of 
significant institutions in the country or abroad.  

 
Table 1 -  Board of Directors of the Bank 
 
As at 4 June 20191 

Position Name and surname Year of birth 
Country of 

residence 

1. full-time Chairperson Aleksandra Popović  1966 Montenegro  

2. member Dr Andreas Zeisler  1959 Germany 

3. member Frieder Woehrmann  1967 Germany 

4. member Blagota Radović 1958 Montenegro 

5. member Mirjana Perendija 1955 Serbia 

6. member Dr Klaus Glaubitt 1944 Germany 

7. member Ernst Welteke 1942 Germany 

 
 
Pursuant to Article 34 of the Banking Law, the Board of Directors is, inter alia, responsible for the 
security of operations and financial stability of the Bank. 
 
In the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020, the Board of Directors of Lovćen Bank AD performed 
its regular activities through meetings, of which a total of fifty-six (56) was held in that period - 12 regular, 
monthly, and 44 extraordinary, electronic meetings. During these meetings, the Board of Directors 
focused on implementing the activities prescribed by Article 33 of the Banking Law, as well as 
considering and accepting the recommendations of the Board of Directors bodies on strengthening the 
internal control system, as well as risk management and reporting functions. The Board of Directors 
regularly and continuously monitored the work of independent functions and the implementation of 
recommendations from Internal Audit reports and reports of the Authorized Person for Monitoring 
Compliance with Regulations, which were submitted to the Board of Directors for consideration and 
adoption. At its meeting held on 28 May 2020, the Board of Directors considered and adopted the 
Independent External Auditor's Report and the Bank's Annual Report for 2019. In order to prepare for 
the Bank Assets Quality Assessment Project, in addition to previously implemented activities, the Board 
of Directors adopted the decision on the selection of the Audit Company Deloitte as a consultant for the 
implementation of the assessment of the Bank's readiness for AQR. In order to provide conditions for 
the smooth implementation of the Asset Quality Assessment (AQR) project, on 27 July 2020, the Board 
of Directors selected the Audit Company PricewaterhouseCoopers d.o.o. for AQR auditor of Lovćen 
Bank AD Podgorica. Also, at the meeting held on 26 October 2020, the Board of Directors selected the 
Audit Company CROWE MNE d.o.o. Podgorica for the audit of regular annual financial statements as 
of 31 December 20202. The Board of Directors convened and determined the proposals of Decisions 
for XVIII (the eighteenth) extraordinary and VI regular annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 
Lovćen Bank AD Podgorica, which were held on 14 February and 28 May 2020. The Board of Directors 
also convened and determined proposals of the decisions for XIX (the nineteenth) extraordinary 
General Meeting of Shareholders of Lovćen Bank AD Podgorica, which was held on 5 November 2020, 
in order to harmonize the Bank's Articles of Association with the Law on Business Organizations, as 
well as implementation of the issue of shares based on debt conversion into the Bank's share capital3. 

 
1 Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial Entities No. 4-0009270/039 of 4 June 2019 
2 Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial Entities No. 4-0009270/050 of 3 December 2020 
3 Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial Entities No. 4-0009270/049 of 24 November 2020 
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ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

2. BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 

2.1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 
 

Due to the coronavirus pandemic (COVID 19), starting from 16 March 2020, the Board of Directors held 

weekly video (zoom) meetings with the Bank's management and the chairpersons of the Board of 

Directors bodies, at which it was regularly informed about all measures taken by the Government of 

Montenegro and, in particular, the Central Bank of Montenegro, for the purpose of mitigating the 

negative consequences of Covid-19 pandemic. Starting from the initial meeting held by the Central 

Bank of Montenegro on 16 March 2020 with Chief Executive Officers of commercial banks, to discuss 

the situation and define activities in the direction of preserving financial stability, the Board of Directors 

intensively followed all activities carried out by the Central Bank of Montenegro in that period, with 

special focus on the implementation of the moratorium and application of the Decision on Interim 

Measures to Reduce the Impact of the New Coronavirus on the financial system and after mitigation of 

the measures for protection of the population against infectious diseases. The Board of Directors also 

monitored the reports on the activities of the Bank's Crisis Team in the implementation of the BCP, as 

well as the activities carried out by this body in order to protect the lives and health of employees and 

clients of the Bank. Also, the Board of Directors followed with special attention the liquidity reports and, 

in that regard, the movement of deposits. In order to preserve the liquidity and financial stability of the 

Bank, as well as to support the economy and households, the Board of Directors, in the said period, 

approved the conclusions of credit arrangements with credible financial institutions and funds. 

During 2020, especially in the second half of the year, the Board of Directors was acquainted in detail 
with the issues of application / postponement of the application of laws that will regulate the operations 
of financial institutions, so that the Bank could timely adjust its operations to new regulatory 
requirements. 
At the meetings held in December 2020, after a series of thematic interactive meetings with 
representatives of the Bank's expert bodies and consultants, on 18 December 2020, the Board of 
Directors determined the Strategic Business Plan for the period 2021-2025 and made a decision on 
migration to the new main banking application Dabar V5 Core banking solution of the provider Dabar 
Informatika doo from Croatia. In order to further strengthen the functioning of the internal control system, 
the Board of Directors, at the proposal of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, accepted the 
offer of Glenfield Training & Consulting doo Belgrade to provide consulting services to Lovćen Bank AD 
Podgorica to harmonize the organization with new regulatory requirements and establish a performance 
management system. 
Also, recognizing the need for organizational and personnel completion, especially from the aspect of 

functional division in the exercise of executive functions, at the proposal of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors of the Bank, by Decision No. 02-64 / 29 of 30.12.2020 

elected Edin Ćeranić as the Executive Director of Lovćen Banka AD4. In addition to fulfilling obligations 

and implementing the above activities, the Board of Directors continued to monitor the status of 

implementation of recommendations and findings from the Report of the Central Bank of Montenegro 

on the examination of Lovćen Bank at regular meetings.  

2.2. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS OF THE BANK 
 
The Executive Management of the Bank is composed of a team of experts who meet the 

requirements and responsibilities prescribed for bank management tasks on a daily basis, have 
experience in performing executive functions over a longer period, as well as the required leadership 
characteristics and competencies. 
 
Executive directors, within the specific areas of business they manage, are responsible for: 
1) organization and management of business activities; 
2) supervision of the work of employees; 
3) legality of work and business results; 
4) risk management;  

 
4 Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial Entities No. 4-0009270/051 of 9 March 2021 
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2.  BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS OF THE BANK (Continued) 
 
5) implementation of the Articles of Association, other general documents and decisions of the Bank 
within its scope of work; 
6) direct implementation of the recommendations of the Central Bank of Montenegro; 
7) proposing policies, procedures and other documents to the Bank's bodies; 
8) cooperation with competent state and other bodies in matters of interest for the work of the Bank; 
9) concluding contracts within the scope of their competence, in accordance with the Rules on signing 
in the Bank; 
10) proposing measures for the improvement of risk management system, strategies and policies of the 
specific business areas they manage. 
 
Chief Executive Officer represents the Bank. 
 
When taking legal actions in the name and on behalf of the Bank, Chief Executive Officer must ensure 
the signature of at least one Executive Director – according to the four-eye principle, unless otherwise 
authorized by the Board of Directors or the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
Table 2 – Executive Directors of the Bank  

NAME AND 
SURNAME 

FUNCTION Holding position since 

Vinko Nikić Chief Executive Officer5 16.06.2017 

Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail and Branch Network 12.01.2017 

Daniela Golubović 
Executive Director for Risk Management, Finance 
and Accounting, Back Office and Security 

01.11.2019 

 

2.3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS' BODIES 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for: 
1) analyzing and monitoring the functioning of the system of managing risks to which the Bank is exposed 
in its operations and making proposals for the improvement of strategies, policies and procedures for risk 
management, 
2) analyzing and monitoring the functioning of the internal control system, 
3) reviewing the internal audit program and reports and giving an opinion on the internal audit findings, 
4) monitoring the implementation of internal audit recommendations, 
5) analyzing the financial statements of the Bank before submitting them to the Board of Directors, 
6) evaluating the quality of reports and information before submitting them to the Board of Directors, and in 
particular: 
- application of accounting policies and procedures, 
- decisions that require a high degree of assessment, 
- the impact of unusual transactions on the financial statements, 
- quality of data aggregation policies, 
- changes resulting from performed audits, 
- business sustainability assumptions, 
- compliance with IFRS and regulations, 
7) giving an opinion on the selection of the Bank's external auditor and proposing the amount of the audit 
fee. 
In accordance with the Law and the Articles of Association of the Bank, the Audit Committee provides 
proposals, opinions and positions from its scope of work for the decision-making by the Board of 
Directors on these issues. The manner of work and reporting to the Board of Directors are defined by 
the Rules of Procedure of this body. 

 
5 Vinko Nikić has been Executive Director of the Bank for Commercial Affairs (especially focusing on business with 
legal entities) since the start of the Bank's operation, Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial Entities No. 
4-0009270/012 of 22 August 2014. From 16.06.2017, Vinko Nikić has been Chief Executive Officer of Lovćen Bank 
AD, Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial Entities No. 4-0009270/029 of 16.06.2017.  
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2. BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 

 

2.3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS' BODIES (Continued) 
 
In accordance with the Law and applying the best practice in the area of corporate governance, the 
Board of Directors has established four permanent, specialized, advisory and ancillary bodies: 
 

1. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

The Bank's Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO) is obliged to monitor the Bank's 
exposure to risks arising from the structure of its balance sheet liabilities and receivables and off-
balance sheet items, propose liquidity risk management measures and ensure that the Bank can meet 
all its monetary obligations upon their maturity. 
 

2. CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
The Credit Risk Management Committee:  

-  analyzes each individual request and measures any potential risk that such request may create 

and proposes to the Board of Directors adoption of decisions on approving transactions in 

accordance with the limits of individual exposures or group of related exposures determined in the 

policies and procedures for credit risk management, transaction limits of Lovćen Bank AD, as well 

as Procedure for Operations with Bank Related Parties; 

- considers and proposes to the Board of Directors the Credit Risk Management Strategy and 

Policies of the Bank  

- considers types and limits of exposures, monitors central records on Bank’s exposures and gives 

recommendations regarding the transactions falling under the competence of the Board of 

Directors, 

- reviews monthly the reports of the Credit Committee on loans approved during the previous month 

and proposes to the Board of Directors the changes in the lending policy, loan catalog and/or 

measures for improvement  

- based on submitted reports, analyzes the structure of the loan portfolio on a monthly basis and 

proposes measures for its improvement in accordance with the Board of Directors responsibilities; 

- analyzes the quality of collaterals quarterly and proposes measures for improvement in accordance 

with the Board of Directors responsibilities. 

 

3. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee: 

- proposes to the Board of Directors the conditions and criteria for the membership in the Board 
of Directors and for nomination of individuals for the Executive Directors of the Bank; 

- recommends to the Board of Directors nomination of Executive Directors and other persons 
with special powers and responsibilities; 

- considers and determines the need for revocation of the members of the Board of Directors 
and for dismissal of Executive Directors and other persons appointed by the Board of Directors, 

- proposes to the Board of Directors the adoption of remuneration policies in accordance with 
the business strategy, goals, values and long-term interests of the Bank, and monitors the 
development and functioning of the Remuneration System, 

- proposes the amount of salaries of Executive Directors and persons whose appointment is 
under the competence of the Board of Directors; 

- determines the proposal for the amount of remuneration for work to independent members of 
the committees of the Board of Directors; 

- propose a rewarding policy in relation to the achieved goals (e.g. bonuses, rewards in the form 

of shares, other motivation fees, etc.). 
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2. BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 

 

2.3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS' BODIES (Continued) 

 
 

4. OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
The Operational Risk Management Committee is responsible for monitoring, directing and supervising 
the operational risk management in the Bank. 

 
The Operational Risk Management Committee shall in particular: 
- review operational risk management strategies, policies and procedures and accompanying 

methodologies and submit them to the Board of Directors for adoption; 
- propose to the Board of Directors measures for the improvement of the operational risk 

management system; 
- review the Bank's operational risk database and propose activities to improve operational risk 

management; 
- determine the proposal for organization and implementation of activities in the field of operational 

risk management in individual organizational units; 
- review the calculation of capital requirement for operational risk; 
- perform a review of stress testing of operational risk; 
- review monthly reports on: 

- the occurrence of operational risk events, with monitoring of the implementation of measures for 
elimination of damage following the occurrence of events and prevention of the occurrence of such 
and similar events in the future, 
- identification and self-assessment of potential operational risks by individual processes, 
- tolerance towards operational risk and operational risk profile, on which it makes 
recommendations and sends them to the Board of Directors for adoption. 

 
The permanent bodies of the Board of Directors prepare proposals, opinions and positions from their 
scope of work for the decision of the Board of Directors on those issues. The manner of work, 
competences and other issues related to the work and manner of reporting to the Board of Directors 
shall be regulated in more detail by the rules of procedure of these bodies. 
 
 

2.4. BODIES OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

 

CREDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Article 49 of the Bank's Articles of Association stipulates that for the purpose of more efficient risk 
management in the Bank, defined by the Banking Law, Chief Executive Officer and minimum one more 
Executive Director, are obliged, by a special decision, to form the Credit Committee, which shall decide 
on approvals of loans and other transactions in accordance with the law and Bank’s documents.  The 
Decision on the formation of the Credit Committee regulates the composition, authority, responsibility 
and other issues of importance for the work of the Credit Committee.  
 
For the relevant period of this report, the Bank had: Decision on the formation of the Credit Committee 
No. I-131 of 10 January 2020. According to this decision, the Credit Committee consists of 5 members 
with the right to decide on exposures up to EUR 300,000 to natural persons and their related persons, 
or exposures up to the amount of EUR 800,000 to legal entities and their related persons. 
 
The Bank's Articles of Association (Article 50 paragraph 1) stipulates that Chief Executive Officer, for 
the purpose of more efficient performance of activities entrusted to him/her may form boards, 
committees, appoint advisors, etc. which are not considered part of the corporate system in the meaning 
of the Articles of Association and the law. 
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2. BANK'S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 

 

2.5. INFORMATION ON INVESTMENTS IN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
 
Every year, Lovćen Bank undertakes a number of activities in order to improve the process of managing 
environmental and social risks (Environmental and Social Risk - E&S). Namely, with the consulting 
support of DEG which pays considerable attention to this issue, the Bank's expert units have 
implemented a series of innovated internal documents from the area of E&S risks management. The 
documents specify in detail all necessary elements E&S risks decision-making process, E&S risks 
management and monitoring of E&S performance of clients.  

  
The Bank has conducted the training of employees on the topic of expanding the culture of risk 
management improvement for the purpose of environmental protection, at which obligations and 
responsibilities in the management of E&S risks were presented. The training was carried out in 
accordance with the highest standards, by the team of DEG consultants who transferred their 
experience regarding these risks management in the countries with highly developed environmental 
protection. 

 

2.6. PLANNED FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BANK 
 
 

Despite the fact that 2020 was marked by business challenges due to the pandemic, Lovćen Bank 
continued on its development path as much as possible, with the goal of helping Montenegrin 
companies and citizens in adequately even in times of crisis. 
The Bank has expanded its business network by opening two new branches, in Podgorica and 
Mojkovac, which made a total of 13 branches and 2 counters at the most attractive locations. In addition 
to opening new ones, three branches were moved to new, more attractive locations, in Herceg Novi, 
Budva and Kotor.  
From the product aspect, the pandemic period did not prevent further development and launch of new 
products, all with the aim to continuously provide efficient and innovative solutions for customer needs, 
whether for the development of their business or for everyday needs. 
In accordance with the digital transformation strategy, the first digital products have been developed 
and marketed, the aim of which was to increase flexibility in satisfying the daily needs of the Bank's 
clients. In February 2020, my Lovćen mBanking was launched, which was a product that allows clients 
to track personal finances and perform all transactions without going to the branch, from a mobile 
phone. This type of comfort and service, as well as the moment of launching, proved to be extremely 
important given the fact that in the territory of Montenegro the Covid-19 pandemic was declared less 
than a month after the launching of this service. Having in mind that certain demographic groups do not 
have a high level of digital literacy, in the second half of 2020 my Lovćen SMS service was developed, 
which allowed clients to pay monthly bills via SMS, without going to the Bank or Post Office. 
In addition to digital products, in the next 6 months, customers were offered more favorable interest 
rates on time deposits, in which the Bank was the market leader, offering an additional 0.5% to existing 
rates during the promotional period. 
In the retail lending segment, special emphasis was placed on retirees as one of the more vulnerable 
groups, particularly affected by the pandemic. The placement of a new type of loan for pensioners with 
a free life insurance policy and without insight into the health card proved to be fruitful, as indicated by 
the fact that the number of these loans doubled in 2020.  
In addition, for pensioners in Podgorica, during this challenging period, a unique service called STAY 
AT HOME, HEALTHY AND SAFE - WE WILL COME TO YOU, which provided payment of pensions at 
the locations suitable for them, outside the Bank, fully observing epidemiological measures. Along with 
this socially responsible action and in the desire to fight the consequences of the pandemic as efficiently 
as possible, a donation for the purchase of respirators was organized to be sent to the National 
Coordination Body for Infectious Diseases, as well as the distribution of protective masks to Podgorica 
citizens in cooperation with MasterCard. 
We are proud to point out that in the previous year, despite all the difficulties, the Bank managed to 
maintain the set course of being a socially responsible, dedicated, unique and loyal partner of all citizens 
and business entities of Montenegro.   
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2. BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continued) 

 

 2.6. PLANNED FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BANK (Continued) 
 

 
In accordance with the digital transformation strategy, Lovćen Bank has directed its strategic decisions 
towards increasing the degree of digitalization, both within the Bank and externally, through the 
development of digitalized services. In September 2020 a big project of Digital onboarding with the 
partner MasterCard started, and the Bank's defined its plans for the next 3-5 years. In order to meet 
demanding and challenging goals, at the end of the year the Bank made a strategic decision to change 
the CORE system, which lays the foundations for the implementation of very ambitious digital products 
and services for customers. Digitalization is the process that will last and during which conditions will 
be gradually created for even more innovative and efficient products and processes, all with the aim of 
taking a significant place in the market. Thus, 2021 will be a year of transformations and technological 
adaptations for new products and services, which will be visible in the market starting from 2022. Efforts 
will be invested in improvement of electronic banking, in terms of simplifying operations and adding new 
functionalities and services that provide customers with greater comfort and autonomy. In the field of 
card business, the focus will be on cards with additional benefits, as well as the growth of the existing 
business in the area of retail and corporate products. In the part of business with corporate clients, the 
development of e-commerce and setting up of POS network at retailers is also planned. 

In addition, the Bank will continue to innovate existing products. One way of innovation of existing 
products is the introduction of bankassurance, as a risk-free product that can be offered at the Bank's 
branches when selling loans or product packages. The introduction of bankassurance enables the 
expansion of the business portfolio,  increase in the network profitability and customer loyalty, as well 
as the increase in market competitiveness. 

The Bank will continuously improve its products and services, in terms of quality and speed, with special 
emphasis on benefits tailored to customer needs.  
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3. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 
 

The Bank has established and it maintains and improves a comprehensive, efficient and effective 

system of internal control, which is ensured through: efficiency and effectiveness of performance of 

operations at all levels of competence in the Bank, reliability, timeliness and completeness of financial 

and other information on the Bank's operations, compliance with the law, other regulations and general 

documents of the Bank. 

The Bank develops and maintains a system that enables efficient operations, adequate risk control, 

reliability of financial and non-financial information, and compliance of the Bank's operations with laws, 

by-laws and internal documents of the Bank. 

By its internal control system, the Bank primarily controls the area of  the Bank's management, as well 

as accounting and finance. 

The control in the area of Bank management, as a minimum includes: 

- establishment, monitoring and development of the organizational structure of the Bank, with 

defined individual duties and authorizations; 

- monitoring of procedures and records related to the decision-making on business transactions 

at all levels of management. 

The control in the field of accounting as a minimum includes the control of compliance with plans, 

policies and procedures that ensure: 

 
- execution of business transactions in accordance with the decisions of the Bank's bodies; 

- timely and accurate bookkeeping of business transactions, which enables the preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with the law and International Accounting Standards, i.e. 

International Financial Reporting Standards, with the possibility of checking and comparing the 

bookkeeping balance with the actual balance. 

All employees in all organizational units of the Bank participate together with management bodies In 

the implementation of these control measures that are directly or indirectly integrated into business 

processes,. 

Internal controls in the Bank are composed of four independent functions: 

- the function of risk management monitoring; 

- the function of monitoring compliance of business operations; 

- internal audit function; 

- the function of preventing money laundering and terrorist financing. 

 
When setting up control functions, the following rules are established: 

- all of these functions are independent of each other; 

- each control function independently and directly reports on its work, in accordance with the 

laws, by-laws and internal documents of the Bank; 

- each control function has a certain number of employees who have the appropriate 

professional qualities and competences. 

The Bank provides the following by its internal control systems: 

- performing of daily processes in an efficient and effective way; 

- careful business management; 

- adequate identification, measurement and mitigation of risks; 

- reliability of financial and non-financial information in internal and external reporting; 

- efficient and effective administrative and accounting procedures; 

- observance of laws, regulations, orders of the Central Bank of Montenegro and internal 

policies of institutions, processes, rules and decisions. 
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4. BUSINESS ETHICS  
 

Business ethics is a set of rules established with the aim of maintaining proper and acceptable behavior 
of all employees of the Bank. The internal documents of the Bank - the Code of Ethics and the Conflict 
of Interest Manual with elements of insider business promote and regulate in more detail general ethical 
principles and norms of professional banking behavior. 

 
Good reputation of the Bank represents its highest value and is based on observance of the following 
values that relate to: 
 

-  integrity of all employees; 
- correct, fair, lawful and transparent transactions; 
- quality and competence in the provision of Bank's services; 
- pointing out the advantages and positive characteristics of the Bank and avoiding negative 

comments about market competition;  
- prohibition and unacceptability of any form of corruption; 
- prohibition of manipulation or obtaining or achieving unlawful benefits or illegal advantages in   

exchange for compensation; 
- prohibition of bribes that facilitate business procedures; 
- keeping confidential and secret information; 
- placing the Bank 's interests above personal and 
- operations in accordance with applicable regulations and internal procedures and good banking 

practice. 
 
During the employment process, in addition to evaluating general and special conditions that are 
defined  by the Rulebook on internal organization and systematization of the Bank and that an employee 
has to fulfil, the Bank shall take into account personal integrity of each of the candidates reflected in 
his/her moral values that make him/her suitable for the work in the Bank. 
 
Ethical rules and principles are an important element of the Bank's responsible corporate governance. 

In its work, the Bank is focused on achieving profitability, with the application of adequate risk 

management mechanisms, achievement of full compliance with applicable legislation, while adhering 

to ethical values and principles of ethical banking practice. 

The Bank has an established system of internal warnings (so-called "whistle-blowing system") for the 
employees to report on potential or actual violations of relevant regulations including documents and 
actions that are considered bad banking practices, improper and unsafe transactions through a specific, 
independent and autonomous reporting channel. 

 
The employees of the Bank report any situation of actual or potential conflict of interest in relation to 
themselves, their relatives, their personal and business interests or business interests of their relatives, 
in accordance with the internal document that regulate the field of prevention of conflict of interests. The 
employees cooperate with the Bank so that they could ensure quick and effective resolution of the 
situations of conflict of interest. In relation to their position, job and / or interests of the Bank, employees 
refrain from any behavior or any position that may result in conflict of interest. 

 
The Bank strictly prohibits any kind of corruption and any form of corruptive behavior of the Bank's 
employees, in particular receiving and giving bribes, which would increase their personal assets and 
assets of persons related to the employees of the Bank, as well as the behavior of the Bank's employees 
who, by abusing their positions, encourage or compel other employees and third parties to perform 
these actions. 
 
The Bank's management provides the personnel, organizational and material preconditions for the 
existence and functioning of an effective internal control system, internal audit and compliance 
monitoring function, thus ensuring the proper functioning of the internal control system at all levels. 

 
All employees of the Bank, including the Executive Management, the Bank's Secretary, the independent 
functions of the Bank, and third parties with whom the Bank concludes legal transactions in order to 
use all types of services that these persons provide as their registered activity, sign Statements on 
acceptance of fundamental ethical principles and rules of behavior set out in the Code of Ethics of the 
Bank. 
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES 
 

5.1. EDUCATION STRUCTURE OF THE EMPLOYEES 
 

As at 31.12.2020, the Bank had 144 employees (31.12.2019 - 126 employees), with the following 
education: 
 
• PhD degree – 2 employees or 1.3% 
• Master's degree – 7 employees or 4.8% 
• University degree – 121 employees or 84.2% 
• High school education – 14 employees or 9.7% 
 
 
Gender structure of employees as at 31.12.2020 was as follows: 
 
• Women - 83 or 57.64% of the total number of employees 
• Men - 61 or 42.36% of the total number of employees 
 
There were 92 permanent employees of the Bank as at 31.12.2020  or 63.89% of the total number of 
employees, while there were 52 fixed-term employees or 36.11% of the total number of employees. 
 
In 2020, the Bank had 27 employment relationships (of which 15 women or 55.55%), which is 28.94% 
less than in 2019 (38). 
 
In 2020, the Bank had 9 terminations of employment. 
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES  (Continued) 

 

5.2.  ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES (Continued) 

 

5.2. HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT  
 

At the beginning of 2020, Montenegro faced the crisis caused by the Covid-19 pandemic which will be 
remembered as a unique economic and social challenge. Having in mind such a difficult and completely 
different business year for us, it is important to note that for Lovćen team this meant a new market situation, 
new projects and different needs of clients, which required additional understanding of our employees. 
 
In significantly difficult conditions, Human Resources Management (HR) Department within Business 
Development Division of Lovćen Bank AD in 2020 sought to develop a corporate culture characterized by 
norms and standards that encourage organizational behavior aimed at continuous and sustainable growth 
and development. In order to achieve the strategic goals, HR mostly dealt with new employments and 
relocation of employees under conditions caused by the pandemic, changes in organization, development, 
sick leaves, work from home and paid leave during the pandemic. 
The largest part of the training was on-the-job training (OJT), which included a series of in-house trainings. 
They were mainly related to the field of business compliance, risk assessment, AML and FT, training on new 
products and services, occupational safety and the like. 
 
During 2020, HR also dealt with the organization and implementation of induction training for new employees 
(216h during 2020). 
A small number of open trainings was held, in order to expand knowledge and improve personal 
competencies of employees, mainly in the form of training and exams necessary for employees to 
adequately perform tasks in the jobs in which they are deployed - training for certified accountants, training 
for internal auditors. 
 

During 2020, a technical proposal was concluded and a contract was signed with a consultant Glenfield 

Training & Consulting for 2 packages – in awaiting the new Banking Law and changes in the organization 

and systematization, as well as a package for measuring employee performance. This is another in a series 

of TA projects, which have greatly contributed to the institutional development of the Bank with renowned 

consultants from Europe. 

The emphasis on further development of the HR function will be on strengthening this function, 

harmonization with the new regulations and selecting the right people for the right place. Also, the focus will 

be on further spreading of the corporate culture, as well as providing development and education for the LB 

team through the organization of various trainings and collaborations. 
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6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020  
 

6.1. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2020 

 

6.1.1. BANK’S ASSETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Table 3 – Overview of the most important items of the Bank’s assets  
 
(In 000 EUR) 

IN THOUSAND EUR:  2020 2019 Index 

1 2 3 4=2/3*100 

ASSETS   

Cash and deposit accounts with 
central banks 

50,825 33,116 153.48 

Loans and receivables from banks 8,189 3,679 223 

Loans and receivables from clients 172,793 153,240 112.76 

Securities 1,911 6,841 28 

Property, plant and equipment 3,306 1,059 312 

LIABILITIES   

Deposits from clients 163,305 152,052 107 

Loans from clients that are not banks 45,860 23,225 197 

 
The Bank's assets in the annual period grew by EUR 39 million, or 19.67%. Loans and receivables from 
customers as at 31.12.2020 amounted to EUR 172,793 million and accounted for 72.65% of total assets, 
and in the annual period they increased by 12.76%. Cash and deposit accounts with central banks also 
had a significant share in assets, accounting for 21.37% and achieving an annual increase of 53.48%. 
 

Table 4 – Gross loans to clients as at 31 December 2020                      (000 EUR) 

NO. DESCRIPTION 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Index 

(3 : 4)*100 

1 2 3 4 5 

I LOANS TO CLIENTS  176,333 156,565 112.63 

1 Corporate 90,146 79,657 113.17 

2 Retail 86,187 76,908 112.07 

 

Total gross loans to customers as at 31.12.2020 amounted to EUR 176,333 thousand and the achieved 
an annual increase of EUR 19,768 thousand, or 12.63%. Gross loans approved to corporate sector 
amounted to EUR 90,146 thousand, representing 51.12% of total gross loans and in a one-year period 
they increased by 13.17%. Loans granted to retail represented 48.88% of total gross loans and they 
increased by 12.07% annually. 
 

Chart 10: Loans to clients 2020 

  
In the structure of loans long-term loans dominated with 85.83% of total gross loans and they achieved an 

annual growth of 12.78%. Short-term loans represented 10.58% of total loans and they achieved an annual 
growth of 11.41%. In the total off-balance sheet exposure, guarantees made 63.56%.  
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6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2020 

 

6.1.1. BANK’S ASSETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (Continued) 
 

At the end of 2020, securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income decreased by 

EUR 4,930 thousand (72%). The amount was reduced in part due to the maturity of government bonds in 

November 2020 in the amount of EUR 1,500 while the rest was related to the sale of government bonds 

Chart 11. Securities                                                                                       EUR (000)                                                              

  
 

At the end of 2020, cash and deposit accounts with central banks increased by EUR 17,709 thousand 

compared to the end of 2019. 

Chart 12. Cash    EUR (000)                                                              

 

  

6,841

1,911

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

2019 2020

Securities

33,116

50,825

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

2019 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 



 

24 

ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1.2. BANK'S LIABILITIES AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Table 5. - Overview of the most significant items of the Bank's liabilities 
   

LIABILITIES 31 December 2020 
31 December 

2019 
Index 

1 2 3 4=2/3 

LIABILITIES       

Banks’ deposits 500 500   

Client’s deposits 163,305 152,052 107 

Borrowed funds from other clients 45,860 23,225 197 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 215,016 179,284 120 

TOTAL CAPITAL 22,820 19,456 117 

 
The Bank's total deposits (including funds on escrow accounts, interest and accruals) amounted to EUR 
163,305 thousand and increased on an annual basis by 7.40%. 
 
Chart 13: Deposit structure 31.12.2020  
  

  
 

 
Chart 14: Deposit structure by sectors 31.12.2020  
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The structure of deposits by sectors at 

the end of 2020 indicates that retail 

deposits accounted for 68.49% of the 

total deposit base, i.e. EUR 11,076 

thousand. 

 

Corporate deposits accounted for 

31.51% of the Bank's total deposits, 

i.e. EUR 51,094 thousand. 

 

Demand deposits at the end of 2020 

amounted to EUR 61,455 thousand or 

37.90% of total deposits. 

 

Time deposits amounted to EUR 

100,715 thousand or 62.10% of the 

Bank's deposits. 
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6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1. BALANCE SHEET for 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1.2. BANK'S LIABILITIES AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
Chart 15.- Maturity structure of deposits 31.12.2020

 
 

 
Chart 16. Borrowed funds                       EUR (000)                                                              
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The maturity structure of deposits at 

the end of 2020 indicates that long-

term deposits accounted for 19.56% 

of total deposits, i.e. EUR 31,722 

thousand. 

Short-term deposits accounted for 

80.44% of the Bank's total deposits, 

i.e. EUR 130,448 thousand and they 

achieved a nominal annual growth of 

EUR 20,128 thousand, i.e. 19.74%. 

 

At the end of 2020, borrowed funds 
increased by EUR 22,635 thousand 
or 97.46%. 
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6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1. BALANCE SHEET for 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1.2. BANK'S LIABILITIES AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

Changes in equity in 2020 
 

By the decision on recording the issue of shares based on conversion of debt into share capital No. 02 / 

6e-14 / 2-20 dated 19 November 2020, the Capital Market Authority of Montenegro confirmed the success 

of recording the issue of shares based on the conversion of debt into share capital in the amount of EUR 

1,818 thousand (3,636 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 500.00 and individual issuing value 

of the shares of EUR 550.00). The acquirer of shares from this issue was INCOFIN CVSO CVBA-SO from 

Belgium. 

The data on this issue of shares were registered in the Central Registry of the Central Depository and 

Clearing Company on 19 November 2020, while the Decision of the Central Registry of Commercial 

Entities No. 4-0009270 / 049 of 24 November 2020 registered an increase in the Bank's capital. 

 

Chart 17.- Share capital 
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6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1. BALANCE SHEET for 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1.3. OFF-BALANCE SHEET RECORDS OF THE BANK 
 

The Bank's off-balance sheet records in the amount of EUR 400,423 thousand as at 31 December 
2020 (31 December 2019: EUR 352,035 thousand) consisted of the Bank's contingent liabilities in the 
amount of EUR 31,478 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 23,408 thousand) and the remaining off-
balance sheet items related to the records of received collaterals for credit receivables and contingent 
liabilities of the Bank. 
 
Chart 18: Contingent liabilities of the Bank 
 

 
 
 
In addition to off-balance sheet records, in accordance with the Decision of the Central Bank of Montenegro 
on minimum standards for credit risk management in banks ("Official Gazette of the Republic of 
Montenegro", No. 22/12, 55/12, 57/2013, 44/17 and 82/17 ) receivables are transferred from the bank's 
balance sheet to internal records if the bank, during the receivables collection procedure estimates that the 
value of receivables measured at amortized cost will not be reimbursed and that the conditions for 
derecognition of the financial asset are met. In accordance with the applicable regulations, the Bank as of 
31 December 2020 had no receivables that have been written off from the balance sheet evidence. 
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The Bank's contingent liabilities at the end 
of 2020 amounted to EUR 31,478 
thousand and consisted of the following 
liabilities: 
 
- Approved unused loans in the amount 

of EUR 13,072 thousand or 41.53%; 
- Issued payable guarantees in the 

amount of EUR 6,733 thousand or 
21.39% and 

- Issued performance guarantees in the 
amount of EUR 11,369 thousand or 
36.12% of the Bank's contingent 
liabilities. 

- Accrued interest on interest 
receivables under NPL loans amounts 
to EUR 304 thousand. 
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6. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.1. INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2020 
 

Table 6.-  Overview of the most important items of the income statement 

In thousands of EUR:  2020 2019 Index 

Interest income 11,549 10,928 106 

Interest expenses               (3,506)           (3,200) 110 

NET INTEREST INCOME 8,043 7,728 104 

Fee and commission income 1,902 1,916 99 

Fee and commission expenses               (1,760)           (1,643) 107 

NET FEE INCOME 142 273 52 

Employees’ expenses               (3,259)           (2,851) 114 

General and administrative 
expenses 

              (1,768)           (2,031) 87 

Net income / expense on 
impairment of financial 
instruments that are not valued at 
fair value through income 
statement 

                 (716)              (791) 91 

OPERATING PROFIT 1,647 2,032 81 

 
Interest income increased by 5.68% compared to the end of 2019, while interest expenses increased by 

9.56%, whereby net interest income increased by 4.07% annually. 

Fee and commission income decreased by 1%, fee expenses increased by 7.12% while net fee income 

decreased by 47.98%. 

Chart 19: Interest income and expense  

  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Total interest
income

Total interest
expense

Net interest
income

11,550

3,506

8,044

10,928

3,200

7,728

Interest income and expense

2020 2019



 

29 

ANNUAL REPORT ON BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 

6.  BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2020 (Continued) 

 

6.2.  INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2020 (Continued) 

 
Chart 20: Fee income and expenses  
 

 
 

6.2.1. OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
Operating expenses as of 31.12.2020 amounted to EUR 5,873 thousand and increased by 9.26% annually. 
Employee costs accounted for 55.49% of total operating expenses and increased by 14.31% on an annual 
basis, followed by total administrative expenses of 30.10% of total operating expenses and they decreased 
on an annual basis due to the introduction of IFRS 16 which caused an increase in depreciation costs of 
13.26%. 
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7.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Bank has developed a risk management system that includes the identification, measurement, 
monitoring, control and reporting of all types of risks to which the Bank is exposed or may be exposed in its 
operations. 
 
On a daily basis, the Bank continually manages all risks to which it is exposed in its operations. In this regard, 
taking into account the Bank's size, the complexity of products and services in its operations and risk 
aversion, the Bank has developed an appropriate risk management system. The Bank plans to further 
develop this system by incorporating the concept of strengthening risk relations and the Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment (ICAAP) to improve the link between the Bank's risk profile, risk management and 
the Bank's capital in line with the development and changes the Bank is experiencing. 
 
In order to establish and continuously develop an adequate risk management system, in 2020 the Bank 
focused its activities on: 
 

• amendments to internal documents regulating the risk management system, the most important of 
which are: 

• Risk Management Strategy 

• NPLs Handling Strategy of Lovćen Bank; 

• Credit Risk Management Policy; 

• Operational Risk Management Policy; 

• Policy on Public Disclosure of Data; 

• Procedure for Credit Risk Management of Legal Entities; 

• Retail Credit Risk Management Procedure; 

• Procedure on types and techniques for credit risk mitigation 

• Liquidity Risk Management Procedure; 

• Operational Risk Management Procedure; 

• Procedure for Classification of Placements; 

• Procedure on Bank's operations with Related Parties; 

• Operational goals for handling NPLs in Lovćen Bank; 

• Instructions and methodologies that elaborate policies and procedures to the level of 
operational details and operating instructions; 

• Clear division of duties and responsibilities for risk management in relation to risk-taking; 
Improving existing and establishing new internal and external reporting in the area of risk 
management; 

• Developing a system of risk limitation (control) that the Bank takes in its operations that is 
stricter than the statutory minimum; 

• Developing multi-methodological approaches for measuring the risks it takes in its business 
as well as techniques for mitigating them to a level that is acceptable and that provides the 
best proportion between efficiency and safety. 

 
The Bank manages the following key risks to which it is exposed in its operations: 
 

• Credit risk; 
• Market risks: currency, interest rate risk, price risks and credit risks from trading activities; 
• Operational risk; 
• Liquidity risk; 
• Interest rate risk that does not arise from the banking book; 
• Country risk; 
• Compliance risk; 
• Reputation risk; 
• Option risk; 
• Other risks that are material to the Bank's operations 
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the probability of incurring losses in the Bank's operations due to the debtor's failure to 
fulfill obligations to the Bank. Credit risk can occur in activities that are not only related to lending of the 
Bank, such as trading activities or agency activities unless it is absolutely clear that there is no risk of failure 
for the Bank to meet contractual obligations in relation to which the Bank invested cash and other assets. 
Credit risk identification should include all those situations in which the Bank enters into a relationship with 
the client, due to which it can incur loss if the customer fails to meet their contractual obligations on time. 

 
The Bank manages credit risk at the level of individual placements and at the portfolio level, in 

accordance with legal regulations for credit risk management. 
 

The process of credit risk measurement is based on two parallel approaches. 
 
Internal approach - measuring (or estimate of) the risk level of individual placement based on an 

analysis of creditworthiness or by application of internal rating system (IRS). Internal approach to credit risk 
measurement is implemented by applying an analysis of solvency and credit worthiness of borrowers and / 
or application of the developed internal rating system (IRS). 
 

Internal rating system in the Bank is fully adapted to the regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro 
and it reflects a relatively high level of credit risk aversion of the Bank. 
 

Regulatory approach - classification of claims of the debtors, which is defined in detail in the 
Methodology for classification of placements and the application of IAS and IFRS. 

 
Credit rating category "A" is given to clients with good credit capacity and who are not expected to 

have problems in repayment of obligations. Credit rating category "B" indicates a somewhat weaker financial 
standing of the client, which is temporary and does not point to a problem in repayment of obligations. Credit 
rating category "C" indicates insufficient level of capital and high degree of indebtedness of clients and that 
the clients do not have sufficient cash flows to meet their obligations, so they are late with repayment. The 
categories "D" and "E" refer to clients with obvious financial difficulties, i.e. clients who are in the process of 
enforced settlement, bankruptcy or liquidation. 
 
Table 7.  Portfolio credit rating structure 
 

Bonitet 31.12.2020 30.9.2020 30.6.2020 31.3.2020 31.12.2019 

A 63.51% 65.85% 63.06% 63.56% 64.51% 

B 33.61% 32.31% 35.22% 34.65% 33.55% 

C 1.73% 0.66% 0.57% 0.66% 0.81% 

D 0.06% 0.07% 0.20% 0.18% 0.24% 

E 1.09% 1.11% 0.96% 0.95% 0.89% 

 
• Gross exposure includes the amount of principal and receivables from interest and fees  
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Chart 21: Credit rating structure of the portfolio for 2020 

 
The Bank defines due uncollected receivables as all receivables that are past due at least 1 day in 

relation to the contracted maturity dates. 
 
Table 8.  Overview of total due receivables  

 
* gross exposure includes principal amount and receivables from interest and fees  
 

The level of due receivables as of 31.12.2020 is extremely low which reflects the fact that the existing 
portfolio is of good quality, as well as that the Bank is very cautious when it approves new placements.  

 
Table 9. Overview of NPLs 

 
* gross exposure includes principal amount and receivables from interest and fees  
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

Chart 22: Value and share of NPLs 
 

 
 

 
Table 10. Loan portfolio in 2020 

 
 * gross exposure includes principal amount and receivables from interest  
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8. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

Market risks 
 

By efficient management of market risk, the Bank seeks to minimize the negative effects and 
eliminate losses related to financial instruments, recorded in balance sheet and off-balance sheet, caused 
by changes in interest rates, exchange rates, prices, indices and/or other market factors impacting the value 
of financial instruments, as well as losses associated with the turnover of financial instruments on the 
market, such as: counterparty risk, issuer and placement risks. Market risk management in so far phases 
of development included, in addition to defined methodology, the reporting process as well, while the next 
phase will include the dynamic and quantitative risk measurements and stress test analysis. 

 
Risk Management Division measures interest rate risk by preparing the Report on interest rate gap. 

The Report on interest rate risk gap is prepared for the purpose of internal analysis and consideration of 
mismatch of interest-bearing positions of assets and liabilities, including off-balance sheet items, from 
different aspects and needs for analysis. 

 
The Bank did not define the trading book in its plan, and thus market risk management is simplified and 
includes only management of foreign exchange and price risk. Documents were created by which measuring 
and managing of these risks is further improved and at the same time the basis for stress testing that 
measures the effect on Bank’s capital is created. 
 

Due to not so significant volume of operations in foreign currencies, exposure to currency risk is 
very low. Naturally, the exposure to currency risk is monitored and managed on daily basis (daily reporting 
and closing of positions) through the maintenance of FX positions within internally prescribed limits. 
 
The system of foreign risk management is based on two parallel approaches:  
• currency risk management in accordance with regulatory requirements (regulatory approach); 
• currency risk management based on internal methodologies (internal approach). 

 
Currency risk management, in accordance with regulatory and internal approach and the system of 

limits includes regulatory and internally defined limits prescribed by internal documents of the Bank. In 2020, 
the Bank operated in accordance with the established system of limits. 
 

Defined internal limits take into account the currency aspect of GAPs of foreign exchange risks and 

define the structure of limits by all major currencies such as EUR, USD and CHF and for other currencies 

aggregately.  
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Table 11. Currency risk report as of 31.12.2020 
 

 
 

Operational risk 
 
Operational risk management in the Bank is regulated by Operational Risk Management Policy and 

Procedure on Operational Risk Management, in which the method of identification, evaluation and mitigation 
is precisely defined, i.e. monitoring, management and giving proposals for measures aimed at elimination of 
exposures and consequences resulting from exposure to operational risks. 
 
            In order to manage operational risk more efficiently, the Bank has implemented a software solution 
that enables persons in charge and responsible persons to report on operational risk through the system, 
while employees in the Risk Management Division are provided with a systematic overview and easier 
monitoring and reporting. During the previous year, the Bank revised complete internal documents related 
to this area.  
  
            The Bank identifies operational risks, whereby the operational risks are classified according to the 
priority by measuring the potential financial impact and frequency of events that may cause losses. 
 
             The events reported in the previous period mostly referred to the deficiencies or errors that occurred 
in the interaction of internal processes, systems and people or due to external events.  
 
              In the process of identifying sources of operational risk, the Bank especially identifies the risks 
arising from: 
 

• inadequate information and other systems in the Bank; 

• disruptions in operations and system failures (for example: failures related to information technology, 
telecommunication problems, interruptions in work, etc.); 

• impossibility of adequate integration or sustainability of information and other systems in the event 
of status changes of the Bank; 

• unlawful and inadequate acting of employees in  the Bank, such as the attempts of fraud, money 
laundering, unauthorized access to clients' accounts, misuse of confidential information, giving false 
or erroneous, information on the standing of the Bank, inefficiency in performance of activities, errors 
in data entries, failure to comply with good business practices in work, etc.; 

• engagement of persons outside the Bank to perform activities for the Bank; 
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

• acting or failure to act which may cause the judicial and other proceedings against the Bank (legal 
risk); 

• external illegal acts such as theft, unauthorized transfer of funds, unauthorized entry into the 
database, unlawful obtaining of Bank's documents, etc.; 

• events that cannot be predicted, such as natural and other disasters, terrorism, etc. 
 

       Recording of events implies the systematic collection and analysis of data on operational risks in the 
Bank's operation that led to losses. 
 

Pursuant to the plan of improving operational risk management system in the coming period the Bank 
will: 
 

• work on improving the models for identification of operational risks and collection of data on adverse 
events that occurred as a result of operational risk; 

• continue with the training of employees in order to ensure more efficient operational risk 
management in the Bank.  

 
In accordance with the internal documents, the Bank classifies the identified events that are sources of 

operational risk into event categories. 
 

Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk management in the Bank is regulated by Liquidity Risk Management Policy and Liquidity Risk 
Management Procedure. 
 
In 2020, the Bank continued to strengthen its liquidity, which is reflected in the growth of the deposit potential 
compared to the end of the previous year. During 2020, the actual balance of liquidity reserves was at a high 
level. 

 
The Bank has developed several methodologies and back tests for measuring core deposit potential for the 
purpose of liquidity risk management. Liquidity risk management in the reporting period was based on a very 
conservative maintenance of the level of liquid assets in average amounts, on a daily basis, significantly 
above regulatory requirements. In order to provide additional sources of liquidity necessary to maintain 
intensive credit activity and ensure settlement of credit obligations, the Bank established communication with 
potential creditors and implemented new credit lines. The interest of creditors in providing additional sources 
of financing in relation to the intense dynamics of collecting deposits and capital strengthening is becoming 
more pronounced with increasingly more favorable lending conditions. 
.  
The Bank has developed an internal Scoring model for monitoring liquidity risk, which represents the 
measurement techniques used in the process of Bank’s liquidity management. Application of the model is 
reflected in the identification of significant changes in liquidity indicators, their measurement and evaluation. 
The model is based on the calculation of the indicators and determination of their importance, all in order to 
have an insight in the bank's liquidity in the observed period. 

 
 
In the forthcoming period, the Bank will further work on improving stress scenarios, testing of liquidity plan 
in crisis, and liquidity risk management in the context of the ICAAP. 

 
The Bank performs measurement or assessment of current and future exposure to liquidity risk. 
Measurement or assessment of liquidity risk is carried out using the regulatory and internally defined 
methods and models: 

• GAP analysis 

• Ratio analysis 

• Scoring model for liquidity risk 

• Stress test (sensitivity analysis and scenario analysis). 
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9. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
The system of limits in the area of liquidity risk includes: 

• regulatory defined limits - primary limits 

• internally defined limits. 
 
Regulatory limits are prescribed by the regulator (the Central Bank of Montenegro) and refer to limits of 
liquidity indicators and limits of maturity matching of assets and sources of funds of the Bank. In that 
regard, the Bank maintains the liquidity level so that the operations of the Bank are in compliance with 
statutory limits. 

 
In addition to the above, the Bank has established internal limits as well. 
 
When defining internal limits for exposure to liquidity risk, the Bank takes into account several aspects of 
liquidity risk, limiting the negative effect on the financial result and capital of the Bank, limiting currency and 
maturity structure of its balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions and liquidity indicators. 
 
 
Table 12. Liquidity ratios 

 
*total liabilities are presented excluding equity 
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10. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Chart 26: Liquidity ratio movement 
 

 
 
 
Special importance that the Bank has given to monitoring of liquidity risk resulted in the maintenance of a 
high level of liquidity of the Bank during 2020.  
 

According to the methodology of the Central Bank of Montenegro, and indicator of liquidity is the 
ratio of receivables, liquid assets (cash, transaction account, checks, funds on accounts with domestic 
banks, funds with payment operations agents, funds on accounts with foreign banks (demand deposits) and 
reserve requirement) and due liabilities (liabilities related to received loans, interest and fee obligations, 
liabilities related to term deposits, 30% of sight deposits, 10% of approved and unused irrevocable loan 
obligations - credit lines, other due liabilities). 
 
Table  13. Liquidity indicators (regulatory approach): 

 
 
Regulatory approach 
 
During 2020, the liquidity ratio was at a high level. It is expected that the indicator will have lower value in 
the coming period, as the Bank will endeavor to transform liquid assets into new credit placements and 
secondary, easily marketable sources of liquidity in order to manage funds in a better way. 

 
Interest rate risk not arising from trading activities 
 

Determining exposure to interest rate risk is based on Gap analysis for different periods, separately for items 
with a fixed interest rate, and separately for items with variable interest rate, as well as aggregately. In that 
way, the effect of the change in market interest rates on the movement of the net interest margin is 
measured. Interest rate risk management is done by closing positions within the internally prescribed limits. 

 
The Bank's interest rate risk management is regulated by the Interest Rate Risk Management Policy. 
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11. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Table 14. Overview of interest rate GAP as of 31.12.2020 
 

Difference (GAP) 1-30 days 31-90 days 91-180 days 181-365 days over 1 year Total 

Interest GAP-Total 136 -5,034 -2,949 -15,591 31,478 8,041 

Cumulative GAP 136 -4,898 -7,846 -23,437 8,041   

% of the total assets 0.06% -2.06% -3.30% -9.85% 3.38%   

 
 

Plans for further development of risk management system  
 

Main strategic orientation of the Bank in risk management is optimization of the relation between yield or 
earning ability of the Bank and the level of risk taken in terms of expected and unexpected losses in business, 
and in this regard the maintenance of an adequate level of capital in relation to the risk profile of the Bank. 
In that regard, the Bank established a comprehensive and reliable risk management system that is fully 
integrated into all business activities of the Bank. 
 

The Bank recognizes that the improvement of yield to risk ratio achieved in its operations is 
increasingly under the influence of competition, in favor of the quality of risk management over the banking 
system in which it operates. 
 
In the forthcoming period, the Bank will continuously invest in development and intensify the activities of 
Risk Management Division, in order to improve its market position and market share and minimize the effects 
that can have a negative impact on its operations. 
 
Long-term objectives of the Bank's risk management are: 

 

• Risk management which provides a counter-cyclicality of business Strategy and business plans, as 
well as alignment with the opportunities and market development in order to create competitive 
advantages based on knowledge of the specifics of the market; 

• Avoidance or minimization of the risks assumed by applying the most effective techniques, in order 
to maintain the operation within acceptable risk levels; 

• Minimizing the negative effects on the Bank's capital; 

• Maintenance of the level of capital adequacy defined in Capital Management Strategy; 

• Diversification of risks to which the Bank is exposed. 
 
The Bank will continue to develop the risk management system incorporating the concept of internal capital 
adequacy assessment (ICAAP) in order to improve the connection between the Bank's risk profile, risk 
management and capital of the Bank. 
 

The plans for risk management development include: 

• further improvement of the Bank’s organization including organizational units involved in risk taking 

and those that are responsible for managing individual types of risks, harmonization with the Bank's 

risk profile, in order to ensure permanent optimization of the management of all risks to which the 

Bank is or may be exposed in its operations; 

• revision of existing documents, bearing in mind the experience in their implementation and 

continuation of the work on the development and improvement of internal documents, 

•  improving the efficiency of the information system of the Bank in the function of managing all risks 

the Bank is or may be exposed in its operations;  

• improving the risk management system towards the development of modern standards beyond the 

current requirements arising from regulatory, economic and business environment of the Bank. 

• significant focus will be put on further training and professional development of existing staff in 

general, all in order to create the preconditions for the effective implementation of planned activities 

related to the development of the risk management system. 
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8. CAPITAL ADEQUACY 

 
Own funds 

 
The Bank is obliged to disclose publicly the information and data that refer to the amount of own 

funds, in particular:  
 

1) concise information which include main characteristics of all items included in the calculation of 
own funds and their elements;  

2) amount of core capital with public disclosure of all items that are included in core capital and 
deductible (offsetting) items;  

3) total amount of additional capital;  
4) deductible items from core and additional capital and  
5) total own funds reduced by deductible items.  

 
Table 15. Overview of own funds  

 
 

The Bank's own funds as at 31 December 2020 amounted to EUR 21,567 thousand and they increased by 
EUR 2,890 thousand compared to the previous year. In 2020, the Bank undertook activities to improve 
capital adequacy through the issue of shares based on the conversion of debt into share capital in the 
amount of EUR 1,818 thousand, as well as by reducing risk-weighted assets through the approval of highly 
collateralized placements. 
 
Bank's solvency ratio as at 31.12.2020 was 14.23% and was above the prescribed statutory limit of 10%. 
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9. BANK’S BUSINESS UNITS 
 

The Bank has slowly but steadily built its network, wishing to be the first choice of clients, the bank within 
their reach, the bank located close to work, home, school or faculty. The proximity of the competition is also 
one of the factors when selecting a location (the so-called Strategy for monitoring competitors and locating 
facilities in the vicinity of competitors' facilities). With the choice of locations for the branches, Lovćen Bank 
ensured the most attractive locations in the towns in which it operates and thus gained an advantage over 
existing competitors, as well as future ones that may come to the market. Currently, the Bank's business 
network consists of: the Bank's Head Office (Headquarters) in Podgorica, which is located in a modern 
building where core banking functions exist and 15 other organizational units. All organizational units are 
channels of distribution of the Bank's products to clients.  

 
Table 16. Business network of Lovćen Bank: 
 

No. Branch name  Date of opening Number of employees 

1. Podgorica counter 24.08.2014 77 

2. Bar 10.01.2015 5 

3. Kotor 20.01.2015 5 

4. Cetinje 20.05.2015 3 

5. Nikšić 16.06.2015 4 

6. Budva 15.07.2015 4 

7. Herceg Novi 15.08.2015 4 

8. Podgorica 1 25.08.2016 14 

9. Ulcinj 29.05.2017 4 

10. Budva – counter 1 (Bus station)  22.02.2018 1 

11. Tivat 03.06.2019 3 

12. Rožaje 27.06.2019 3 

13. Petnjica – counter 06.11.2019 1 

14.  Podgorica 2  27.04.2020 4 

15. Mojkovac 18.05.2020 3 
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9. BUSINESS UNITS (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Locations of Lovćen Bank branches 

 
 
Along with the development of branches, the Bank also developed a network of ATMs. 
 
Table 37. List of ATMs 

R.B Place Number of ATMs 

1. Podgorica 7 

2. Bar 2 

3. Kotor 2 

4. Cetinje 1 

5. Nikšić 1 

6. Budva 5 

7. Herceg Novi 1 

9. Ulcinj 2 

10. Tivat 1 

11. Rožaje 1 

12. Petnjica 1 

13. Žabljak 1 

14. Kolašin 1 

15. Mojkovac 1 

 Total 27 
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9. BUSINESS UNITS OF THE BANK (Continued) 
 

Branches and counters 

Branch BAR 

 

Bulevar JNA b.b. - 85000 Bar 

Phone: + 382 30 550 986, + 382 30 550 994 

E-mail :filijala.bar@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

  
 

Branch PODGORICA 1 
 
Trg Argentina br.1- 81000 Podgorica 

Phone: +382 20 683 333 

Fax: +382 20 684 444 

E-mail : filijala.podgorica@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

 

Branch PODGORICA 2 
 
Ulica Admirala Zmajevića b.b. ( Stari aerodrom ) - 81000 Podgorica 

Phone: +382 20 684 051, +382 20 684 052  

E-mail: filijala.podgorica2@lovcenbanka.me  

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 20h 
Saturday 08h – 16h  
 

Counter PODGORICA 1 
 
Bulevar Džordža Vašingtona 86 - 81000 Podgorica 

Phone: +382 20 205 410 

Fax: +382 20 205 406 

E-mail : salter.podgorica1@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 20h 
Saturday 08h – 16h  

http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/181-filijala-bar-image
mailto:filijala.bar@lovcenbanka.me
http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/187-filijala-podgorica-centar
mailto:filijala.podgorica2@lovcenbanka.me
http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/177-uprava-filijala-image
mailto:filijala.podgorica2@lovcenbanka.me
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Branch BUDVA 

 

Ulica Mediteranska bb, (building of Hotel Woow) - 85310 Budva 

Phone: + 382 33 473 994, + 382 33 473 992 

E-mail : filijala.budva@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

Counter BUDVA 
 
Bus station Merkur - 85310 Budva 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

Branch CETINJE 
 
Ulica Njegoševa 36 - 81250 Cetinje 

Phone: + 382 78 103 860 , + 382 78 103 861 

E-mail : filjala.cetinje@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

Branch HERCEG NOVI 
 
Ulica Save Kovačevića broj 4 - 85340 Herceg Novi 

Phone: + 382 31 580 966, + 382 31 580 967 

E-mail : filijala.hercegnovi@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

Branch KOTOR 
 
Tabačina 10 - 85330 Kotor 

Phone: + 382 32 326 005 

Fax: + 382 32 326 004 

E-mail : filijala.kotor@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h  

  

http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/183-filijala-budva-image
mailto:filijala.budva@lovcenbanka.me
http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/179-filijala-cetinje-image
mailto:filjala.cetinje@lovcenbanka.me
http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/180-filijala-herceg-novi-image
mailto:filijala.hercegnovi@lovcenbanka.me
http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/182-filijala-kotor-image
mailto:filijala.kotor@lovcenbanka.me
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Branch NIKŠIĆ 
 
Trg Save Kovačevića br.4 - 81400 Nikšić 

Phone: + 382 40 280 835, + 382 40 280 834 

E-mail : filijala.niksic@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

 

 

 

Branch ULCINJ 
 
Ulica 26.novembra b.b. - 85360 Ulcinj 

Phone: + 382 30 684 440, +382 30 684 441 

E-mail : filijala.ulcinj@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 

Saturday 08h – 13h  

Branch TIVAT 

  
Ul. Luke Tomanovića br.8 – 85320 Tivat 

Phone: +382 32 781 992 

Fax: +382 32 781 995 

E-mail: filijala.tivat@lovcenbanka.me  

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 

Branch ROŽAJE 

  
Ul. Maršala Tita br.1 – 84310 Rožaje 

Phone: +382 63 222 060 

E-mail: filijala.rozaje@lovcenbanka.me  

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 

Saturday 08h – 13h 

 
Counter Petnjica 

  
Crnogorsko-turskog prijateljstva bb - 84312 Petnjica 

http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/184-filijala-niksic-image
mailto:filijala.niksic@lovcenbanka.me
http://www.lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale/22-lovcen-banka/filijale/209-filijala-ulcinj-image
mailto:filijala.bar@lovcenbanka.me
https://lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale.html
https://lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale.html
https://lovcenbanka.me/me/lovcen-banka/filijale-i-bankomati/filijale.html
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Phone: +382 67 994 009 

E-mail : filijala.podgorica@lovcenbanka.me  

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 

Saturday 08h – 13h 

 
Branch Mojkovac 
 
Ulica Mališe Damjanovića bb -  84205 Mojkovac 

Phone: 067994104, 067994134 

E-mail : filijala.mojkovac@lovcenbanka.me 

Working hours: 

Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
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10. INFORMATION ON PURCHASE OF OWN FUNDS  

 
In accordance with the Banking Law (“OGM” No. 17/08 of 11 March 2008, 44/10 of 30 July 2010, 40/11 of 
8 August 2011, and 73/17 of 3 November 2017): 
 

- Purchase of elements of own funds of a bank with funds which are directly or indirectly obtained 
from loans or other legal transaction concluded with that bank shall be null and void; 

- Total amount of own shares and other elements of own funds acquired by the bank may not exceed 
5% of the bank’s own funds. The bank shall dispose of its own shares acquired within six months 
after the day of their acquisition. If the bank fails to do that in the timeframe prescribed in paragraph 
2 above, it shall cancel such shares. 

- A bank must not take as pledge its own shares or other elements of own shares of that bank. 
 
 
During 2020, as well as in previous years, Bank did not purchase its own shares. 
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